
Health and Wellbeing Board

Date Tuesday 4 September 2018
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend.
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman’s 

agreement

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Substitute Members  

3. Declarations of Interest  

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 4 July 2018  (Pages 5 - 12)

5. Health and Social Care Plan (standard item) Update from Corporate 
Director Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council; Chief 
Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups; and Director of Integrated 
Community Services, NHS County Durham and Durham County 
Council  

6. Public Health Campaign: Stay well this Winter - Presentation of 
Director of Public Health, Durham County Council  

7. Durham Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report - Report of 
Director of Integration, NHS County Durham and Durham County 
Council  (Pages 13 - 52)

8. Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report - 
Independent Chair, Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board  
(Pages 53 - 102)



9. Consultation on Evidence Based Interventions - Update from Chief 
Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington & 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups  (Pages 103 - 152)

10. Healthwatch County Durham Annual Report - Report of Chair of 
Healthwatch County Durham, and Project Lead, Healthwatch County 
Durham  (Pages 153 - 186)

11. Public Health Campaign: Stoptober - Presentation of Director of Public 
Health, Durham County Council  

12. Area Action Partnership update - Area Action Partnership Coordinator, 
Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council  (Pages 187 
- 194)

13. Public Health and Spatial Policy Teams working together to address 
health and health inequalities - Report of Director of Public Health and 
Head of Planning and Assets, Regeneration and Local Services, 
Durham County Council  (Pages 195 - 204)

14. Public Health Campaign: World Mental Health Day - Presentation of 
Director of Public Health, Durham County Council  

15. Local Government Association - Green Paper for Adult Social Care and 
Wellbeing - Report of Corporate Director Adult and Health Services, 
Durham County Council  (Pages 205 - 212)

16. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

17. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

18. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
24 August 2018



To: The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Durham County Council 

Councillors J Allen, O Gunn and L Hovvels 

J Robinson Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council

M Whellans Children and Young People’s Services, 
Durham County Council

A Healy Public Health, County Durham Adult and 
Health Services, Durham County Council

N Bailey North Durham and Durham Dales Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups

Dr D Smart North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group

Dr S Findlay Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Dr J Smith Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group

S Jacques County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust

J Gillon North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation 
Trust

C Martin Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust

C Harries City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust

B Jackson Healthwatch County Durham
R Chillery Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 

Trust
L Jeavons North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington 

and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and Durham County Council

A Reiss

D Brown

Office of the Police, Crime, and Victim’s 
Commissioner
County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service

Contact: Jackie Graham Tel: 03000 269704



This page is intentionally left blank



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in County Hall, Durham on 
Wednesday 4 July 2018 at 9.30 am

Present:

Councillor L Hovvels (Chairman)

Members of the Board:
Councillor O Gunn and D Brown, R Chillery, Dr S Findley, A Healy, B Jackson, S 
Jacques, L Jeavons, G O’Neill, P Scott, S Pett, A Reiss and Dr D Smart

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J Allen and N Bailey, J Gillon, 
S Lamb, C Martin, J Robinson, Dr J Smith and M Whellans

2 Substitute Members 

G O’Neill for M Whellans, S Pett for J Gillon, P Scott for C Martin and R Chillery for 
S Lamb.

3 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

4 Minutes 

The mintues of the meeting held on 25 May 2018 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.

5 Health and Social Care Plan 

The Board received an update from the Chief Clinical Officer, Durham Dales 
Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group in relation to the Health 
and Social Care Plan.  NHS England were working closely with NHS Improvement 
to take forward work on integrated care systems (ICS) which would replace 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans. The ICS will be responsible for the 
development of a strategic plan for the region. Integrated Care Partnerships will 
also exist in regions. It is proposed to have one lead for the area that covers the 
North East and north Cumbria and this post will be recruited to in due course. It is 
expected that national funding would be available for devolved areas. He went on 
to advise that Hambleton and Richmondshire would now become part of the 
Yorkshire integrated care system.   Commissioning organisations are looking to 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



streamline to free up resources in the system, which would include Accountable 
Officer arrangements.

The Director of Integration, NHS County Durham and Durham County Council said 
that looking at the County Durham footprint there was an Integrated Care Board 
chaired by Dr Stewart Findlay and an Integrated Senior Leadership Team with a 
focus on Community Care which had an agreed governance structure and terms of 
reference.  Sub-groups included the provider alliance and involved providers across 
the County Durham footprint. She also advised that adult social care would sit 
within the community care arrangements.

The Director of Public Health, Durham County Council advised that a Joint 
Commissioning meeting was held last week and one of the first actions was to look 
at all contracts.  The refreshed JSNA would help to underpin health and social care 
integration and the assets we had in communities.  She was pleased to announce 
that the Council had advertised for the role of Director of Integrated Community 
Services. The Chairman was supportive of this work moving forward.

Resolved:
That the update be noted.

6 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy End of Year Performance Report 2017/18 

The Board considered a report of the Head of Strategy, Transformation and 
Partnerships, Durham County Council that described the progress being made 
against the priorities and outcomes set within the County Durham Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2016-19 (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager, Durham County Council gave a 
detailed presentation that highlighted the performance against the six objectives:-

 Escalation Area and Strategic Objectives
 Percentage of mothers smoking at the time of delivery – this was a 

challenging indicator that saw a decline in performance.  Programmes were 
in place, for examplean incentive scheme and results of this would be 
available shortly as an evaluation report, however there were many other 
initiatives being taken forward by the NHS and council to impact upon this 
indicator in order to improve outcomes for children..

 Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer within 62 
days of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer – there had been a 
decline in performance with CCGs reporting poor weather as a contributory 
factor as patients were not being able to travel to hospital.  Schemes and 
actions were in place with cancer navigator posts helping to support a cancer 
pathway.

 Fall and injuries in the over 60s – there was a decline in performance during 
2014/15 and 2016/17 however with a new Falls Strategy in place recent data 
showed some improvement.  

Page 6



The Chief Executive of County Durham and Darlington NHS FT shared some 
positive news for cancer statistics, as up to the end of June 2018 the trust had seen 
some improvements with figures at 13.6%.  

The Chief Clinical Officer, DDES CCG said that the 62 day target was a concern 
but that some of the difficulty arose as patients were themselves not aware of the 
targets that are in place in terms of attending appointments.  He advised that there 
had been investment in DDES but that there was still work to do in deprived areas.  
He was hopeful that with the navigators in place this would make an impact on 
performance.

The Deputy Director of Public Health, DCC informed the Board that a full audit had 
been carried out across all foundation trusts in relation to smoking in pregnancy.  A 
report on themes was being compiled to report back to the foundations trusts.  
Durham was seen as good practice and the calibre of the stop smoking service was 
making a difference. 
 
The Director of Public Health, DCC said that there would be a focus not just on the 
smoker, but on partners of the smoker and family members.  She outlined that 
smoking prevalence in County Durham is now at just under 15 per cent. An update 
on the work would be reported at the next board meeting.

Further to a question from the Chairman of Healthwatch about the statistics for the 
first appointment for cancer patients to the first consultant appointment, he was 
advised that this was usually a two week wait.  The Chief Clinical Officer added that 
there was a focus on the early stages of the pathway and this would help with 
achieving the target.  He also said that it was about empowering patients to know 
their own target to be seen.

Resolved:
(i) That the performance highlights and areas for improvements identified 

throughout the report be noted.
(ii) That the actions taking place to improve performance be noted, and any 

additional action planning required be agreed.
(iii) That performance against the 2017/18 Quality Premium Indicators be noted.

7 Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2017/18 

The Board considered a report of the Strategic Manager Partnerships, 
Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council that presented the 
Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2017/18 for agreement (for copy of 
report see file of Minutes).

The achievements of the board were highlighted, including the continuation of the 
Wellbeing for Life Service, SEND, Joint Commissioning Plan and signing up to the 
SEND promise, Healthy Weight Alliance, Dementia Friendly Communities and the 
Mental Health Strategy.  The challenges were highlighted together with the priorities 
for the board moving forward.

Page 7



The Chairman suggested that a press release around the achievements made be 
arranged.

Councillor Gunn also suggested that the report be circulated more widely to show 
what work was being carried out.

Resolved:
(i) That the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2015/16 be agreed.
(ii) That the timeline and next steps outlined in the report be noted.

8 Better Care Fund Q4 2017-18 

The Board considered a report of the Strategic Programme Manager, Better Care 
Fund and Integration, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council that 
provided an update on the Better Care Fund (BCF) Q4 2017/18 benchmarking and 
analysis of non-elective admissions data (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Strategic Programme Manager advised the target for non-elective admissions 
had been narrowly missed but was within a 2% tolerance level.   With regards to 
delayed transfers of care performance had missed the target due to waiting for non-
acute care.  On a positive note Durham was in the top four across the country for 
delayed transfer of care performance.

Further to a question from Councillor Gunn about a breakdown for non-elective 
admissions for children, the Deputy Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council said that the Healthy Child Steering Group were picking this up.  They 
would look at the issues and pathways for children and report back to the Board.

Resolved:
(i) That the contents of this report be noted.
(ii) That to receive further updates in relation to BCF quarterly performance be 

agreed.

9 Prevention at Scale 

The Board considered a report of the Corporate Director of Adults and Health 
Services, the Director of Public Health and the Head of Partnerships and 
Community Engagement, Durham County Council that informed of the prevention 
at scale work being carried out (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Director of Public Health gave a detailed presentation, together with Chris 
Affleck, the Project Worker of Investing in Children (IIC) team that highlighted the 
following:-

 County Durham Partnership Priority
 Targeted Proposal – Mental Health at Scale
 Suicide Prevention
 Suicide as a cross-cutting theme

Page 8



 Area of Focus – reducing suicide with a focus on workforce, children and 
young people and men aged 45-49

 Progress since January
 Links to National and Regional Approach
 LGA Prevention at Scale Programme
 Behavioural Insights
 Design in the Public Sector
 Design Council
 What will success look like?

The Project Worker of Investing in Children highlighted the next steps of the 
programme that included a time to talk, time to walk day.  A workforce in East 
Durham had recently undertaken this which takes the employees away from the 
office and benefited mental health as well as physical health. An event would be 
held at the Town Hall in Durham which would include representatives from the local 
authority, nurses, social housing, providers, young people, Harbour, NEAS and 
Education.

He went on to describe the work of ‘Stamp it Out’ that used art resources and 
helped young people develop a campaign with pledges being made about mental 
health challenges.

There were four key events taking place – Time to talk, time to walk, Mental Health 
Awareness, Suicide Awareness and World Mental Health day.  The Project Worker 
said that this would be an opportunity for people to talk to colleagues about their 
own personal experiences.

The board were advised that an application for funding to the Time to Change 
funding hub had been declined from the Northern Hub network, and it was felt that 
IIC were ahead of other areas given the support received by Durham County 
Council.  Experiences had been shared with other areas and Durham IIC had been 
invited along to other events as an organisation in relation to sharing best practice.  
There was also a digital offer available.

The Director of Public Health thanked the Project Worker for being such a strong 
advocate.

Councillor Gunn commented that as local members are often the people who deal 
with people who have issues and problems accessing the right help, that it would 
be helpful for them to have the information to be able to assist.

The Chairman said that people could live well with mental health issues and that 
they needed people to listen to them.  She encouraged the board to keep pushing 
this agenda but recognised that it was a long process.

The Strategic Manager, DCC advised that the partnership event would be held on 
10 October 2018 and the focus of the event would be on mental health.

The Director of Public Health asked the Board to continue to support the prevention 
at scale programme, that board members nominate appropriate workforce leads 

Page 9



from partner organisations and to play a role in the evaluation of Durham’s 
approach and sustainability.

Resolved:-
That the report and presentation be noted.

10 Children and Young People's Strategy 

The Board received a report of the Corporate Director, Children and Young 
People's Services, Durham County Council that presented the vision, aims and 
objectives of the proposed new Children and Young People’s strategy (for copy see 
file of Minutes).

The Deputy Director of Public Health gave a detailed presentation highlighting the 
proposals for the new strategy including:-

 The Rationale
 Proposed Vision Statement
 Four key aims & how we would deliver –

o Proposed aim 1 – all children and young people have a safe 
childhood

o Proposed aim 2 – children and young people enjoy the best start in 
life, good health and emotional wellbeing

o Proposed aim 3 – young people can access good quality education, 
training and local employment

o Proposed aim 4 – achieve the best possible outcomes for children 
and young people with special educational needs and disabilities (0-
25 years)

Further to questions from the Deputy Director of Public Health, the board agreed 
that this was the right time for a refreshed vision and they agreed to the draft aims 
and objectives.

The next steps included holding a Children and Families Partnership Development 
session, to consult on the vision, aims and objectives, the development of a draft 
document and to help inform the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019/22.

Following a question from the Chairman of Healthwatch about the transition from 
children and young people to adult services, the Director of Operations, Tees, Esk 
and Wear Valley NHS FT explained that this was a priority for the trust and work 
was ongoing across the organisation to make improvements to the system, and 
acknowledged that this was challenging.

Councillor Gunn welcomed the strategy and recognised that some children and 
young people had very complex issues and many lived in poverty and deprived 
areas.

The Chief of Staff, Office of the Police Crime and Victims Commissioner, also 
welcomed the strategy and the involvement in the development of it.  From the 
PCVC point of view it was important to tackle early intervention and identify those 

Page 10



people at risk. He felt that the criminal justice element was a gap in the strategy as 
well as domestic abuse and substance misuse. He added that for children in care it 
was important to tackle the underlying causes of any issues and to ensure that 
employment opportunities for school leavers and the availability of childcare was in 
the right place at the right time.

Resolved:
(i) That the report and presentation be noted.
(ii) To ensure alignment of the aims to the refreshed Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy.

11 Falls Prevention Strategy 

The Board received a report of the Interim Head of Commissioning, Durham County 
Council and Associate Director of Nursing, Patient Safety and Governance, County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust that informed of the Falls Prevention 
Strategy for 2018-21 and the associated work, actions and outcomes (for copy see 
file of Minutes).

The Interim Head of Commissioning advised that the Board has tasked the Joint 
Commissioning Group to do a deep dive into falls following a dip in performance. A 
joint Falls Strategy with CDDFT (covering inpatient and community) had been 
developed and partner agencies had agreed to adopt the aims and objectives to 
maintain a consistent message across County and to strive to achieve common 
goals.  The aims of the strategy were outlined:-

 Ensure that the population understand what they can do to age well and 
reduce their risk of falls

 Prevent frailty, promote bone health and reduce falls and injuries 
 Early intervention to restore independence 
 Respond to the first fracture and prevent the second 
 Improve patient outcomes and increase efficiency of care after hip fracture 
 An aspiration to create a “fall free” County Durham & Darlington.

The Director of Integration commented that this was an excellent piece of work that 
was practicable and sensible in its approach, that also prevented the duplication of 
work.  She added that the action plan development was a very important piece of 
follow up work that would address every part of the system.  Teams around the 
Patient (TAPs) would have a key role to play.

It was noted that performance had improved in relation to falls, however hip 
fractures had seen an increase.

The Chief Clinical Officer, DDES asked if there were any particular problems as 
regional providers had different systems and was advised by the Interim Head of 
Commissioning that County Durham patients did flow into other foundation trusts 
and that there needs to be more working together.

Page 11



The Associate Director of Nursing, Patient Safety and Governance confirmed that 
the strategy had already been discussed with the North East Regional Falls Group 
and they were very interested in what was being taken forward in Durham.

Resolved:-
(i) That the contents of the report be noted and the work being undertaken 

across the county led by the Joint Commissioning Group be recognised.
(ii) That the falls Task Group facilitate development, planning and 

implementation of the community element of the Joint Falls strategy 
action plan be noted.

(iii) That the Joint Falls Strategy be adopted and updated on the action plan be 
received.

12 NHS 70th Birthday 

The Board received an update from Chief Clinical Officer, Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group about the opportunity to thank the 
NHS staff for their care and commitment over the last 70 years, including voluntary 
and community organisations.  This would be an opportunity to look back at the 
achievements and the move from people being treat at home to people being more 
dependent on treatment in hospital.  He went on to talk about the advances in 
treatment, for example some cancers are now treatable and curable.  There had 
also been a commitment from government to increase the funding to the NHS and 
there had recently been one of the biggest NHS recruitment campaigns.

He would encourage people to support the NHS and to use services wisely, to give 
blood and sign up to research programmes where appropriate.

The Chief Executive of CDDFT commented that there were a tremendous amount 
of people employed by the NHS and this was an opportunity to celebrate through a 
number of different events that would continue throughout the year

The Chairman agreed that it was important to thank the NHS and to acknowledge 
the celebrations taking place.  A press release would be provided from the Board in 
support of the NHS.

Page 12



Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
4 September 2018 
 

Durham Local Safeguarding Adults 
Board Annual Report 2017-2018 
 

 
 

Report of Lesley Jeavons, Local Safeguarding Adults Board IChair, 
Director of Integration 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 To present to the Local Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) Annual Report 

2017-2018 (Appendix 2) to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
Background 
 
2 The Care and Support statutory guidance outlines that the LSAB should aim 

to publicise its Annual Report as near to the financial year end as is feasible. 
It is a statutory requirement placed upon the LSAB to produce and publicise 
an Annual Report. 
 

3 The format of the report is in keeping with the Care and Support Statutory 
Guidance, and includes evidence (both quantitative and qualitative) and key 
messages or impact that relate to: 

 Safeguarding in the national and local context 

 Achievements and challenges during 2017-2018 

 Community awareness 

 Looking ahead, future actions and the refreshed Strategic Plan for the 
period 2018-2021 

 Perspectives of the key partners 

 Consultation activities (including local Healthwatch) 

 Key data on safeguarding activity and analysis in County Durham, which 
is throughout the report 
 

4 The LSAB is expected to evidence the progress of the LSAB during the 
financial year as outlined in that guidance. 

5 The LSAB agreed the annual report in July 2018. 

LSAB Achievements during 2017/18 
 

6 The LSAB annual report (Appendix 2) is expected to evidence the progress of 
the LSAB during the financial year as outlined in the Care and Support 
Statutory guidance and includes (not exhaustive): 

 
7 Heightening awareness and building community resilience to keep people 

safe is a key area of focus for the LSAB, and in continuing to empower 
individuals and communities alike in being able protect themselves.  In 
October 2017, the LSAB in partnership with the Safe Durham Partnership 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



(SDP) hosted a successful event with focus upon financial abuse and related 
issues. The event raised awareness across wider stakeholders, providers, as 
well as adults and carers in receipt of services. With over 60 agencies 
accessing the event. It has contributed to a strengthened working relationship 
with wider partnerships, and services. It is supporting the prevention agenda 
in the promotion of community resilience, and wider linkage with the 14 Area 
Action Partnerships (AAPs). 

8 Following an invite from the Local Safeguarding Children Board, the LSAB 
raised awareness of safeguarding adults and related issues through the LSCB 
safeguarding week.  Over 860 staff (including partner agencies) attended 
events during that week, with a clear message shared that ‘Safeguarding is 
Everyone’s Responsibility’. Coupled with the success of the financial abuse 
event, it demonstrates the increased connectivity between partnerships under 
the umbrella of the Transformation and Partnerships Service. 

9   Other awareness raising events throughout the year included the Holocaust 
Memorial Day, Fulfilling Lives (led by Learning Disabilities People’s 
Parliament), World Social Work Day and International Nurses Day. Over 300 
professionals, volunteers and service users and carers attended the events. 

10   In 2017-2018, the LSAB worked towards improving collation of data to support 
evidencing its impact. During this period, 20,359 of the wider workforce 
received some form of safeguarding training supportive of the board priorities 
of prevention and early intervention. It demonstrates a continued commitment 
to update staff and volunteers skills and knowledge across the wider 
workforce. 

11 The LSAB undertook a Training Needs Survey across all partners of the 
board, and wider organisations for a second year. It included impact 
measures for understanding person centred outcomes in safeguarding. With 
514 responses received, an increase of over 25 per cent on the previous year, 
it has helped the LSAB identify the support needed for wider agencies in the 
promotion of person centred safeguarding and training. 

12 The LSAB continues to raise the profile of safeguarding adults across the 
wider communities, and of how to report concerns. Durham County Council 
website page views for safeguarding adults reached 34,420 in 2017-18, with 
22,551 unique page views of the SAB website. Visits to the LSAB website 
included reporting a concern. 

13 Achieving good outcomes is at the centre of the LSAB vision. In 88 per cent of 
reported cases for financial abuse, the risk was either removed or reduced. 
Effective safeguarding placing the person at centre and this means working 
towards achieving their desired outcomes. In 97 per cent of cases, the desired 
outcomes expressed by adults involved in safeguarding fully or partially 
achieved. 

14 A statutory requirement placed upon the local authority when undertaking any 
safeguarding enquiry is to consider the mental capacity of adults or carers 
and to ensure that appropriate representatives and/or advocacy is sought to 
support adults when needed.  For over 90 per cent of safeguarding enquiries 
the adult was supported by family, friends or by advocates. 

Page 14



15 We consulted with adults who told us we could improve our surveys and we 
completed this work in 2017-2018. Social Care Staff told us how we could 
support them to gather the views of adults and carers who had accessed 
safeguarding services. As a result, we have developed an information pack to 
share information about safeguarding and other services with adults who have 
experienced abuse or neglect. 

16 Since 2011-2012, a concerted effort has been made to ensure repeat 
instances of abuse are maintained at the lowest possible levels. This is an 
indicator of the effectiveness of safeguarding interventions, of person centred 
practice and of achieving good outcomes. For 2017-2018, repeat instances 
accounted for 5.6 per cent of invoked referrals and has continued on a 
downward trend for a number of years and in keeping with national statistics. 

17 The board agreed to undertake an external peer review as part of its 
performance framework to gain a measure of the board progress and its 
effectiveness. The LSAB commissioned the Local Government Association 
(LGA) to undertake the review in March 2018.  The peer review was a positive 
experience, it illustrated a number of key and varied strengths of the LSAB 
including (not exhaustive): 

(a) Leadership and Governance 
i. Positive partnership working & engagement. 
ii. Partners being prepared to lead and contribute to sub-groups. 
iii. Partners see the Board as inclusive. 
iv. Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) pick up the prevention agenda 

and are engaged and supported by the Board. 
v. Assurance through multi-agency audits and other measures. 

 
(b) Making Safeguarding Personal 

i. Partner agencies are generally embedding Making Safeguarding 
Personal into practice. 

ii. Pro-active links with providers, advocates and practitioners. 
iii. Targeted work on self-neglect around hoarding with 

Environmental Health. 
iv. Comprehensive training programme around safeguarding for all 

partner agencies, which includes Making Safeguarding 
Personal. 

v. Training offered to Voluntary and Community Sector and good 
attendance from a range of these providers. 
 

(c)     User/Carer Voice 
i. User and Carer Sub-Group is making progress and has come a 

long way. 
ii. Website, DVDs and publications developed with users and 

carers. 
 

18 The peer team concluded, “from what was read, heard and seen that the 
LSAB is in a strong position with positive working relationships and 
professional and respectful challenge when needed. Since the Care Act in 
2014 there have been really positive changes in the way the LSAB works and 
there is a clear sense that everyone is there to make a difference”. 

Page 15



 Challenges 
 

19 Working within a climate of financial restraint will remain a continual challenge 
for all partners of the LSAB with the former Chair Jane Geraghty recognising 
the commitment of partners has remained strong. 

20 A continued challenge for the LSAB is the exploration and strengthening of 
performance reporting across all agency data. This year, the LSAB revisited 
its performance reporting, identifying a number of areas to take forward, 
including developing further enhanced narrative and analysis of data. Echoed 
in findings from the peer review and reaffirmed for the LSAB that it is on the 
right track. 

21 The LSAB needs to continue its exploration and strengthen the evaluation and 
impact of training provision across all partners. 

22 Challenge also exists across the partnership working arrangements with the 
LSAB operating with openness and transparency to challenge partners of 
board and document responses through its challenge log. The peer team 
recognising that challenge is undertaken professionally and respectfully. 

 Future work of the Local Safeguarding Adults Board 
 

23 Collectively, the LSAB will continue its journey of working innovatively and 
with creativity in support of its vision, and working with the wider thematic 
partnerships. This includes working in smarter ways across partnerships and 
reducing duplication of effort.  

24 The LSAB through its development sessions in October 2017 and January 
2018 have a formulated composite plan, it encompasses actions from those 
sessions and peer review recommendations. The LSAB have agreed to 
quarterly scrutiny of the plan to monitor progress. 

25 The LSAB have agreed a ‘plan on a page’ for 2018-2021. The LSAB agreed 
to revise its priorities for the period 2018 to 2021, and to adopt a streamlined 
approach by reducing the priorities from eight to four. This plan forms the 
basis of the activities of the LSAB working groups, with each group agreeing a 
set of objectives to take forward to meet board priorities. 

26 A key piece of work over the next year is a full review of the locally agreed 
policy and procedures to coincide with a relaunch of the LSAB website. 

27 A range of Safeguarding Adult Review workshops will continue to be available 
to LSAB members and broader professionals. 

28 The LSAB will continue its work for ongoing Safeguarding Adult Reviews.  

Recommendations  
 

29 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to note the 
content of the LSAB Annual Report 2017-2018 for information. 

Contact:  Gordon Elliott Tel: 03000 263605 

Page 16



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance – Continuing financial pressures on public services remains a challenge for 
agencies of the Board, particularly in relation to how responses to the safeguarding agenda 
are agreed. The Board monitors risks and challenges through its governance arrangements; 
Durham County Council ensures it includes any such areas in those arrangements. The 
board recently agreed to redesign its governance arrangements coinciding with new chairing 
arrangements. The peer review highlighted this as an area of development. 
  
Staffing – The sustaining of adult safeguarding activities requires continued priority to 
staffing to ensure adequate resource is maintained. The continued contribution to staffing 
from partner agencies supports the sustainability of dedicated safeguarding adults posts/ 
functions. 
 
Risk – The risks associated with not appropriately managing responses to safeguarding are 
extremely high and include risks of ongoing abuse and neglect and the risk of serious 
organisational damage  to statutory and non-statutory agencies in County Durham. 
The Safeguarding Adults Board puts considerable effort into training and awareness raising 
to ensure that abuse and neglect is recognised and reported. Screening of all reported 
concerns takes place and directed appropriately to ensure the most appropriate response.  
Any risks identified under the umbrella of the Board are recorded in a risk log, reviewed 
quarterly. The impact of training is regularly explored and is reported annually. This is an 
area that the peer review team highlighted as a potential area for development. 
 
Equality and Diversity – Adult safeguarding is intrinsically linked and this is covered in the 
SAB policies and procedures with equalities impact assessments undertaken where 
appropriate. 
 
Accommodation – N/A 
 
Crime and disorder - Adult safeguarding is intrinsically linked, and this is covered in the 
SAB policies and procedures. There is a close working relationship to the Safe Durham 
Partnership, and annual review of the Safeguarding Framework outlining working 
arrangements across a range of partnerships. Durham Constabulary is a statutory partner of 
the SAB. 
 
Human rights - Adult safeguarding is intrinsically linked and this is covered in the SAB 
policies and procedures. Human rights is fundamental to the work of the SAB and its related 
partners in the context of safeguarding and adult protection. 
 
Consultation – Report available for all partner agencies. 
 
Procurement – The adoption of safeguarding principles in the procurement of health and 
social care services is essential. 
 
Disability issues – Safeguarding Adults procedures apply to ‘adults at risk’, who are adults 
with needs for care and support, whether or not the local authority is meeting those needs. 
 
Legal implications – Statutory requirement to publicise Annual Reports and publication of 
an Annual Report from 1st April 2015 in line with the Care Act 2014 and any Safeguarding 
Adult Reviews in that period, lessons learnt and any actions incomplete. The SAB is 
exploring changes relating to the Data Protection Bill and the new GDPR guidelines for 
partnership working. Seeking assurance from partners forms part of that work.  
 
 

Page 17



Appendix 2:  LSAB Annual Report 

 
Attached as a separate document 
 

Page 18



 

1 
 

  

Safeguarding Adults 

Annual Report 2017/18 

P
age 19

Heidi.Gibson
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 2



 

2 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Message from the Chair 3 

Introduction 5 

A Local Picture 6 

Our Work 7 

Messages from Service Users, Carers and Advocates 9 

SAB Working Arrangements 10 

National and Local Updates 13 

Board Assurance 2017-2018 14 

What we have Achieved in 2017-2018 15 

At a Glance 2017- 2018 18  

Safeguarding Adult Reviews 21 

Looking Ahead and Summary 23 

Partner Statements 24 

P
age 20



 

3 
 

 

 

 

As Independent Chair of the Durham Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB), I 

am pleased to present the annual report for 2017-2018, and in recognising 

the contribution of partners and wider partnership working that has taken 

place over the last year. 

 

In 2018-2019, Lesley Jeavons, Director of Integrated Care will take up the 

role of Safeguarding Adults Board Chair, and we extend a warm welcome 

to her as the work of the board continues. 

 

As with each year in my role as Chair, I hope that this report provides a 

picture of the work undertaken as a board and the progress made since 

our last report in 2016-2017. The Durham Safeguarding Adults Board 

continues to operate with openness and transparency, demonstrated by its 

commitment to commission a peer review in the last year. 

 

Challenges remain for all partners of the SAB working within a climate of 

continual financial restraint. Yet I am pleased to report that the 

commitment of partners remains strong, working together throughout the 

year with reflection upon our direction, identifying new and innovative 

ways of working and service delivery with a key focus upon prevention. 

Heightening awareness and building community resilience to keep people safe is key for the SAB, and to 

continue to empower individuals and communities alike in being able protect themselves.   

  

Jane Geraghty 

SAB Independent Chair 

P
age 21



 

4 
 

This is no more evident than in the success of our 

annual event last year, which focussed upon financial 

abuse and related issues. The event in conjunction with 

the Safe Durham Partnership promoted a clear 

message of how working collectively can support the 

prevention agenda. I would like to express my thanks 

to everyone involved, and to the local, regional and 

national organisations who helped to make the event 

such a success. I would also like to extend those thanks 

to the service providers, the voluntary sector and the 

adults and carers in receipt of services who attended 

the event and for their valued input. 

 

Consultation activities led by Lay Members over the last 

year has helped to build good working relationships 

with both adults and carers. This will continue to inform 

the work of the board, ensuring that we hear the ‘voice’ 

of adults and carers in everything we do.  
 

A continued challenge for the SAB is the exploration of performance data.  This year, the 

SAB revisited its performance reporting, identifying a number of areas to take forward, 

including developing further enhanced analysis of the data.  This was echoed in findings 

from the peer review, to know the SAB is on the right track and moving in the right direction is 

reassuring.  
 

I would like to close by thanking all partners of the SAB, lay members and the Adult & Health 

Services Portfolio Holder for their active support and positive contributions to the work of the 

board, and for their continued commitment.  
 

Jane Geraghty 

Independent Chair (up to March ’18)  

Financial abuse event 31st October 2017 Opened 

by Assistant Chief Constable Dave Orford – 
Durham Constabulary 

P
age 22



 

5 
 

 

 

 

The Durham Safeguarding Adults Board in line with the Care Act 2014 has a statutory duty to publish an 

Annual Report including the achievements of the SAB and its members against its strategic priorities. 

The annual report will be publicised on each core member’s website and will be available to other agencies. 

The Care and Support statutory guidance tells us that our annual reports should consider what the SAB has 

done locally and to draw conclusions from the following areas: 

 evidence of community awareness of adult abuse and neglect and how to respond 

 analysis of safeguarding data to better understand the reasons that lie behind local data returns and use 

the information to improve the strategic plan and operational arrangements 

 what adults who have experienced the process say and the extent to which the outcomes they wanted 

(their wishes) have been realised 

 what front line practitioners say about outcomes for adults and about their ability to work in a 

personalised way with those adults 

 better reporting of abuse and neglect 

 evidence of success of strategies to prevent abuse or neglect 

 feedback from local Healthwatch, adults who use care and support services and carers, community 

groups, advocates, service providers and other partners 

 how successful adult safeguarding is at linking with other parts of the system, for example children’s 

safeguarding, domestic violence, community safety 

 the impact of training carried out in this area and analysis of future need; and 

 how well agencies are co-operating and collaborating 

It is the intention of this annual report to outline what the SAB has done in Durham to meet the above. 

Drawing upon a range of data and information from agencies to illustrate the effectiveness of safeguarding 

arrangements in Durham. 

 

P
age 23



 

6 
 

  

In 2017, there were approximately 524,400 people of all ages living in 

Durham covering 862 square miles. 

There are 316,700 adults aged between 18 – 64 years in Durham.  

There are 12,400 adults aged over 85 years in 

Durham.  

There are 1,912 adults over the age of 85 years 

living in a care home. 

In 2017, there were approximately 9,943 adults 

with a learning disability, and 6,492 adults with 

dementia living in Durham. 

Data sources:  www.pansi.org.uk www.poppi.org.uk 

P
age 24

http://www.pansi.org.uk/
http://www.poppi.org.uk/


 

7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Since moving to a statutory footing, the SAB has a key role to assure itself that our partners and our local 

safeguarding arrangements are working harmoniously to protect adults in our area.  We do this through our 

Board activity.  The SAB continues to be supportive of the County Durham Sustainable Community Strategy 

for an Altogether Better Durham.  
 

The SAB has a key focus to safeguard an adult’s right to live in safety, free 

from abuse and neglect.  Our vision encompasses working together to 

prevent the risk of abuse or neglect, and if it does occur to respond swiftly to 

achieve the best outcome possible for those adults.  
 

Hearing the voice of adults who may be experiencing abuse and what they 

would like to happen to keep them safe is at the heart of safeguarding adults 

in Durham, it is a key priority for 2017 – 2020. 
 

We consulted with adults who told us we could 

improve our surveys, we completed this work in 

2017-2018. Social Care Staff told us how we could 

support them to gather the views of adults and 

carers who had accessed safeguarding services. 

As a result, we have developed an information 

pack to share information about safeguarding 

and other services with adults who have experienced abuse or neglect. 

  

 You 
said 

We 
did 

P
age 25



 

8 
 

 

The external peer review recognised a key message from the SAB is that 

everyone sees there is a person at the centre. 

 

The SAB meets twice yearly for development, these sessions help the SAB to 

reflect on what is doing well and where it needs to make improvements.   

In October 2017, the SAB recognised it needed to 

explore the impact of training, in December 2017 we 

started work to revise our training evaluations.  

In January 2018, the SAB agreed improving upon our performance measures in 

developing meaningful multi-agency quantitative and qualitative data. The 

external peer review supports this area of development with a key message that 

the SAB is on the right path. 

What some board members said at development 

sessions: 

Strengths… 

 

 

 

Areas we could improve… 

 

 

Good governance and 

partnership working 
Strong commitment to 

hear adult/carer voice 

Hearing the voice of the 

wider workforce 

P
age 26



 

9 
 

 

 

 

Over the last year, the SAB has continued its commitment to ensure we hear the ‘voice’ of adults and carers 

who access safeguarding services. 

Last year we shared our plans for increasing engagement opportunities through our 

user/carer forum led by a Lay Member. In 2017-2018 we held a ‘Seek Your Views’ 

event, and completed a consultation activity with adults and carers on how we could 

improve upon our survey activities.  
 

We asked adults and their 

support workers who attended 

the Seek Your Views event to tell 

us about their understanding of abuse, and what they felt 

might tell them that abuse was taking place.  
 

Throughout the year, we have continued to engage with a diverse group of adults and carers in 

helping us to improve. Healthwatch Durham are supporting the board in gaining views of adults and 

carers who have experienced safeguarding services. The board will receive an evaluation of their work  

in 2018-2019.  

The Board commissioned an external peer review 

to gain a view of how well it is doing. 

The team were impressed by the website and the 

publications produced with the input of users and 

carers and recognised that the board has pro-

active links with providers, advocates and 

practitioners.  

 You 
said 

We 
did 

Using my 

money and 

not letting 

me use it 

Bullying 
Name  

Calling 

The public sector is 

most fortunate to have 

dedicated staff of his 

calibre supporting 

vulnerable adults. 

Source: Family 

member/Appropriate 

representative 

P
age 27



 

10 
 

  

 

 

As a statutory strategic partnership, with a key focus upon prevention of abuse of neglect the SAB oversees 

and leads safeguarding of adults for Durham. The SAB achieves its strategic role through collaborative working 

with SAB partners, mindful of the voice of adults and carers in all that it undertakes. 

As part of its annual activity to strengthen 

arrangements, the SAB revisits its 

governance arrangements. In 2017-2018, 

the SAB issued its revised governance 

structure and agreed to streamline for 

2018-2019. 

Over the last year, the SAB has also 

completed a range of activity in meeting 

its statutory requirements, which include: 

 Completed revision to the Terms of 

Reference of its working groups, 

outlining the role of partners and the 

accountability and escalation 

arrangements, and identified further 

work in its development session of 

January 2018. 

 Continued to monitor compliance 

and attendance of partners, with two reports to board. 

 Completed 20 consultations with SAB partners for specific actions or documents, including Training 

Needs Analysis, work plans, vice-chairing arrangements. 

P
age 28



 

11 
 

 Completed two consultations with adults, carers and providers to improve surveys. 

 Contributed to the revision of the Safeguarding Framework. A document outlining linkage to the wider 

thematic partnerships including the Safe Durham Partnership, the Health & Wellbeing Board and Children 

and Families Partnership. 

 Revised its self-assessment tool for completion in 2018-2019.  

 Issued the first GP self-audit in January 2018. 

 Continued to challenge partners of the SAB and document responses and corrective actions through 

the SAB risk and challenge log. 

 Commissioned an external peer review in March 2018. 

SAB membership  
The Care Act 2014 specifies that each SAB should have three core members, the local authority, clinical 

commissioning groups (CCGs) and the police. The SAB is made up of a wider membership, individual partner 

statements are outlined at the end this report.  

In 2017-2018, the SAB appointed a third lay member to the SAB. Lay members act as critical friends to the 

board. 

 

The Independent Chair continued to meet with partners throughout 2017 – 2018 to support the collaborative 

working of the SAB.  
 

 

 

 Well attended SAB 

 Positive partnership working & engagement 

 Lay Member(s) contribute and take an 

active role in the Board 

Source; 

Peer Review Team March 2018 

 

Chair engagement with partners 

13  
Meetings P

age 29



 

12 
 

Our overarching vision is ‘to support adults at risk of harm to prevent abuse happening, and when it does 

occur, to act swiftly to achieve good outcomes’. This is only achievable by effective partnership working and 

an interface through County Durham Partnership (CDP) to a broader vision of an “Altogether Better Durham”. 

Best illustrated by a real shift to working towards wider preventative initiatives and building community 

resilience through a ‘Good to Great’ programme, and linking 

with the 14 Area Action Partnerships (AAPs). 

The Safe Durham Partnership (SDP) tackles crime, disorder, 

substance misuse, anti-social behaviour and other behaviour 

adversely affecting the environment and seeks to reduce re-

offending.  The SAB strengthened its links with the SDP, through 

related abuse agendas such as modern slavery, and raising 

awareness of the links to financial abuse such as cyber-crime.  

The Health & Wellbeing Board (HWB) promoting integrated 

working between commissioners of health services, public 

health and social care services, for the purposes of improving 

the health and wellbeing of the people in the area.  SAB is 

committed to taking forward any actions of the Joint Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy to support its objectives.  The 

Environment Partnership – improves, transforms and sustains 

the environment to support the economy and the wellbeing of local communities.  The Economic Partnership 

works to make County Durham an area where people want to live, work, invest and visit; whilst enabling 

residents and businesses to achieve their full economic potential.  The Children and Families Partnership (CFP) 

is working towards ensuring effective services are delivered in the most efficient way to improve the lives of 

children, young people and families in County Durham.  SAB continues to share issues of note.  

The SAB works closely with its colleagues within the Local Safeguarding 

Children Board, creating a familial approach to safeguarding in Durham.  This 

is strengthened by working together where cross-cutting themes exist, such as 

modern slavery. 
 

 “    
” 

Area Action 

Partnerships 

pick up 

prevention 

agenda and 

are engaged 

and supported 

by the Board 

Source; 

Peer Review Team 

March 2018 

 

P
age 30



 

13 
 

 

 

 

As part of the SABs continual improvement activity, it regularly receives any national and local updates relating 

to research, consultation and legislative changes. Below are just some of the examples that have informed the 

SAB in 2017-2018. 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) - The Law Commission undertook a consultation of the Mental 

Capacity Act 2005 and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS), publishing its findings in March 2017 along 

with a proposed draft bill. The proposals relate to DoLS for adults who cannot make decisions about how their 

care or treatment is provided or how they are kept safe. Currently DoLS applies to Care Homes and Hospitals, 

the new proposals include supported living, shared housing and private housing. The new proposals are 

supportive of adults living in more than one place, and receiving or moving between more than one place for 

care and treatment. There is also a proposal that the new Liberty Protection Safeguards include those 16 years 

and over. The SAB continues to monitor the draft bill progress. 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) – Since 2010, there have been a number of key developments to promote 

a personalised approach to safeguarding adults, this is known as Making Safeguarding Personal. The Local 

Government Association and the Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) jointly published a number of 

resource toolkits. These resources aim to support the SAB partners, commissioners and 

providers to embed and promote an outcome based focus in safeguarding practice. 

The tools also highlight the importance of prevention and this is in keeping with the SAB 

plans.  

 

National Institute for Health & Care Excellence (NICE) –  In January 2018 the SAB received  

an update in respect of NICE guidelines relating to ‘People's experience in adult social 

care services: improving the experience of care for people using adult social care 

services’, these guidelines were published in February 2018 and link to safeguarding 

policy.  

   

    

P
age 31



 

14 
 

 

 

 

Following a board development session in March 2017, the board refreshed its one page plan, streamlining its 

priorities and separating statutory responsibilities for 2017-2018. Throughout the year, the board continued to 

strengthen its assurance mechanisms. Some examples of partner assurance outlined below. 

 Durham County Council – Safeguarding and Access Service - Changes to the requirements to report the 

death of a person subject to a Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) authorisation to the Coroner (April 

2017)  

 Durham County Council – Channel Panel Update Presentation (April 2017) 

 Her Majesty’s Prison & Probation Service – Partner Assurance Report (October 2017) 

 North East Ambulance Service – Partner Assurance via Annual Report (January 2018) 

In addition, the board received a Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements Update in July 2017. Key 

messages about lessons learnt and managing risk delivered, and following the learning from a Local 

Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) instigated Child Serious Case Review. The board previously supported 

learning from this case by raising the profile of the adult board through learning lessons events coordinated by the 

LSCB. 

Following a Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with learning disabilities (CIPOLD), the Healthcare 

Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) on behalf of NHS England commissioned a programme of work known as 

the LeDeR programme. The board received its latest update focussing upon 

ensuring links to the SAB for assurance of local reviews. It included identifying 

learning and meeting any gaps to embed learning within the wider workforce with 

a number of actions to take forward. The board will receive progress updates twice 

a year. 

The board also received a number of audit reports throughout 2017-2018 and other 

reports to offer assurance including the multi-agency response to modern slavery, 

its prevention and collaborative working.  

SAB Strengths… 

Assurance through 

multi-agency 

audits and other 

measures… 

P
age 32



 

15 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The Board set eight priorities for 2017-2018, the below intends to set out an illustration of just some of the key 

achievements of the SAB against those priorities, and the impact of that work. 

External Peer Review – the board agreed to undertake an external peer review in its 

performance framework to gain a measure of the board progress. Impact: “The peer 

team concluded from what was read, heard and seen that the SAB is in a strong 

position with positive working relationships and professional and respectful challenge 

when needed. Since the Care Act in 2014 there have been really positive changes in 

the way the SAB works and there is a clear sense that everyone is there to make a 

difference”. (Source: Peer Team Summary feedback) 

SAB Annual Event – a joint event with the Safe Durham Partnership to raise awareness 

of financial abuse and related issues. Impact: This event raised awareness across 

wider stakeholders, providers, adults and carers in receipt of services. It has 

contributed to a strengthened working relationship with wider partnerships, and 

service. It is supporting the prevention agenda in the promotion of community 

resilience. 

Modern Slavery Briefings – Introduced in October 2017 to raise awareness of modern 

slavery and sexual exploitation, and the signs and indicators. Impact: These specialist 

sessions delivered jointly with the police have enabled the wider workforce to update 

their knowledge of modern slavery and sexual exploitation. It has helped to support 

partner agency staff such as Nurses and Social Workers and wider organisations such 

as housing providers in understanding how to make appropriate reports. 

 P
age 33



 

16 
 

Training Needs Survey – a training survey shared with all partners of the board, and 

wider organisations for a second year. It included impact measures on 

understanding person centred outcomes in safeguarding. Impact: There was an 

increased 25 per cent response rate on the previous year with 514 submitted 

surveys. It has helped the SAB identify the support needed for wider agencies in 

the promotion of person centred safeguarding. 

Safeguarding Week 2017- Following an invite from the LSCB, the SAB raised 

awareness of safeguarding adults and related issues through the LSCB 

safeguarding week.  Impact: With over 860 staff from partner agencies attending 

events during that week there was a clear message shared that ‘Safeguarding is 

Everyone’s Responsibility’. 

Awareness Raising Events – The SAB and partners raised awareness at a variety of 

forums throughout the year, including Holocaust Memorial Day, Fulfilling Lives (led 

by Learning Disabilities People’s Parliament) and World Social Work Day, 

International Nurses Day. Impact: With attendance of over 300 professionals, 

volunteers and service users and carers, the safeguarding adults profile is raised 

and in particular, how to report a concern. 

Website Updates – Updated throughout the year and posted to the SAB website 

included SAB training information, Annual reports and easy read version, website 

survey and SAB newsletters. Impact: A total of 34,420 page views, and 22,551 

unique page views of the SAB website, this includes reporting a concern. 

Training Programmes – A wide variety of training is accessible to staff and 

volunteers across the wider workforce, it includes face to face training, 

workbooks and e-learning packages. Impact: 20,359 of the wider workforce 

received some form of safeguarding training over the last year, supporting 

prevention and early intervention, and continual update of staff/volunteer skills 

and knowledge. 
  

P
age 34



 

17 
 

  

Mr Y is a man who lived alone with some support 

from family members and agency support from 

home carers. Adult Social Care received some 

concerns relating to the company providing 

home care to Mr Y. As a result, a multi-agency 

response to gather information about the 

concerns took place. Mr Y was unable to give his 

views or the outcomes he would like to achieve 

from safeguarding support. A family member 

acted as his representative to support him.  

Through conversations with Mr Y’s family and his 

representative, safeguarding plans to support Mr 

Y and keep him safe from further risk were put in 

place. Concerns about a staff member from the 

company providing his care resulted in that 

person being removed from their working role. This 

has prevented further risk to Mr Y and others. Mr Y 

continues to live independently with the support 

of his family and home care. 

 

Mrs C is a vulnerable adult who has 

dementia. Care workers pop in to her home twice 

a week to help her shower. Mrs C’s grandson 

moved in with her recently. Her grandson often has 

friends over, to play computer games, sometimes 

they stay for a long time. Mrs C’s care worker 

noticed she was becoming withdrawn and spent a 

lot of time in her bedroom and was worried about 

her. Mrs C has always enjoyed watching television. 

Mrs C’s care worker telephoned Social Care 

Direct.  A social worker contacted Mrs C.  

Mrs C told the social worker that she wanted her 

grandson to continue living with her, and that she 

liked the company. Mrs C received support to 

speak her grandson about not having friends over 

quite so much. Mrs C’s grandson explained that he 

was worried about leaving his grandmother home 

alone. Other family members agreed to help by 

visiting so when Mrs C’s grandson wanted to be 

with friends, she would not be alone. Mrs C is much 

happier and is enjoying time with her family. 

 

Everyone sees 

there is a person 

at the centre 

P
age 35



 

18 
 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
Adults supported by family, friends or advocates during Safeguarding 

Enquiries made under Safeguarding should 

always consider the mental capacity of 

adults. The Care Act tells us that when any 

such enquiries are undertaken, advocacy 

support should be offered to adults when 

needed. An adult’s ability to contribute to 

decisions about their protection should 

always be recorded.  

Desired 
Expressed by service users were fully or partially 
achieved following safeguarding involvement 

97% 

P
age 36



 

19 
 

Full end of year data and analysis to be included after 13th May 
 

Safeguarding adults should aim to prevent further risk to adults.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Since 2011-2012 a concerted effort has been made to ensure repeat instances of abuse are maintained at 

the lowest possible levels. This is an indicator of the effectiveness of safeguarding interventions, of person 

centred practice and of achieving good outcomes. For 2017-2018, repeat instances accounted for 5.6 per 

cent of invoked referrals. The SAB receives audit information annually of all repeat instances. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Percentage of enquiries 

which are repeats 

 
13.25% 
2011-12 
 

5.38% 
2013-14 
 

8.6% 
2012-13 
 

6.13% 
2014-15 
 

4.5% 
2015-16 
  

6.18% 
2016-17 
 

TREND 

 

5.6% 
2017-18 
 

For 80.7 per cent of safeguarding enquiries receiving a multi-

agency response action was taken and the risk was either 

reduced or removed, this is in keeping with the national 

average of 2016-2017 of 87 per cent. 

 

3020
3178

784 728

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Adult Safeguarding Activity 2016-18

Section 42 Enquiries Adult Protection/Multi-Agency Response
2016-17 2017-18 P

age 37



 

20 
 

Last year we said we would carry out work in a number of areas, to support the 

board to continue to make progress. These included: 

Improving upon our performance reporting to ensure it is fully reflective of 

multi-agency working and incorporates prevention and early intervention. 

During the year, the SAB has worked towards making improvements to its 

performance reporting. A number of actions identified at the board 

development session in January 2018 are being taken forward including linking 

with performance leads across 

the partners. The Peer Review also identified this an area of 

development for the board. 

We said we would improve upon gaining the ‘voice’ of 

user/carers to inform our work and identify improvements. The 

peer team highlighted this was an area of strength for the board, 

and noted that resources and publications are developed with 

users and carers.  

We said we 

would identify the prevalence and need of adults who may 

be victims of sexual exploitation or trafficking. This was to 

support the development of appropriate pathways to support 

adults at risk of sexual exploitation or trafficking. This work is 

near to completion with an ‘At a Glance’ Toolkit developed in 

conjunction with Darlington Safeguarding Adults Board. 

 

 

 

 

 

User and Carer Sub-

Group is making 

progress and has 

come a long way. 

Good cross-agency 

working on trafficking 

and modern slavery. 

P
age 38



 

21 
 

 

 

 

The SAB must within its annual report provide details of any Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) undertaken, the 

lessons learned and actions to be taken as a result of a SAR. This means the SAB must identify whether or not 

cases where someone has died or suffered significant harm would require a Safeguarding Adult Review. The 

main purpose of reviews is to learn lessons that will help to prevent any risks happening again for adults at risk. 

During this year, 2 referrals reviewed by a SAR Panel determined that the criteria was met for one case to 

instigate a SAR, and for another case whilst the criteria was not met, it was agreed there may be valuable 

learning from the case. Both cases are ongoing, the learning and any actions taken will be publicised within 

2018-2019 annual report.  

The SAB agreed to explore a wide range of learning opportunities as part of its continual improvement, 

including the development of a thematic tool drawing upon learning from: 

     

 Adult Protection Cases) and Reflective Analysis 

 Case file audits 

 Organisational Learning – (for example learning from NHS Serious Incidents) 

 Near Miss processes  

 Provider self-audits and emerging themes 

 Safeguarding Adult Reviews 

 Domestic Homicide Reviews 

 Mental Health Homicide Reviews 

 Child Serious Case Reviews, (Safeguarding Practice Reviews - Consultation Working together to Safeguard 

Children, December 2017) 

 Confidential Inquiries  
 P

age 39



 

22 
 

In 2017-2018 the SAB identified a learning need for board members and wider practitioners in relation to 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews and in particular the differing methodologies available, the SAB is holding SAR 

workshop events in May 2018 to meet this need. 

 

The SAB noted raising the profile of SARs and how to refer cases should continue, and the recent peer review 

highlighted a suggestion for the SAB to explore the low numbers of SARs. It is reassuring to note that our areas 

of development correlate to that of the peer review findings. 

 

The Care and Support statutory guidance informs that SABS should be mindful of parallel 

review processes. SABs should consider the exploration of joint reviews to prevent 

duplication. In our 2016-2017 report we noted a key recommendation from a Mental Health 

Homicide Review relating to communication between agencies in situations of specific risk 

for adults in receipt in services. The recommendation suggested the LSAB explore how it 

could achieve a more robust approach to cross-agency communications.  

 

The SAB held workshops with a group of pilot 

participants outlining the learning from the 

review and the reasons for an intended 

pilot. Consultation on the development of 

resources to support the pilot participants 

took place. Resources and guidance packs 

shared with participants.  

 

With the support of NHS England a pilot is 

underway with selected agencies, including 

a provider and two GP practices as well as 

Social Care. The pilot is using a well-adopted 

framework for improving communication. In 

July 2018, the SAB will hear the pilot findings 

including analysis of its impact.  

P
age 40



 

23 
 

 

 

 

Collectively the SAB wishes to continue its journey with innovation and creativity in support of its vision. This 

includes working in smarter ways across partnerships and reducing duplication of effort. 

The SAB held its development sessions in October 2017 and January 2018. These sessions provide the SAB with 

an opportunity to reflect upon its progress and review its ‘plan on a page’ and related priorities.  

 

The SAB agreed to revise its priorities for the period 2018 to 2021, and to adopt a streamlined approach by 

reducing the priorities from eight to four. 

 

A key emphasis for the SAB moving forward into 2018 is performance monitoring, with a view to bringing 

strengthened narrative and analysis of data across all the statutory SAB agencies. The recent peer review 

team gave added validity to this area of development. Improving upon performance reporting will offer the 

SAB further assurance of the effectiveness of its arrangements through completion of development session 

actions and related learning from the recent peer review. 

 

Other areas identified include strengthened engagement with Healthwatch, including the exploration of 

research opportunities to inform the work of the SAB and identification of future priorities.  

 
 

 

 

 

 “     
” 

Partners see 

the Board as 

inclusive 

 

“     
” 

Real desire 

to make a 

difference 

 

“     
” 

The Board is 

on the right 

path 
 

“                   
” 

Very good session, two key themes worked 

well, probably the best session we’ve had, 

more interactive, and maybe a feeling of 

a more mature group. 

 “          
” 

SAB should have more 

days like this and strive 

for excellence. 

Sources: Peer Review 

team March 2018 
Source: Board member 

October 2017 

P
age 41



 

24 
 

 

 

 

Durham County Council  

Adult Care 

Durham County Council continues to fulfil its responsibility under the Care Act 2014 to protect adults with 

care and support needs from abuse and neglect. There have been a number of initiatives and 

improvements to the service in order to achieve these goals. The local authority are the lead agency for 

safeguarding and the Adult Protection Lead Officer team are responsible for coordinating the safeguarding 

response at an operational level. The team of seven lead officers was increased to eight, to address an 

increase in adult protection referrals and to ensure that the quality of safeguarding was maintained. Regular 

meetings were arranged with the chair of the Safeguarding Adults Board to promote and maintain links 

between the operational and the strategic aspects of safeguarding. 

A procurement process has commenced to replace the current ageing adult care IT system to bring the 

local authority up to date with modern IT facilities. This will ensure safeguarding records are better managed 

and overall issues are more easily identified, such as multiple victims and emerging issues relating to care 

provision. 

A Training Bulletin has been introduced to be disseminated quarterly in order to promote continuous learning 

amongst local authority staff and inform them of latest practice issues regarding topics such as Mental 

Capacity Act and advocacy.  

A new advocacy provider, Rethink, now provides all advocacy services to the local authority, replacing the 

previous advocacy service providers and providing a more consistent approach to advocacy to fulfil Care 

Act, Mental Capacity Act or Mental Health Act requirements. 

P
age 42



 

25 
 

 

The Safeguarding Team has been working closely with other local authority departments, such as trading 

standards, environmental health and housing to ensure there is a more comprehensive and integrated 

response to safeguarding issues. This joint working has been improved by the introduction of new referral 

forms, leaflets and training. 

The local authority celebrated World Social Work Day on Tuesday 20 March. Social workers from Adult and 

from Children’s Services came together in County Hall for the event, which created the opportunity to 

recognise the variety of crucially important tasks they perform in helping some of our most vulnerable 

residents. 

 

Housing Solutions 

Housing Solutions provide a strategic and operational role in the delivery of key local housing services 

including: 

 Homelessness or  risk of homelessness and Homeless Prevention 

 Advice on the range of accommodation options available through Durham Key Options, Private Rent, 

Housing Associations, Supported accommodation, Emergency hostels and Refuges and Gypsy, Roma 

and Traveller sites; 

 Family Intervention Project, Integrated Offender Management Project, HOPE Project, Project Beta, 

Remain Safe Project, Welfare Reform Project 

 Disrepair, Empty Properties and Regeneration 

 Private Landlord Accreditation Scheme 

 Loans and Grants 

 Energy issues 

 Home Improvement Agency 

 Rights and responsibilities as a tenant or an owner occupier 

 P
age 43



 

26 
 

Some key achievements this year include: 

 Development of Near-Miss procedure 

 Development of Safeguarding champions- dedicated safeguarding rep in all service areas raising 

awareness and knowledge. 

 Annual staff  safeguarding self- assessment audits  

 Mandatory  mental capacity act training and MSP briefings 

 Development of Modern Slavery procedure 

 Implementation of MSP through Personal Housing Plans and initial  needs assessments 

 Development of Rough Sleeper strategy ( Multi-agency)-including sweeps of Durham City engaging  

and empowering  vulnerable rough sleepers 

 Project Beta- dedicated keyworkers supporting offenders from prison to accommodation 

 MAPPA- dedicated officers in attendance and engagement in housing support 

 County Durham Housing Providers Safeguarding Partnership- Housing solutions facilitate key speakers 

and training to wider partners 

 Potential of a Rough Sleeper outreach worker 

 

An area of good practice is the development of a questionnaire with the help of vulnerable adults (Rough 

Sleepers) to share their experiences and collate views. We provided advice and support to those choosing 

to sleep rough identifying the need for a dedicated outreach worker. Our challenges for 2018-2019 include: 

 Clients with a Dual Diagnosis 

 Appropriate suitable temporary accommodation 

 Housing clients with complex needs 

 

Clinical Commissioning Groups      

CCGs are statutorily responsible for ensuring that the organisations from which they commission services 

provide a safe system that safeguards adults at risk of or experiencing abuse or neglect. North Durham (ND) 

and Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) CCGs are committed to the safeguarding agenda 

and work closely with provider organisations to ensure that robust systems and processes are in place.  

P
age 44



 

27 
 

 

The CCGs support the work of the SAB in working towards achieving its strategic plan by active contribution 

and participation. It has further supported the SAB by means of contributions for staffing resources for the 

period 201/2018.  

 

Over the last year the CCGs have worked with the local authority safeguarding staff in relation to the 

executive strategy process, Section 42 enquiries and adult protection investigations.  

 

The CCGs continue to work with primary care colleagues to raise awareness through primary care practice 

development sessions which have been held throughout 2017/2018. Topics included;  

 Consent/Capacity/Confidentiality 

 Prevent/Stay Safe  

 Coroner’s update 

 Domestic Abuse Support Services 

 Sexual Assault Referral Centre 

 Modern Day Slavery/Human Trafficking 

 Adult Reviews and Lessons Learned 

In addition the CCG safeguarding team have received training around Safeguarding Adults process and 

research methodologies and processes.  

The CCG Safeguarding team continue to monitor commissioned providers compliance in relation to the 

Prevent agenda. 

The Designated Nurse acts via a Memorandum of Understanding as a conduit between the North East 

Ambulance Service and the Local Safeguarding Adults Board. 

A challenge for 2018/19 is to continue ensure the requirements of the “competencies for health staff” 

guidance is fully implemented across the health sector following publication. 

 

 P
age 45



 

28 
 

Durham Constabulary          
      

Durham Constabulary is a Service that continues to deliver excellent Policing to the 

Communities of Durham and Darlington. The Force has been praised for the way it inspires 

confidence in Victims and communities by protecting neighbourhoods, tackling criminals and 

solving problems. 

Durham Constabulary have a designated Detective Superintendent heading the Safeguarding department. 

There has been growth in the last 12 months and the Department now has two dedicated Detective Chief 

Inspectors allowing for additional cover to both manage active investigations and also the Strategic 

direction of the Organisation. 

Staff from Durham Constabulary understand that Safeguarding is ‘Everybody’s business’ and to support this 

all members of staff receive regular structured and ad-hoc inputs as part of continuous development to 

ensure we deliver an excellent service to the Public. 

Detectives that have a dedicated role in the Safeguarding Department are ‘Omni-competent’ in all types of 

investigations requiring specialist knowledge. 

Durham Constabulary has been praised in the way that it ‘Problem Solves’ issues and there is a true 

understanding with staff around the need to work with partners with prevention being a key focus. 

In conjunction with PCVC Office we continue to carry out Victim surveys to understand ways to improve our 

response to victims. 

 Our victim-focussed investigations continue to gain praise. We listen to victims, identify their vulnerabilities 

early and supported them through the process. 

 Good practice and highlighted by HMIC as excellent, is the victim and ASB 7 day ring-backs we conduct 

with service users, enabling us to identify good practice or areas for improvement and implement 

change at an early stage. 

P
age 46



 

29 
 

 Our response to vulnerable adult missing from homes that ensures we identify early vulnerability and 

identify support agencies to reduce likelihood of going missing in the future (Herbert Protocol / ERASE) 

 Our management of Modern Day Slavery / Human Trafficking investigations has received praise 

following a recent Audit from the lead Force 

 

Our challenges for 2018 – 2019 include, managing increasing demands in times of austerity and the ever 

changing face of Policing, especially around the Digital enabler element. 

 

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Trust      

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust provides a range of community and in patient specialist 

Mental Health and Learning Disability services across a large geographical area.  

 

Our vision is to be a recognised centre of excellence with high quality staff providing high quality services 

that exceed expectations. Providing excellent services working with the individual users of our services and 

their carers to promote recovery and wellbeing.  

The Trust attends and is an active participant in the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board and associated 

sub groups. 

Trust safeguarding activity is monitored internally by the Safeguarding and Public Protection Sub group of the 

Quality Assurance Committee which reports to the Trust Board. 

The Trust is also monitored by the Clinical Commissioning Groups via the Clinical Quality Review Group 

meetings in relation to safeguarding.  

At the end of 2017/18 compliance rates of Trust staff meeting the mandatory training requirements for 

Safeguarding Adults Level 1 training was 93% and Level 2 training compliance was 93%. 

P
age 47



 

30 
 

The safeguarding Level 1 mandatory training programme has been revised and now incorporates 

safeguarding adults and safeguarding children training.  Also Level 2 refresher training programme has been 

developed. 

Mental Capacity Act Training is mandatory for Trust staff.  To further improve adherence to the legislation and 

monitor compliance, the use of Mental Capacity Champions across the Trust who have been trained at a 

higher level on MCA/DoLS, and they will attend regular MCA forums.  

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) questionnaires are offered to all patients willing to feedback their 

experience of safeguarding adult procedures.   The results from 2017/18 MSP survey work demonstrated that 

patients felt informed and involved, and that safeguarding support and outcomes were appropriate. 

The Trust Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference Advisors have produced a Domestic Abuse training 

programme which is available for Trust staff through the education and training portfolio 

The Trust supports campaigns and events throughout the year and actively promotes safeguarding adults 

alongside the Local Authority 

It is expected that NHS England will publish the SGA intercollegiate guidelines in early summer it is unknown 

what impact this will have on the current Trust resources.  

Further embed Specialist safeguarding supervision into the Trusts clinical supervision compliance monitoring 

system. 

Further embed ‘Think Family’ into all aspects of safeguarding work including training, support and advice 

and when working with vulnerable adults. 

Participate alongside partner agencies in implementing national initiatives to identify and report and 

manage Modern Day Slavery cases 

 

 

P
age 48



 

31 
 

 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 
 

As a fire and rescue service (FRS) we have a statutory responsibility to proactively reduce risk in the 

community and provide an emergency response service.  To ensure we are effective in making people safer, 

we use a range of information to identify residents who may be vulnerable or at greater risk and target our 

resources to support them.  We also work with businesses, providing support, advice and enforcement if 

necessary to ensure they comply with their duty under the Fire Safety Order.  This work can result in our crews 

interacting with people who have social care and safeguarding needs and helps to deliver against our vision 

to have the ‘‘safest people, safest places” wherever people live, work or visit within County Durham and 

Darlington. 

SAB Priority – Care Act/Legislation Compliance, Awareness, Prevention and Partner Engagement  

Delivering against our duty under safeguarding is included in the Service’s community safety strategy and 

this has been supported by a review of our policy and procedure to ensure they comply with the Care Act 

2014, the locally agreed policy and procedures and that they take cognisance of the Mental Capacity Act 

2005.  A key achievement this year has been to refresh and upgrade safeguarding training to all our staff.  

Our staff have completed training in ‘making every contact count’ and Level 1 ‘alerter’ training to ensure 

they can identify and refer those that may need help and support; this is predominantly delivered through 

our targeted Safe and Wellbeing visits.  Our central community safety team have been trained to Level 2 

‘managing the alerter’ to ensure appropriate action is taken when a safeguarding report is received from 

our staff; they have also attended Mental Capacity training sessions organised by the SAB business unit. 

SAB Priority – Learning Lessons and Improvement 

Due to increased knowledge and awareness, the FRS have referred a case to a Safeguarding Adults Review 

(SAR) panel, which has been taken forward under a learning lessons review, we have also supported 

information gathering for other referred cases. 

 

 

P
age 49



 

32 
 

 

SAB Priority – Partner Engagement 

During the delivery of our visits to businesses, to undertake fire safety audits, we identified two potential cases 

of modern slavery at separate premises.  The Fire Service referred to the Police, and it resulted in follow up 

joint inspection visits, which led to appropriate action being taken in both cases. 

We would like to build on our current practises by: 

 Introduce a quality assurance process to confirm staff understanding of safeguarding and referral 

procedures; 

 Organising further training with the Police and DCC to increase knowledge and practices in relation to 

modern slavery and human trafficking; 

 Raise awareness of safeguarding within our communities through interaction at fire station open days.  

  

P
age 50



 

33 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5 

 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
4 September 2018 
 
Durham Local Safeguarding Children 
Board Annual Report 2017/18, and 
Young People’s Annual Report 2017/18 
 

 

 

Report of Michael Banks, Independent Chair, Durham Local 
Safeguarding Children Board 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1.  The purpose of this report is to present the Health and Wellbeing Board with the 
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18 
(Appendix 2) and Young People’s Annual Report 2017/18 (Appendix 3) for 
information. 

 
Background 
 

2. Durham LSCB is a statutory body established under the Children Act 2004. It is 
independently chaired and consists of senior representatives of all the principle 
stakeholders working together to safeguard children and young people in County 
Durham. 
  

3. The LSCB’s primary responsibility is to provide a way for local organisations that 
have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how they will work 
together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in County Durham and 
to ensure that they do so effectively. 
 

4. Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015 requires each Local Safeguarding 
Children Board to produce and publish an Annual Report evaluating the 
effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area. 

 
5. Throughout April and May 2018 both draft versions of the Annual Report have 

been circulated to the LSCB Board; partner agencies and stakeholders and 
Corporate Management Team for consultation and comment.  The feedback 
received has been incorporated into the final document. 
 

Durham LSCB Annual Report and Young People’s Annual Report 
 

6. The Durham LSCB Annual Report 2017/18 sets out the work of the LSCB to 
ensure effective arrangements are in place to safeguard and protect vulnerable 
children and young people from abuse and neglect.  
 

7. The report describes the work undertaken against the 2017/18 priorities and sets 
out the future priorities for 2018/19.  It describes the local governance 
arrangements and structure of Durham LSCB and provides a summary of the 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



Page 2 of 5 

use of restraint in secure centres, Serious Case Reviews, and the LSCB multi-
agency training provision. 

 
8. The report also provides and overview of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 

in respect of the forthcoming changes to new Safeguarding Arrangements that 
will be developed in 2018.   

 
9. The Young People’s Annual Report refreshes the work previously done with 

Durham Constabulary’s Police Cadets (spanning key stages 3-5) and various 
secondary schools identified by the Education Development Service. Written in 
clear language, it provides general safeguarding information from a young 
person’s perspective. 

 
Achievements and Progress Highlights 
 

10. Below are some examples of achievements and progress made by the LSCB in 
2017/18: 

 Revised the Children’s Services Referral Form improving the quality of 
information submitted to First Contact. 

 New learning materials for Serious Case Reviews to support mangers with 
wider dissemination of learning, contributing to improved professional 
development and understanding of local safeguarding themes. 

 Engaged with dental practices and Dental Network Group to improved 
multi-agency work to reduce the effect of Neglect and its hidden harms. 

 Published our second Annual Report for Young People that provides 
general safeguarding information from a young person’s perspective. 

 Launched a series of Safeguarding Factsheets covering subjects such as 
Child Sexual Exploitation, Alcohol Licensing, Multi-Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements and Hackney Carriage and Private Hire (Taxis). 

 Delivered a range of events for Safeguarding Week 2017 that were 
attended by over 860 staff from partner agencies raising the profile of 
safeguarding and promoting the key message of ‘Safeguarding is 
Everyone Responsibility’.   

 Introduced a new web-based multi-agency auditing programme, providing 
inspection ready audits and processes whilst reducing demands on 
partner agencies administration during audit participation. 

 Supported a considerable programme of specialist training improving 
practitioners understanding, interventions and assessment skills.   

 
LSCB Priorities 2018-19 
 

11. Durham LSCB has agreed the following priorities for 2018-19: 

 Child Sexual Exploitation 

 Neglect 

 Empowering Young People  

 Working Together 

Page 54



Page 3 of 5 

 

Sign off and Publication 

 
12. The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 and 

Young People’s Annual Report 2017/18 was agreed by the LSCB on 4 June 
2018.  
 

13. The Annual Reports are available to download from the LSCB website - 
www.durham-lscb.org.uk and will be disseminated through partners 
organisational governance structures throughout Summer and Autumn 2018.  

 
Recommendations 
 

14. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 
 

 Note the content of the report  

 Accept the LSCB Annual Reports for information as an overview of the 
work undertaken in 2017/18 and priorities for action in 2018/19. 
 

Contact:  Jacqui Doherty, LSCB Business Manager, Tel 03000 263989  

 

Page 55

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Page 4 of 5 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance 
Yearly financial contributions to Durham LSCB are received from partner agencies 
and are detailed in the LSCB Annual Report.   
 
Staffing 
The priorities identified in the LSCB Annual Report will be delivered using existing 
resources.  Durham County Council will contribute to the delivery of the priorities in 
partnership with other responsible authorities.   
 
Risk  
No adverse implications. 
 
Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty 
The LSCB Annual Report identifies the actions to safeguard the needs of vulnerable 
children and young people. 
 
Accommodation 
No adverse implications.   
 
Crime and disorder 
The LSCB Annual Report reflects priorities and action that impact positively on crime 
and disorder in County Durham.  The report shows effective partnership working with 
the Safe Durham Partnership. 
 
Human rights 
No adverse implications. 
 
Consultation 
Consultation with partner agencies and stakeholders will be undertaken as part of 
the development of the LSCB Annual Report. 
 
Procurement  
No adverse implications. 
 
Disability Issues 
No adverse implications.   
 
Legal Implications  
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is a statutory body established 
under the Children Act 2004. Working Together to Safeguard Children (Statutory 
Guidance) requires each Local Safeguarding Children Board to produce and publish 
an Annual Report evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area.  
 
 
 

Page 56



Page 5 of 5 

 

Appendix 2 – Durham LSCB Annual Report 2017/18 

 
Attached as a separate file 
 
 

Appendix 3 – Durham LSCB Young People’s Annual Report 2017/18 

 
Attached as a separate file 
 
 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report        
2017 / 2018 

Safeguarding Children  

in County Durham  
  

P
age 59



 

2 
 

Contents 

1. Foreword by Independent Chair .......................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Introduction ......................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Local Data ........................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

4. Governance and Structure .................................................................................................................................................. 7 

5. Achievements against 2016/17 Priorities .......................................................................................................................... 10 

6. Performance Monitoring and Quality Assurance ............................................................................................................... 17 

7. Training and Communication ............................................................................................................................................ 23 

8. Future Priorities ................................................................................................................................................................. 25 

Appendix 1 – LSCB Membership .......................................................................................................................................... 26 

Appendix 2 – LSCB Staffing and Budget ............................................................................................................................... 28 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

P
age 60



 

3 
 

1. Foreword by Independent Chair 
Welcome to the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 

Annual Report for 2017/18. This is my last report as the LSCB 

Independent Chair and I would like to thank all those involved in the 

progress the LSCB has made over my three year tenure.  I would 

also like to welcome Michael Banks the new Transitional Chair who 

will take the LSCB through the new Safeguarding Arrangements in 

the Children and Social Work Act 2017.  You can read more about 

that on Page 8.     

This annual report provides local people with an account of the 

LSCB’s work over the past year to improve the safeguarding and 

wellbeing of children and young people across County Durham.   

The report reflects the activity of the LSCB and its sub groups 

against the agreed priorities for 2017/18.  It also reports on the 

Serious Case Reviews undertaken and identifies the priorities and 

safeguarding work we will take forward into 2018/19. 

As always, the children and young people of County Durham are at 

the very heart of all we do and our vision of ‘Every child and young 

person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from 

harm’ continues to drive us forward.  

 

We have continued to increase the visibility and the ‘Voice of the 

Child’ and over the course of the year our focus on ‘Empowering 

Young People’ has helped us to understand more fully the 

experience of the child or young person receiving help and support.  
 

We continue to take part in the Children Commissioner’s Takeover 

Challenge; working with young people to produce our interactive 

Annual Report for Young People.  This kind of engagement and 

participation from young people has been recognised for the last 

three years by maintaining our Investing In Children status. 

 

I would like to thank and recognise the contribution of our Lay 

Members and the Children and Young People Portfolio Holder who 

bring another layer of independent scrutiny to the work of the LSCB. 

 

Lastly I would like to thank the many 

partner agencies for their hard work 

and dedication during a time of huge 

demand and whose commitment and 

motivation helps deliver our shared 

priorities.  

 

I know Durham is well placed to 

introduce the new arrangements 

through Safeguarding Partners and 

continue to protect and safeguard our 

children and young people.  I wish you 

all well.       Jane Geraghty 

Durham LSCB Independent Chair  

P
age 61

http://investinginchildren.weebly.com/


 

4 
 

2. Introduction 
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board has a statutory duty to 

prepare and publish an Annual Report which describes how our 

partners safeguard vulnerable children and young people.  

 

Our primary responsibility is to provide a way for the local agencies 

that have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how 

they will work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children and to ensure that they do so effectively.  

 

Section 3 of the report highlights some statistical information about 

County Durham and provides a local context for our work.   

 

Section 4 describes the local governance arrangements and 

structure of Durham LSCB.  It also provides information on the new 

Safeguarding Arrangements that will be introduced in 2018/19 

through the Children and Social Work Act 2017.   

 

Section 5 highlights some of the achievements and the progress 

that has been made in the last year as well as reporting on the work 

undertaken against the 2017/18 priorities.   

 

Section 6 covers our Performance Management Framework and 

describes the multi-agency audits we have undertaken.  It also 

provides an overview of Serious Case Reviews and the use of 

restraint in Aycliffe Secure Services Centre.   

 

Section 7 outlines our multi-agency training provision and describes 

the marketing and communication activity undertaken by the LSCB. 

 

 

Lastly, Section 8 identifies the priorities Durham LSCB will take 

forward into 2018/19.  

 

The Annual Report 2017/18 demonstrates the extent to which the 

functions of the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board, as set 

out in the national statutory guidance ‘Working Together to 

Safeguard Children’ (March 2015) are being effectively fulfilled. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

The information presented in this Annual Report is drawn from a wide range of 

sources from across the County Durham Partnership. These include the County 

Durham Integrated Needs Assessment; Lessons Learned from local Serious Case 

Reviews; the Child Death Review Annual Report; and a range of Durham LSCB 

strategy documents and action plans.   

 More Information: Find out more information about the    

          Integrated Needs Assessment 
 

P
age 62

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment


 

5 
 

3. Local Data 

County Durham stretches from the rural North Pennines Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty in the west to the Heritage Coastline in 

the east and is home to a range of national treasures including 

Durham Cathedral, a UNESCO World Heritage Site.    

 

 

 
 

 

Data source: Office for National Statistics (ONS) 

 

 

The county has a very diverse combination of communities ranging 

from some of the most sparsely populated rural areas in the country 

through to the larger towns and Durham City; each area with its own 

needs and aspirations. 

 

 
  

In 2016, there were an estimated 522,143 people 
living in County Durham

The County has seen a decline in the 0-15 
population since 2001. However this decline has 

seen a slight reversal between 2011 and 2016

The County has 12 major centres of population 
including Durham City, Chester-le-Street, Newton 

Aycliffe, Consett and Peterlee

Although levels of deprivation in County Durham have 
improved we are ranked the 75th most deprived area 

out of 326 local authorities in England

Child poverty in County Durham is higher than the 
England average, with 23.9% of children under 16 

years living in poverty

P
age 63

http://www.ons.gov.uk/


 

6 
 

Local Safeguarding Data 2017/18 (Provisional Data) 

498 children were subject to a Child 

Protection Plan (50 per 10,000 population 

aged 0-18).  

 

A continued reduction of the percentage of Child Protection Plans 

that lasted two years or more and has fallen to 0.9%. 

 

Children on a Child Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time, 

within two years of the previous plan is 6.2%.  

 

Neglect continues to be the most frequent reason for 

children being placed on a Child Protection Plan in 2017/18. 

 

71.6% of children who were made subject of a Child Protection 

Plan under five years old were 

made so due to neglect.  This is a 

reduction of 7% from the 

previous year. 

 

Domestic abuse continues to 

be the main parental risk factor 

leading to children becoming 

subject of a Child Protection Plan.  

Mental Health (15.9%), Neglect 

(15.5%), Parental Capacity (11.5%) 

and Substance Misuse (11.2%) are 

also significant factors.  

798 children are in the Looked After system.  

  

19 children were in Private Fostering 

arrangements during this period. 

 

49 children and young people were reported 

missing from home in County Durham more than once. 

 

177 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

referrals. This is an increase on previous 

years and reflects a heightened awareness.     

Of those targeted 80% are girls.   

Online Grooming is the most common model of CSE. 

 

6 Serious Case Reviews commenced and 2 Serious 

Case Reviews published. 7 learning lessons events for 

practitioners delivered throughout the year. 

 

20,015 unique users visited the 

LSCB website in 2017/18 with over 

115,000 page views. 

 

A total of 100 multi-agency training 

courses and events were delivered 

and attended by 4,113 staff.   

P
age 64



 

7 
 

4. Governance and Structure 

 

Local Safeguarding Children Board 

Each local area is required by Law to have a Local Safeguarding 

Children Board. The LSCB is a statutory body established in 

legislation (Children Act 2004) and works according to national 

guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015’. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board is chaired by an 

independent person and meets quarterly. The Board held two 

development sessions in 2017/18 taking the total number of 

meeting to six a year. Durham LSCB is supported by the LSCB 

Business Unit which is hosted by Durham County Council.    

 

The functions of the LSCB are: 

 

 To develop policies and procedures for safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of children in the local area  

 To communicate and raise awareness of the need to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children 

 To monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what is done 

by the local authority and their Board partners 

individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children and advise them on ways to improve 

 To participate in the planning of services for children in 

the area of the authority 

 To undertake reviews of serious cases and advising the 

local authority and their Board partners on lessons to be 

learned 

 

The governance and effectiveness arrangements form the formal 

agreement between the LSCB Board and all partner agencies.  

It outlines accountability; key purposes; functions and tasks; 

membership; and agreed standards and expectations of LSCB 

members.  

 

 

What is safeguarding?

Safeguarding is about 
keeping children and 

young people safe and 
protecting them from 

harm, while making sure 
they grow up in a safe 

environment.

What does the LSCB do?

We promote the welfare of 
children and young people, 

safeguarding them from 
harm and protecting those 

children who are at 
significant risk of harm or 

neglect.

What does it mean for me?

Agencies including the 
Councils’ Children and 

Young People’s Services, the 
Police, Schools and Colleges 
and Health Services such as 
GPs, Hospitals and Health 

Visitors are all here to help.

 More Information: Find out more information about    
         Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board 

 

Our Vision: Every child and young person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm 

P
age 65

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


 

8 
 

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 

Following the Wood Review and the Children and Social Work Bill in 

2016, new safeguarding arrangements were passed into law 

through the Children and Social Work Act 2017.  

 

Provisions within the Children and Social Work Act 2017 will replace 

Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) with new local 

safeguarding arrangements, led by three Safeguarding Partners 

and supported by relevant agencies. It also places a duty on new 

Child Death Review partners to review the deaths of children 

normally resident in the local area.  

 

In October 2017 the Department of Education (DfE) consulted on the 

draft ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018’ guidance which 

lays down in much more detail the new safeguarding arrangements.  

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board provided a full response 

to this consultation. 

 

Alongside the ‘Working Together’ 

consultation documents, the DfE 

released statutory guidance on 

transitional arrangements. 

 

This document for Local Authorities, 

Police, Health and LSCBs provides 

guidance on the arrangements that 

should operate as part of the transition 

from LSCB’s to Safeguarding Partners 

and Child Death Review Partners.   

 

Safeguarding Partners are identified as: 

 Local Authorities 

 Chief Officers of Police 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups   

 

Child Death Review Partners are identified as:  

 Local Authorities  

 Clinical Commissions Groups 

 

Safeguarding Partners will identify the relevant agencies required to 

support local safeguarding arrangements and will include agencies 

that are currently members of the LSCB. 

 

The guidance also describes the transitional arrangements which 

should be followed during the transition from the system of Serious 

Case Reviews to the new national and local review arrangements.  

 

A formal date when the relevant provisions of the Children and 

Social Work Act commence, has not been confirmed.  However, it is 

expected to be in conjunction with the launch of ‘Working Together to 

Safeguard Children 2018’.  

 

Following this Safeguarding Partners will have up to twelve months 

to agree safeguarding arrangements. These arrangements must be 

subject to independent scrutiny.  Development days are planned to 

begin June 2018 onwards to commence the process of change. 

 

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board will continue to 

carry out all of their statutory functions, until the point at which 

safeguarding partner arrangements begin to operate.  

P
age 66

https://consult.education.gov.uk/child-protection-safeguarding-and-family-law/working-together-to-safeguard-children-revisions-t/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/child-protection-safeguarding-and-family-law/working-together-to-safeguard-children-revisions-t/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/child-protection-safeguarding-and-family-law/working-together-to-safeguard-children-revisions-t/supporting_documents/Transitional.pdf


 

9 
 

Working across Partnerships 

Durham LSCB works with a wide range of themed partnerships. 

Together they form the overarching County Durham Partnership and 

work towards an ‘Altogether Better Durham’.   

 

Each of the five thematic partnerships has a specific focus: 

 The Children and Families Partnership – Works to ensure 

effective services are delivered in the most 

efficient way to improve the lives of children, 

young people and families. 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board – 

Promotes integrated working between 

commissioners of health services, 

public health and social care services, 

to improve health and wellbeing.  

 The Safe Durham Partnership – 

Tackles crime, disorder, substance 

misuse, anti-social behaviour and to 

reduce re-offending. 

 The Environment Partnership – 

Improves, transforms and sustains the 

environment to support the economy and 

the wellbeing of local communities. 

 The Economic Partnership – Works to make County 

Durham an area where people want to live, work, invest and 

visit; whilst enabling residents and businesses to achieve their 

full economic potential. 

 

Durham LSCB will continue to engage and challenge these 

partnerships where appropriate to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children in County Durham. 

We have strengthened our joint working with a range of partnerships 

on shared or similar priorities.  Examples include: 

Working with the Safe Durham Partnership in 

respect of domestic abuse, alcohol misuse, 

substance misuse and counter terrorism 

(PREVENT duty). Aligning and improving work 

within sexual violence, sexual exploitation and 

female genital mutilation. 

  

Joint working with the Children and Families 

Partnership to increase the voice of the child 

through work that includes the student voice 

survey and the Children’s Commissioner’s 

Takeover Challenge. 

 

Greater integration of the mental health and 

wellbeing agenda with the Health and Wellbeing 

Board and the development of a range of support 

aimed to reduce self-harm and suicide.  

 More Information: Find out more information about    
         County Durham Partnership 

 

P
age 67

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/


 

10 
 

5. Achievements against 2017/18 Priorities 

Published our Annual Report for Young People. 

Impact: This puts young people at the heart of the 

development and production of an annual report providing 

interactive safeguarding information from a young person’s 

perspective. 

Revised Children’s Services Referral Form re-aligning 

the order of information and reducing the amount of 

paperwork required. Impact: The new referral form has 

improved the quality of information submitted to First 

Contact and our response to Neglect. Enabling families to 

get the right help at the right time and at the earliest opportunity. 

New learning materials for Serious Case Reviews to 

support mangers with wider dissemination of learning.      

Impact: Materials contribute to improving supervision, 

training and team meetings. Giving staff more opportunities 

to reflect and improve their practice. This means children 

and young people will be better supported and safeguarded. 

Engaged with dental practices and Dental Network 

Group. Impact: Improved multi-agency work to reduce the 

effect of dental Neglect. This means children and young 

people are better protected from hidden harms may be 

referred for support at an earlier stage. 

Online Child Protection Procedures          

Impact: Providing an up-to-date web based solution 

for practitioners that is fully searchable and accessible 24 hours 

a day from a wide range of devices. 

Launched a series of Safeguarding Factsheets covering 

subjects such as Child Sexual Exploitation, Alcohol 

Licensing, and Taxis Drivers. Impact: Plain english 

factsheets, providing specific information. This improves 

protective factors (eyes and ears in the community), and 

means children and young people are protected in local areas. 

Introduced a web-based multi-agency auditing 

programme. Impact: Providing inspection ready audits and 

processes whilst reducing demands on partner agencies 

administration during audit participation. This means 

families can be assured of the ongoing quality checks of the 

services they receive. 

Reviewed and introduced new Neglect training, Toxic 

Quad training and Neglect e-learning. Impact: This new 

training supports practitioners, improving their learning, 

understanding and assessment skills. This means children 

and young people will be better supported and safeguarded 

against Neglect. 

Specialist Briefings – Exploitation and Radicalisation / 

Psychology and Behaviour of Sex Offenders / Working with 

Partners & Families / Risk, Harm and Decision Making 

Impact: These specialist briefing sessions have enabled 

staff to receive information and guidance that can be 

incorporated into their working practices and protect children. 

Safeguarding Week 2017 – Impact: These events 

were attended by over 860 staff with a Facebook reach 

of over 30,000 views; raising the profile of safeguarding and 

promoting ‘Safeguarding is Everyone Responsibility’.   

P
age 68



 

11 
 

Professional Challenge 

Professional challenge and critical reflection within safeguarding is a 

professional responsibility.  It is a sign of good professional 

practice, a healthy organisation and effective multi-agency working. 

 

Challenging decisions, practice or actions when concerns arise may 

alter the professional response when ensuring the safety or well-

being of a child or young person or their family.  

 

The LSCB risk register 

and challenge log is a 

well-established tool that 

is used to ensure partners 

provide mitigating actions 

to reduce identified risks 

and acts on challenges 

made to agencies.      

This is reviewed at each 

LSCB Board meeting. 

 

Examples of Professional Challenge  

The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) challenges agencies if 

agreed actions are not progressed within timescales and escalation 

processes are in place. For example, following a thematic review the 

CDOP have challenged Sustainability and Transformation Plans 

(STP) and Clinical Network in relation to the findings for maternity 

services. 
 

Similarly, the Board monitors actions for learning following a Serious 

Case Review to ensure actions are progressed and implemented. 

The LSCB have introduced challenge clinics to hold organisations 

to account following Section 11 audits and multi-agency audits.        

This has encouraged single agencies (such as GPs) to be more 

challenging of the evidence presented in audits, to dig deeper and in 

turn become more confident and robust in their audit compliance. 

 

The LSCB challenge alcohol licence applications under the Licensing 

Act 2003 on their actions to protect children and young people and 

instigate a licensing review for failure to uphold licensing objectives. 

 

A continued challenge from the Independent Chair is to improve the 

voice of the child. This has resulted in the Empowering Young 

People sub group and collaborative work with children’s groups, 

schools, youth centres, the police youth cadets, Investors in Children 

and local Area Action Partnerships (AAP’s). 

 

Professional challenge also takes place at a senior level through a 

Chief Officers Safeguarding Group which includes the LSCB 

Independent Chair, Durham County Council, local Clinical 

Commissioning Groups, Probation organisations, local NHS 

Foundation Trusts and Durham Constabulary. This forum allows the 

opportunity to challenge and share information on safeguarding 

issues including: 

 Learning and recurring themes from Serious Case Reviews 

and Child Death Reviews 

 Quality, impact and development of frontline practice 

 Outcomes of multi-agency audits and action plans 

 Emerging safeguarding concerns or trends 

 Development of new Safeguarding Arrangements  

  

P
age 69



 

12 
 

Progress on LSCB priorities 2017/18 

 

LSCB Priorities 2017/18 

In setting the priorities for 2017/18 the LSCB Board reviewed the 

progress on previous priorities and considered key themes and 

emerging challenges from Serious Case Reviews.  As a result 

Child Sexual Exploitation was retained; Early Help and Neglect was 

refocused to concentrate fully on tackling Neglect. Two new priorities 

were established; Empowering Young People and Working 

Together.  

 

Click on the tabs below to take you to each priority section in the 

report. 

 

Priority 1 – Reducing Child Sexual Exploitation  

 
Multi-agency work is coordinated through the LSCB Missing and 

Exploited Group (MEG). Its remit is to monitor partner activity and 

improve the services and responses to reported missing and absent 

children and the multi-agency response to Child Sexual Exploitation. 

 

Over the past year partner agencies have continued to prove their 

multi-agency and single agency commitment to this work. 

Mainstream funding for ERASE Support Workers and PCSOs have 

been secured. All work is intelligence lead and is coordinated 

through the Durham LSCB Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy across 

the following three strands: 

 Preventing CSE from happening 

 Protecting those who may be at risk 

 Pursing those who may be offending against children 

Reducing Child 

Sexual 

Exploitation 

Working 

Together

Tackling 

Neglect

Empowering 

Young 

People

What is Child Sexual Exploitation?

• Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a form of child 
abuse

• It can happen to anyone who is persuaded, bullied or 
forced into having sex or sexual activity such as 
taking and sharing naked photos of themselves

• This can be in return for things like alcohol, money, 
drugs or other gifts

• It can happen online and face to face

• It ruins lives and has serious long-term effects on 
young people and their families

P
age 70

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/missing-and-exploited-children


 

13 
 

We have widened our Exploitation and Grooming training to 

agencies not traditionally associated with safeguarding but who 

come into regular contact with vulnerable children.  This include 

some innovative work with Arriva Bus Services and Go North East. 

In addition we have also engaged with a number of regional sports 

academies such a Durham Football Association and Durham County 

Cricket Club. 

  

We have seen the introduction of 

Operation Artemis which focuses on 

tackling and disrupting offenders and 

dangerous perpetrators. This 

complements the work of Operation Makesafe targeting hotspot 

locations and awareness raising work protecting young people. 

 

 
 

In 2018 we will increase our focus on boys and young men at 

risk of CSE.  We also recognise that parents want more information 

to protect their children and we will develop actions to support this. 

 

We will introduce CSE champions in schools and further 

education settings to enhance the safeguarding role already in 

place and we will continue to focus our work on missing from 

education; permanent exclusions; and home educated children.  

 

Learning Point  

Listen to our ERASE Support Workers talk about the risk factors of 

Child Sexual Exploitation.  

Some of the work we are doing to tackle CSE

• Support the ERASE brand - website, media campaign 
Erase support workers, education materials

• Increased intelligence around Missing From 
Education / Permanent Exclusions / Home Educated

• Refreshed the CSE risk assessment tool and child 
protection procedures helping to protect and support 
victims while disrupting offenders

• Embedded CSE training in partner agencies for 
example - training now mandatory for school nurses

• Aligning CSE audits to the new Joint Targeted Area 
Inspections (JTAI)  

The LSCB has supported the police funded 
Child Advocacy Centre pilot aimed at 

children who are victims of sexual abuse 
and is intended to improve the victim’s 

journey from report to court and beyond. In 
addition a new ‘team around the child’ to 

provide a seamless therapeutic service.  

 More Information: Find out more information about         
        Missing and Exploited Children 

 

P
age 71

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/missing-and-exploited-children/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xLlJlmCgRlc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dfvFzOGwESM


 

14 
 

Priority 2 – Working Together  

 
To support the aims of Working Together, the group devised and 

delivered a Practitioner Survey within the LSCB annual programme 

of auditing for 2017/18.   

 

This gathered the voice and experience of practitioners across a 

range of multi-agency work with over 800 responses received in a 

two month period. The responses identified a number of areas where 

actions was required. 

 

Thresholds 

It was identified that more 

training was required to 

improve partner 

agencies understanding 

of the Thresholds 

Document and to 

formalise the terminology.  

The 0-19 Level of Need was renamed to the Threshold Document to 

take away any ambiguity while briefings sessions, newsletter items, 

and web updates covering the subject have also been delivered. 

 

Safeguarding Referrals 

It was highlighted that practitioners were unhappy with the format of 

the referral documentation. In response the Neglect Group has 

extensively revised the Children’s Services Referral Form during 

2017/18. (More information about this can be found on Page 16).  

 

Learning Point 

The Working Together group have 

also been working to implement 

learning from Serious Case Reviews.   

This two minute video asks you to       

re-think ‘did not attend’ notifications. 
(Shared with permissions of Nottinghamshire LSCB)  

What is Working Together?

• The aim is to achieve excellent partnership working 
across all areas of LSCB business

• Drilling down into problems and finding solutions that 
work for every agency

• Changing agency culture to improve multi-agency 
practice following learning from Serious Case Reviews

Some of the work to support Working Together

• Thresholds: Strengthen agreed shared thresholds across 
the partnership

• Focused Intervention: Assurance that children receiving 
support as a child in need, receive focused intervention in a 
time appropriate to the child

• Removing Barriers: Understanding the blockages, 
implementing lessons learnt and improving outcomes

• Improve Information Sharing: Understanding the barriers 
to local information sharing and mitigating issues

P
age 72

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/early-help-and-neglect/toolkits-and-guidance-for-practitioners-single-assessments-and-early-help
https://vimeo.com/196256529
https://vimeo.com/196256529


 

15 
 

Priority 3 – Reducing Neglect   

 
In 2017/18 the priority of Early Help and Neglect was refocused to 

concentrate fully on tackling Neglect. As a result the sub group 

launched the Tackling Neglect Strategy in April 2017. This was 

followed with a tackling neglect delivery plan with assigned lead 

officers identified for all priority actions. 

 

The Tackling Neglect Strategy is aligned to four strategic objectives: 

 Understand Neglect – To understand the local picture of 

neglect and the thresholds for intervention. 

 Early Identification – To improve the recognition and 

assessment of neglect for children to ensure the most 

appropriate response is given.  

 Effective Provision – To offer effective, evidence based 

interventions that reduce neglect before statutory intervention 

is required and to act decisively where these do not result in 

change for the child. 

 Family Focus – To use the experience of our families and the 

voice of the child in the development and delivery of services. 

 

 

 

What is Neglect?

• Child neglect is a failure to look after a child and could 
result in poor health or development

• Children (including unborn babies), need food, water, 
shelter, warmth, protection and health care to grow 
and develop

• Children need their parents or carers to love and care 
for them

• Neglect can also include physical abuse, emotional 
abuse and sexual abuse

Some of the work to tackle Neglect

• Considered new tools to support practitioners such as  
Signs of Safety which will be implemented in 2018  

• Multi-agency working to tackle dental decay including new 
links to dental practices and the Dental Network

• Embedding multi-agency audits to monitor and review 
practice and also prepare staff to be inspection ready

• Delivered a Tackling Neglect Conference to over 160 
practitsioners

• Reviewed and introduced new multi-agency neglect 
training, toxic quad training and e-learning training 

 
Neglect is the            

greatest single cause of 
children needing 

protection and care       
in County Durham 

P
age 73

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/early-help-and-neglect


 

16 
 

Children’s Services Referral Form 

The Neglect Group have overseen the introduction of a new referral 

form. Over time the old 

form had become part of a 

bigger single assessment 

and was unwieldly. The 

opportunity was taken to 

consult widely with a full 

range of partner agencies. 

As a result the new referral 

form has been re-aligned 

to follow the order of 

information needed and key documents such as the Threshold 

Document are now embedded into the referral form.   

 

It has improved the quality of information submitted and will, in 

the future, have the facility to be completed on-line. During the 

relaunch the Neglect Group identified the main services to target in 

addition to the planned general awareness through LSCB website 

and briefing sessions. A marketing evaluation noted the very smooth 

transition – minimum fuss, maximum impact. 

 

Learning Point 

Neglect Video: Michelle's Story  

This is the story of Michelle and 

her experience of neglect as she 

was growing up. Click the picture 

to watch the video. 

 

Where the right support and intervention is provided to a child or 

young person it can have a dramatic effect on them and their life 

opportunities.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Durham LSCB recognise that although good progress has been 

delivered by services to tackle neglect we need to continue this 

focus to support children and young people who suffer the 

consequences of growing up in neglectful circumstances.  

 

 

  

Thank you for everything 
you have done for me, you 
have helped me so much. 
Yes I know it's your job but 
you have changed my life. 
 

You have watch me grow 
from a little girl into a stroppy 
teenager, I like myself a lot 
more now. I still write in my 
diary how my day has been.  
 

We have had many ups and 
downs where I may have 
disagreed with you but in the 
end I know it's because you 
wanted what was best for 
me.  
 

I will never forget you. 

Dear Everyone, I just want to say 
a huge thank you for helping our 
Mam and Dad get us home and I 
know I am going to be happy 
now. I am looking forward to 
spending time with Mam and 
Dad and coming to visit you too. 
 

Thank you to my Nannie and 
Grandad for looking after us for 
the last few months. 

(Read out at a Family Group Conference). 

 More Information: Find out more information about  
        Neglect 

P
age 74

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0X8gsyk0Dv8
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/early-help-and-neglect/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0X8gsyk0Dv8


 

17 
 

Priority 4 – Empowering Young People    

 

As part of the Children 

Commissioner’s Takeover 

Challenge we have again worked 

with young people to develop our 

Annual Report for Young People. 

It provides safeguarding information 

from a young person’s perspective.  

We have directly engaged 

with a range of young 

people to provide the content, 

while groups within schools 

and the police cadets have 

acted as an editor’s group.  

Our work with children and young people continues to be recognised 

by ‘Investing In Children’ as good practice.   

To increase young people’s 

awareness of safeguarding 

issues we have developed 

and piloted an innovative 

interactive education 

package that can be used in 

a wide variety of setting such 

as schools PHSE sessions, 

colleges and youth centres. 

The Safeguarding 

Education Toolkit will be 

rolled out in the academic year 2018/19.  

We continue to increase the visibility and voice of the child and 

this year we have focused on improving the influence of children in 

the Child Protection processes.  We have worked with the Youth 

Advocacy Service (NYAS) and the IRO service in developing new 

approaches to engaging young people in the conference process.  

In 2018/19 we will focus work on cyberbullying and online abuse 

in response to continued concerns raised in the annual Student 

Voice survey undertaken by 

Durham County Council. 

 

 Learning Point 

Listen to Amy-Louise shares her 

story about being bullied online.   

What is Empowering Young People?

• To increase the voice of the child to make sure 
that services take young people's views and 
opinions into account when they plan services

• Providing education, resilience and 'up-skilling'
opportunities for young people in safeguarding 
and risk awareness

• Staff working with children and young people want 
to know what they think and how things can be 
made better for them

P
age 75

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IvELtgxcXsw
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IvELtgxcXsw


 

18 
 

6. Performance Monitoring and Quality Assurance 

Durham LSCB continually monitors the quality, timeliness and 

effectiveness of multi-agency practice through the Performance 

Management Framework.   

Where gaps are identified, implications for the LSCB are considered 

and any agreed actions are monitored through the LSCB risk 

register and challenge log.  

The LSCB sub groups (align to priorities) have an agreed action plan 

and performance scorecard.  Performance and progress is reported 

at the sub group level and collated through the Quality and 

Performance Group up to the LSCB Board to monitored and 

challenge.  

 

 

 

 

 

Serious Case Reviews are published on the Durham LSCB website 

for a period of 12 months. There are currently two published 

Serious Case Reviews.  

Outcomes and findings feed into our performance structures to 

promote a culture of continuous learning and improvement across 

the partner agencies of the LSCB. 

The Child Death Overview Panel for Durham and Darlington share 

their key learning from child deaths. They monitor and challenge 

agencies for the completion of recommended identified actions and 

publish a separate annual report. Find out more information about 

Child Death Reviews.  

Ongoing Quality Assurance

• Monitor partner compliance with the statutory 
requirement to have effective safeguarding 
arrangements in place (Section 11)

• Carry out multi-agency audits and identify lessons to 
be learned and make recommendations for future 
improvement and feeding into LSCB training

• Multi-agency audit reports to inform the LSCB Board of 
the quality of work being undertaken and its impact on 
outcomes for individual children and young people

• Overview of multi-audits to monitor and review practice

• The use of a series of performance scorecards 

We host learning events where key messages and the lessons 

learned from the published Serious Case Reviews undertaken 

are shared with practitioners and agencies.  
(Neglect Conference March 2018) 

P
age 76

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/serious-case-reviewchild-death-reviews/


 

19 
 

Multi-agency Audits 

Last year the LSCB introduced a web-based auditing system.      

This has dramatically reduced demands on partner’s administration 

function during audit participation while at the same time sustaining 

the quality of responses.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Section 11 audit conducted in 2016/17 included responses from 

GPs for the first time.  Agencies identified a total of 31 separate 

actions compiled into a Section 11 action plan and is monitored 

through the Quality and Performance Group.   
 

To free up resources to support the JTAI audits the LSCB Board 

agreed to conduct Section 11 audits on a two yearly cycle with the 

next Section 11 audit to be planned in 2018/19. 

 

Joint Targeted Area Inspections  

Responding to the introduction of Joint Targeted Area Inspections 

(JTAI) the LSCB Board have agree to align their audit programme 

to reflect the planned themes audits of the JTAI. Not only does this 

still allow us to monitor and review practice it also enables agencies 

to prepare staff to be inspection ready.   
 

Multi-Agency Joint Audit Process 

We have develop a joint audit process and are part of the JTAI 

Steering Group. 

 

  

Other multi-agency audits undertaken in 2017/18

• Child Sexual Exploitation Cases

• Toxic Quartet (Domestic Abuse, Substance Misuse, Mental 
Health, Parental learning capacity)

• Home Environment Assessment Tool

• Practitioner Survey

• Implementation of Early Help
 More Information: Find out more information about    
         Performance Management and S11 Audit 

 

A Section 11 Audit is Durham LSCB’s primary audit to examine 

the safeguarding arrangements within agencies and provides the 

Board with assurance that agencies are doing what they can to 

ensure the safety and welfare of children and young people. 

P
age 77

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/multi-agency-safeguarding-arrangements/performance-management/


 

20 
 

The Use of Restraint in Secure Settings 

In conjunction with Durham County Council, Durham LSCB monitors 

the use of restraint at Aycliffe Secure Services Centre. Many of the 

young people are placed there by Local Authorities and Courts 

outside of the Durham area. Since 2011 and in line with ‘Working 

Together’ guidance we have reported on the use of restraint. 

 

 

 

 

Aycliffe Secure Services Centre houses a changing population of 

young people (aged 11-17) with complex and challenging 

behaviours. The Young People have been referred through the 

courts because they are a risk to themselves or others, or because 

there is a concern about their involvement with criminal activities. 

A robust Restraint Minimisation Strategy has seen the 

implementation of a range of alternative approaches to minimise the 

use and impact of restraint. As a result the majority of injuries are 

graded at Level 1.  
 

There were a total of 531 incidents which required restraint during 

2017/18. This is a reduction of 198 incidents compared to last year. 

There were 108 injuries as a result of a restraint incident in 

2017/18. This is an increase of 33 injuries compared to the 

previous year. This is a ratio of 1 injury to every 5 restraints.   
 

Analysis shows an increased level of restraint and associated injury 

occurred in December and January. This was due to a high level of 

change in the makeup of the young people accommodated during 

that time and the opening of an additional unit. 

This created an unpredictability within peer 

groups with 36% of all injuries occurring in 

this period. From February 2018 the rate of 

intervention and injury has reduced to below 

the monthly average for the year. 
 

94% of injuries were graded at Level 1, with 

the remaining 6% at Level 2.  
 

There were no Level 3 restraint related injuries.   
 

Throughout 2017/18 a Senior Manager from the Secure Centre has 

provided a quarterly restraint report to the LSCB's Quality and 

Performance sub group and plans for further scrutiny of 

individual incidents are in place for 2018/19. 

 

  

Injuries as result of restraint are graded using a set criteria

• Level 1 – Minor Injury - such as red marks on the skin, 
welts, superficial cuts and scratches, bruises which do not 
require medical treatment, including first aid

• Level 2 – Minor Injury - such as significant cuts, 
scratches, grazes, bloody noses, concussion, serious 
bruising and sprains where medical treatment is given by 
staff/nurse 

• Level 3 – Serious Injury requiring hospital treatment -
includes serious cuts, fractures, loss of consciousness and 
damage to internal organs

 More Information: Find out more information about  
        Aycliffe Secure Services Centre 

 

County Durham is amongst a small number of Local Authorities 

who have secure services within its boundaries.  

 

P
age 78

http://www.durham.gov.uk/aycliffesecurecentre


 

21 
 

Serious Case Reviews 

Durham LSCB have instigated six Serious Case Reviews in 2017/18 

and published two Serious Case Reviews Overview Reports.        

We have delivered seven Learning Lessons events for practitioners; 

with two other specific information sharing events covering Multi-

Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA). 

 
Learning Lessons events provide 

time for professional and critical 

reflection of key messages of 

published Serious Case Reviews.  

This year we have developed new 

learning materials covering 

published Serious Case Reviews 

that allow managers and staff to 

deliver wider agency sharing of the learning within supervisions, 

team briefings and staff meetings. 

The LSCB continue to implement the recommendations from Serious 

Case Reviews. Action plans are monitored by the LSCB Business 

Unit and reviewed by the LSCB Board through the six-monthly 

update report. 

 

We will continue to host a range of themed learning conferences 

following Serious Case Reviews publication to contribute to the 

professional development of staff and improve their understanding of 

local safeguarding concerns and themes. 

 

The transitional arrangements that will occur in 2018/19 from the 

system of Serious Case Reviews to the new national and local 

review arrangements are described on Page 8 of this document. 

 

 

  

Recurrent themes of published SCRs

• Concealed or Denied Pregnancy

• Parental Substance Misuse

• Recognising and responding to Neglect and understanding 
its impact on Children and Young People

• The effectiveness of multi-agency Team Around the Family 
(TAF) arrangements and assessments 

• Recognising ‘Did not attend’ notifications as 'Was Not 
Brought to Appointments' issues 

• Blockages in Communication and Information Sharing

 More Information: Find out more information about 
        Serious Case Reviews 

 

P
age 79

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/serious-case-reviewchild-death-reviews/


 

22 
 

Policy and Procedures 

The online version of the Durham LSCB Multi-Agency Child 

Protection Procedures has been live since January 2017.  It provides 

a web based solution that is fully searchable and allows the user to 

access content from a wide range of devices.  

 

We undertake reoccurring six-monthly reviews to keep the 

procedures up-to-date with local and national changes.  

New sections added have included: 

 Dangerous Dogs and Safeguarding Children 

 Voice of the Child Good Practice Guidance 

 Modern Slavery 

 Surrogacy 

 Concealed / Denied Pregnancy 

 Child Sexual Abuse in the Family Environment 

 Managing Individuals who Pose a Risk to Children 

 

Website link - www.proceduresonline.com/durham/scb 

 

Professionals should add the link above into work related phones, 

smartphones, tablets and computers to link directly to the procedures 

when needed. 

 
 

Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse 

We have engaged with the Independent Inquiry 

into Child Sexual Abuse to supplied information 

on the work we do to protect children.   

In addition we have actively promoted the   

Truth Project; this offers the opportunity for victims and survivors to 

share their experience and be respectfully heard and acknowledged.  

By doing so, they are helping the inquiry to better understand the 

long term impact of abuse. 
 

Learning Point 

Watch a two minute video about 

the Truth Project.  

Other procedures and guidence updated in 2017/18 

• New Tackling Neglect Strategy

• Updated Neglect Practice Guidance

• Updated Thresholds Document

• New Children's Services Referral Form

• Updated Home Environment Risk Assessment Tool 
(HEAT) and Guidance

• New HEAT Analysis and Action Plan 

• Updated Children and Families Outcomes Framework 
and Practice Toolkit

P
age 80

http://www.proceduresonline.com/durham/scb
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0t4VuTDpco0
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0t4VuTDpco0
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/multi-agency-child-protection-procedures/


 

23 
 

7. Training and Communication 
Durham LSCB offered 13 core courses in 2017/18 including Neglect, 

Engaging with Families; Safeguarding Processes and Child Sexual 

Exploitation.  This was supplemented with a considerable 

programme of specialist training which included Psychology and 

Behaviour of Sex Offenders; Risk, Harm and Decision Making; 

Sexually Harmful Behaviour and Interviewing Sex Offenders. 

 

 A total of 75 individual core 

courses were delivered in 2017/18. 

The courses were attended by a total 

of 1,265 staff.  

 A full total of 100 training and 

events were delivered and attended 

by a total of 4,113 staff. 
 

 

The training courses received very positive feedback with 96% of 

attendees marking the training as good or excellent.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

E-learning Courses 

Durham LSCB provide access to a full 

range of e-learning courses through the 

Virtual College ‘total package’.  

This allows partners the ability to offer   

up-to-date safeguarding training to all staff through the unlimited 

licences available for each course. Courses include: 

 Safeguarding 

Children and Young 

People from Abuse 

by Sexual 

Exploitation 

 Safeguarding 

Children Refresher  

 Awareness of Child 

Abuse and Neglect 

 Collaborative 

Working: A Whole 

Family Approach  

 

Since the new courses became available in April 2016:  

 10,069  courses have been completed  

 93% of those completing evaluations stated they would 

recommend the course to a friend or colleague  

  
 More Information: Find out more information about 
         LSCB Training Programme 

 

‘In a recent referral 

following this course, I now 

feel confident in asking 

challenging questions at 

home visits.’  

‘The importance of looking 

at the situation through the 

child's eyes. What it’s like 

for them living in those 

neglectful environments.’ 

‘This 

training day 

has helped 

me to 

understand 

the single 

assessment 

process and 

what a good 

assessment 

looks like.’ 

P
age 81

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/training-programme/


 

24 
 

Marketing and Communications Activity 

Marketing and communications work is delivered 

through the Durham LSCB Website and is the main 

channel to support local and national campaigns. 

Printed materials to raise awareness of 

safeguarding children were distributed to contact 

points such as Customer Access Points, GP 

surgeries, Libraries, Children Centres, Day Nurseries, 

Police Stations and the Neighbourhood Watch 

Network. 

 

The LSCB website is the main access point for safeguarding 

information and materials. Content is refreshed regularly with the 

Toolkits and Guidance for Practitioners page, Making a Referral 

page and Training Programme being the top three pages visited. 

 

 
This year we ran a full itinerary of 

events during National 

Safeguarding Week. Chris Harper, 

who played child groomer Nathan in 

Coronation Street was invited to 

Durham to speak about his storyline 

and the public reaction to his role.   

The events were organised by the LSCB and Harrogate & District 

NHS Foundation Trust Specialist Nurses in Child Protection who also 

provide the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme in County Durham. 

Learning Point 

Watch Chris speak about the 

storyline and how it has helped to 

raise the issue of child sexual 

exploitation across the country.  

Website stats - April 2017 to end of March 2018

• 20,015 users

• 41,742 sessions / visits

• 115,266 page views

Campaigns we supported in 2017/18 

• Children’s Commissioner’s Takeover Challenge

• Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Day

• Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse Truth 
Project

• Internet Safety Day

• World Social Worker Day

• Alcohol Awareness Week

• International Day for Elimination of Violence Against 
Women and Girls

P
age 82

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Oz9zIbPLCKA


 

25 
 

8. Future Priorities 
The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board agreed the 

following priorities and priority actions for 2018/19:   

 

 

 

   

• Understand Neglect – See the local picture of neglect; raise awareness and thresholds for action

• Early Identification – Improve the recognition and assessment of neglect 

• Effective Provision – Refine effective and successful support that helps reduce neglect

• Family Focus – Use the experience of our families and the voice of the child in services

Neglect

• Thresholds – Strengthen agreed levels of action across the partnership 

• Focused Intervention – Making sure children receive focused intervention 

• Remove Barriers – Understanding the lessons learned and improving outcomes

• Improve Information Sharing – Remove the barriers to local sharing of information

Working 
Together

• Voice of the Child – Every child has a voice within the child protection process

• Empower Young People – To recognise abuse, feel confident to report concerns

• Visibility and Support – Obtain the child’s story and support is child focused

• Peer Support – Develop skills for young people to support other young people

Empowering 
Young People 

• Preventing CSE – Making it more difficult to exploit children and young people

• Protecting children and young people from CSE – Identifying and safeguarding those 
children and young people at risk

• Pursuing perpetrators of CSE – Identifying, arresting and prosecuting offenders

Child Sexual 
Exploitation

P
age 83



 

26 
 

Appendix 1 – LSCB Membership 
 

Durham LSCB Membership 

 The Board is chaired by an independent person 

commissioned by the Durham County Council Chief Executive 

 National Probation Services – represented by the Head of 

Durham NPS  

 Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company 

– represented by the Head of Services County Durham and 

Darlington 

 North Durham, Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield 

Clinical Commissioning Groups – represented by the 

Director of Nursing (Vice-Chair of Durham LSCB) 

 Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children and Looked 

After Children  

 Designated Doctor for Safeguarding Children 

 NHS England – represented by the Director of Nursing for the 

Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust – 

represented by the Associate Director of Nursing 

(Safeguarding) 

 County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust – 

represented by the Associate Director of Patient Experience & 

Safeguarding 

 North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

– represented by the General Manager Nursing and 

Professional Standards 

 Harrogate & District NHS Foundation Trust – represented 

by the Head of Safeguarding Children 

 City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust – 

represented by the Associate Director of Safeguarding 

 Cafcass (County Durham) – represented by the Service 

Manager 

 County Durham Council represented by: 

- Corporate Director, Children and Young People’s Services 

- Head of Early Help, Assessment & Safeguarding     

- Head of Adult Care 

- Head of Education    

- Strategic Manager – Children’s Services Reform & Youth 

Offending Service 

- Director of Public Health County Durham 

- Strategic Manager – Housing Solutions 

 National Offender Management Service – represented by 

the Regional Safer Custody Lead 

 Durham Constabulary – represented by the Force Lead for 

Safeguarding (Superintendent Level)  

 The Voluntary & Community Sector – represented by the 

Voluntary Sector Representative (Durham Voice) 

P
age 84



 

27 
 

 Schools – represented by:  

- Durham Association of Secondary Heads 

- Durham Association of Primary Heads 

- Durham Association of Special Schools  

 Further Education – represented by: 

- Head of Student Services, Bishop Auckland College 

- Advice Support Careers Manager, New College Durham 

 Lay Members – represented by three members of the 

community whose remit is to challenge the LSCB on the 

accessibility by the public, children and young people of its 

plans and procedures  

 Lead Member – represented by the Portfolio Holder for 

Children and Young People’s Services (participant observer) 

 Faith Communities – represented by the Safeguarding Lead 

for Durham Diocese  

 

LSCB Advisors  

The Board is advised by: 

 A member of Durham County Council Corporate & Legal 

Services nominated as the Board’s legal advisor  

 The Durham LSCB Business Manager 

 Head of Partnerships & Engagement, Durham County Council 

 Strategic Manager – Partnerships, Durham County Council 

Contact Details 

Durham LSCB     03000 265 770  

Durham County Council   03000 260 000   

Durham Constabulary    101   

County Durham & Darlington  

NHS Foundation Trust    0191 333 2333  

North Durham Clinical  

Commissioning Group (CCG)   0191 389 8600  

Durham Dales, Easington &  

Sedgefield CCG    0191 371 3222 

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys  

NHS Foundation Trust    01325 552 000  

North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals  

NHS Foundation Trust    01642 617 617  

Harrogate & District NHS  

Foundation Trust     01423 885 959  

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS  

Foundation Trust     0191 565 6256 

 NHS England North   0113 825 1609 

Cafcass (County Durham)    0300 456 4000  

Durham Tees Valley Community  

Rehabilitation Company     0808 168 4848 

National Probation Service 

North East Division    01325 246 260 

National Offender Management  

Service      0300 047 6325 

Schools and Colleges   web link only 

Voluntary and Community Sector  web link only 

  P
age 85

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/
http://www.durham.police.uk/
http://www.durham.police.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/north/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/north/
http://www.cafcass.gov.uk/
http://www.cafcass.gov.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
http://www.durham.gov.uk/schools
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2759/Voluntary-and-community-sector
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2759/Voluntary-and-community-sector


 

28 
 

Appendix 2 – LSCB Staffing and Budget 
 

Staffing 

The LSCB is supported by the following officers: 

 LSCB Business Manager 

 LSCB Quality & Performance Coordinator 

 LSCB Strategy and Development Officer  

 LSCB Training Coordinator  

 LSCB Admin Coordinator  

 LSCB Administrator 

 LSCB Admin Apprentice 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LSCB Budget 

The financial contributions from partner agencies are as follows: 

 

Partner 2017/18 
Contribution 

2018/19 
Contribution 

Durham County Council £171,604 £171,604 

Clinical Commissioning Groups £95,097 £95,097 

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

County Durham & Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

North Tees & Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

Harrogate and District NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

Durham Constabulary £29,285 £29,285 

Durham Tees Valley Community 
Rehabilitation Company  

£1,340 £1,340 

National Probation Service £2,032 £2,032 

Further Education Colleges £2,100 £2,100 

Cafcass £550 £550 

Total £312,728 £312,728 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 86



 

29 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LSCB Business Unit 

County Hall 

Durham 

County Durham 

DH1 5UJ  

Email: lscb@durham.gov.uk 

Tel: 03000 265 770 

 

A copy of this report is available on www.durham-lscb.org.uk 

Durham LSCB Annual Report 2017 / 2018 - Safeguarding Children in County Durham  

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board has a statutory duty to prepare and publish an Annual Report which describes how our partners 

safeguard vulnerable children and young people in County Durham.  Our primary responsibility is to provide a way for the local organisations 

that have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how they will work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 

young people in County Durham and to ensure that they do so effectively. 

 

The children and young people of County Durham are at the heart of what all LSCB partners do and our vision of ‘Every child and young 

person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm’ continues to drive services forward.  

 

This Annual Report gives an account of the Board’s work over the past year to improve the safety and wellbeing of children and young people.  

The report reflects the activity of the LSCB and its sub groups against its priorities for 2017/18.  It covers the major changes and improvements 

of our partners’ service delivery, where they link with the Board’s overall strategies and the impact it has had.  It also reports on the Serious 

Case Reviews undertaken and identifies the priorities to be taken forward into 2018/19. 

 

 

Equality and Diversity  

Durham LSCB strives to promote equal access to safeguarding services, particularly 

for those children who are unable to communicate, due to their age, disability or first language.  

 

P
age 87

mailto:lscb@durham.gov.uk
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Safeguarding Children 

and Young People 

in County Durham

Annual Update for Young People 

2018

P
age 89



Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Safeguarding Overview

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is safeguarding?

Safeguarding is about keeping 

children and young people safe 

and protecting them from 

harm, while making sure they 

grow up in a safe environment.

What does the LSCB do?

We promote the welfare of 

children and young people, 

safeguarding them from harm 

and protecting those children 

who are at significant risk of 

harm or neglect.

What does it mean for me?

Agencies including the Councils’ 

Children and Young People’s 

Services, the Police, Schools and 

Colleges and Health Services 

such as GPs, Hospitals and 

Health Visitors are all here to 

help.

Our Vision: Every child and young person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm

2

P
age 90

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Some Facts and Figures about Safeguarding

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

3

Themes we have seen in the 

reviews we have undertaken are: 

• Concealed Pregnancy

• Parents Drug and Alcohol 

misuse

• Neglect

• Children not brought to 

Appointments

Serious Case Reviews
• Online Grooming is the 

most common model

• Of those young people 

targeted 80% are girls

• 177 referrals were 

made for children at risk 

Child Sexual Exploitation

Child Protection Neglect

Domestic Abuse is 

the main parental risk 

factor leading to 

children becoming 

subject of a Child 

Protection Plan

• 498 Children in County 

Durham are subject to a        

Child Protection Plan

• 71% of Children who were made 

subject to a child protection plan 

under five years old were made 

so due to neglect

P
age 91

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Safeguarding Priorities

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

Reducing 

Child Sexual 

Exploitation 

Working 

Together

Reducing 

Neglect

Empowering 

Young 

People

The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board agreed the following priorities for 2017/18

4

Click on the tabs below for more information 

P
age 92

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Child Sexual Exploitation

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is Child Sexual Exploitation?

• Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a form 

of child abuse

• It can happen to anyone who is 

persuaded, bullied or forced into 

having sex or sexual activity such as 

taking and sharing naked photos of 

themselves

• This can be in return for things like 

alcohol, money, drugs or other gifts

• It can happen online and face to face

• It ruins lives and has serious long-term 

effects on young people and their 

families

5

The film Jigsaw is a story about a young girl called Becky 
who likes to use online social media to shares information 
and photos of herself and her friends. Becky has been 
talking to somebody who she believes to be another child. 
It turns out to be a man who has lied to her.

Get Help

There are people who know how to help children 
and young people in this situation. 

They will believe you. There is a way out.

Ring the Police 101 

If you are not ready to report something you 
can speak to Childline 0800 1111

P
age 93

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_o8auwnJtqE
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_o8auwnJtqE


Annual Report for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Child Sexual Exploitation (continued)

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What does Child Sexual Exploitation mean for me?

In school sessions young people told us that these were some of the things that people use to 

manipulate a young person in to sexual activity 

6

Listen to our ERASE Support Workers talk about 
the risk factors of Child Sexual Exploitation.

Watch Chris Harper, who played Nathan in Coronation Street speak about 
how his storyline has helped to raise the issue of child sexual exploitation.

P
age 94

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people/what-is-child-sexual-exploitation/
http://www.eraseabuse.org/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people/what-is-child-sexual-exploitation/
http://www.eraseabuse.org/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xLlJlmCgRlc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dfvFzOGwESM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Oz9zIbPLCKA


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Working Together

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is Working Together?

• The aim is to achieve excellent 

partnership working across all 

areas of LSCB Business

• Drilling down into problems and 

finding solutions that work for 

every agency

• Changing agency culture to 

improve multi-agency practice

7

Get Help

Services can work with everyone in the family 
helping them to find solutions to their problems.  

We focus on the following

• Prevention – So that 

problems do not 

happen in the first place 

• Targeted Intervention 

– So that problems are 

sorted out at an early 

stage

• Improve Support –

So that help and 

support from a trained 

professional is in place 

for problems that are 

serious or may continue 

for a long time

We have been working to implement 

learning from Serious Case Reviews.  

This two minute video asks workers 

re-think ‘did not attend’ notifications.
(Shared with permissions of Nottinghamshire LSCB)

P
age 95

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact
http://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact
https://vimeo.com/196256529
https://vimeo.com/196256529


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Reducing Neglect

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is Neglect?

• Child neglect is a failure to 

look after a child and could 

result in poor health or 

development

• Children (including unborn 

babies), need food, water, 

shelter, warmth, protection 

and health care to grow and 

develop

• Children need their parents 

or carers to love and care 

for them

• Neglect can also include 

physical abuse, emotional 

abuse and sexual abuse

8

Get Help

Every child and young person has the right to be 
looked after properly. If you’re not getting the 

important things you need at home, you could be 
being neglected.  

If you are not ready to report something you can 
speak to Childline 0800 1111

Watch the video to see what happens when you 
contact Childline

P
age 96

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
https://youtu.be/rARrprkysqQ
https://youtu.be/rARrprkysqQ


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Reducing Neglect (continued)

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What does Neglect mean for me?

9

Neglect Video: 
Michelle's Story

Thank you for everything you have done 

for me, you have helped me so much. Yes 

I know it's your job but you have changed 

my life.

You have watch me grow from a little girl 

into a stroppy teenager, I like myself a lot 

more now. I still write in my diary how my 

day has been. 

We have had many ups and downs

where I may have disagreed with you but 

in the end I know it's because you 

wanted what was best for me. 

I will never forget you.

Get Help

This is the story of Michelle and 

her experience of neglect as she 

was growing up.

Click the picture to watch the 

video

Domestic Abuse is the 

main parental risk factor 
leading to children 

becoming subject of a 

Child Protection Plan

Harbour

support

children,  

click on 

the 

leaflet

for

more 

info    

P
age 97

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
https://youtu.be/0X8gsyk0Dv8
https://youtu.be/0X8gsyk0Dv8
http://www.myharbour.org.uk/
http://www.myharbour.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Empowering Young People

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

10

How you continue to help

The LSCB meet 

young people 

in their local 

areas to learn 

more about 

what is 

important to 

them. 

What is Empowering Young People?

• To increase the voice of the child to make 

sure that services take young people's 

views and opinions into account when 

they plan services

• Providing education, resilience and 'up-

skilling' opportunities for young people in 

safeguarding and risk awareness

• Staff working with children and young 

people want to know what they think and 

how things can be made better for them

Bullying, and online safety 

are one of your concerns.  

Click on ‘Get Safe Online’ to 

learn more

‘This direct link to young 

people and understanding the 

‘Voice of the Child’ has brought 

a positive and different 

perspective into the LSCB’.  
Jane Geraghty, Independent Chair receiving the 

Investing in Children award

P
age 98

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://investinginchildren.weebly.com/
http://investinginchildren.weebly.com/
http://www.getsafeonline.org/durham/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Empowering Young People (continued)

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

How you made a difference to workers?

Durham LSCB promotes the 

hashtag #hearmyvoice as a 

simple way for young people 

to express their views on social 

media

11

#hearmyvoice

Over 70 Durham 

Police Cadets 

have helped us 

develop your 

Annual Update.

Working hard!

Listen to Amy-Louise shares her 
story about being bullied online. 

‘Both as a 
professional 
and a parent, 
their stories 
provided a 
thought 
provoking 
human element 
of their 
experiences and 
for that I feel 
very privileged’.

P
age 99

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IvELtgxcXsw
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IvELtgxcXsw


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Our plans for the future

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

Our plans for 2018 and 2019

12

• Understand Neglect – See the local picture of neglect; raise awareness and thresholds for action

• Early Identification – Improve the recognition and assessment of neglect 

• Effective Provision – Refine effective and successful support that helps reduce neglect

• Family Focus – Use the experience of our families and the voice of the child in services

Neglect

• Thresholds – Strengthen agreed levels of action across the partnership 

• Focused Intervention – Making sure children receive focused intervention

• Remove Barriers – Understanding the lessons learned and improving outcomes

• Improve Information Sharing – Remove the barriers to local sharing of information

Working 
Together

• Voice of the Child – Every child has a voice within the child protection process

• Empower Young People – To recognise abuse, feel confident to report concerns

• Visibility and Support – Obtain the child’s story and support is child focused

• Peer Support – Develop skills for young people to support other young people

Empowering 
Young People 

• Preventing CSE – Making it more difficult to exploit children and young people

• Protecting children and young people from CSE – Identifying and safeguarding 

those children and young people at risk

• Pursuing perpetrators of CSE – Identifying, arresting and prosecuting offenders

Child Sexual 
Exploitation

P
age 100

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Report for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Reporting Concerns

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

For more information, click on the images to 

go to various websites and contacts

13

P
age 101

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.myharbour.org.uk/
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/onepoint
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/site/content/Care-&-Treatment/Children-and-Young-Peopl/Community-mental-health
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/
http://www.getsafeonline.org/durham/
https://www.ifucareshare.co.uk/
https://www.papyrus-uk.org/
http://www.eraseabuse.org/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact
http://www.disc-vol.org.uk/services/drugs-alcohol-recovery-services/
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/localoffer.page


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Contact details for LSCB Partners

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

LSCB Business Unit 
County Hall, Durham

County Durham, DH1 5UJ 
Email: lscb@durham.gov.uk

Tel: 03000 265 770
www.durham-lscb.org.uk

Durham LSCB 03000 265 770 

Durham County Council 03000 260 000  

Durham Constabulary 101 

County Durham & Darlington 

NHS Foundation Trust 0191 333 2333 

North Durham Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG) 0191 389 8600 

Durham Dales, Easington & 

Sedgefield CCG 0191 371 3222

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys 

NHS Foundation Trust 01325 552 000 

North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust 01642 617 617 

Harrogate & District NHS 

Foundation Trust 01423 885 959 

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 

Foundation Trust 0191 565 6256

NHS England North 0113 825 1609

Cafcass (County Durham) 0300 456 4000 

Durham Tees Valley Community 

Rehabilitation Company (probation) 0808 168 4848

National Probation Service

North East Division 01325 246 260

National Offender Management 

Service 0300 047 6325

Schools and Colleges web link only

Voluntary and Community Sector web link only

P
age 102

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/
http://www.durham.police.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/north/
http://www.cafcass.gov.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
http://www.durham.gov.uk/schools
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2759/Voluntary-and-community-sector


 

 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of the 

consultation on Evidence Based Interventions. 
 

2 A copy of the letter sent by Professor Stephen Powis, National Medical 
Director, NHS England to Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officers, 
Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Chairs, Trust and Foundation Trust 
Chief Executives and Trust and Foundation Trust Medical Directors is attached 
as Appendix 2, the easy read version of the consultation is attached as 
Appendix 3 as is the FAQs as Appendix 4. 

 
Background 

 
3 Evidence shows that some interventions are not clinically effective, or are only 

effective when they are performed in specific circumstances.  
 

4 As medical science advances, some interventions are superseded by those 
that are less invasive or more effective.  
 

5 At both national and local levels, there is a general consensus that more needs 
to be done to ensure that the least effective interventions are not routinely 
performed, or that they are only performed in more clearly defined 
circumstances. 
 

6 On 4 July 2018 the Evidence Based Interventions programme was launched.  
Public consultation will run until 28 September 2018 on the design principles of 
the programme. 

 
7 This consultation is focussed on hearing views on the proposed changes to 

interventions for 17 conditions with the outcome that these changes will avoid 
harm to patients, free up some staff capacity that could be used for other things 
and save money.  These changes also mean that we could focus on using new 
and better treatments from the findings of latest research. 

 
8 The 17 conditions are across 2 categories: Category 1 Interventions the NHS 

thinks are completely ineffective and category 2 interventions that should be 
done only in very special cases. The 17 interventions are set out in the 
consultation document. 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
4 September 2018 
 
Consultation on Evidence Based 
Interventions 
 

 
 

Report of Nicola Bailey, Chief Operating Officer, North Durham and 
Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups 

Page 103

Agenda Item 9



 

 

9 Funding for these 17 interventions is through 2 routes explained as follows: for 
those interventions under Category 1, Doctors use an Individual Funding 
Request (IFR) and for those interventions under Category 2, a Prior Approval 
which is less complex, further explanation of these 2 processes is included in 
the consultation documentation. 

 
Recommendations 
  
10 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

 
a) Note the letter attached as Appendix 2, which provides more detail on 

the programme, and the consultation document. 
b) Note the contents of the consultation documentation attached as 

Appendix 3 
c) Note the contents of the FAQs attached as Appendix 4 
d) Note the opportunity to respond to the consultation, and the methods 

available to do so. 
 

Contact:  Nicola Bailey nicola.bailey5@nhs.net  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104

mailto:nicola.bailey5@nhs.net


 

 

Appendix 1 – Implications 

 
Finance  
The finance implications would be considered nationally, commitment that savings 
will be invested in health care services 
 
Staffing 
None 
 
Risk 
None to note at this stage 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
This will be considered at a national level 
 
Accommodation 
None 
 
Crime and Disorder 
None 
 
Human Rights 
None to note at this stage 
 
Consultation 
This is being led by a new national collaboration with the Academy of Medical Royal 
Colleges, NICE, NHS Clinical Commissioners and NHS Improvement' GIRFT 
(getting it right first time) Programme to turn this consensus into action - the 
Evidence Based Interventions Programme. 
 
Procurement 
None 
 
Disability Issues 
None to note at this stage 
 
Legal Implications 
None to note at this stage 
 
 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and high quality care for all, now and for future generations 

       
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
To: CCG Accountable Officers, CCG Clinical Chairs, Trust and Foundation Trust 

Chief Executives, Trust and Foundation Trust Medical Directors 
Cc: NHS England Regional Directors 

    Dear Colleague, 
 
Consultation on Evidence Based Interventions 
 

Research evidence shows some interventions are not clinically effective or only 
effective when they are performed in specific circumstances. And as medical science 
advances, some interventions are superseded by those that are less invasive or 
more effective.  

 
At both national and local levels, there is a general consensus that more needs to be 
done to ensure that the least effective interventions are not routinely performed, or 
only performed in more clearly defined circumstances.  

 
We have formed a new national collaboration to turn this consensus into action.  
 
We are launching today the Evidence Based Interventions Programme. We are 

publicly consulting on the design principles of the programme, the interventions we 
should target initially and proposed clinical criteria, the activity goals we should set 
and delivery actions, including proposed new terms in the NHS Standard Contract.  
 

The proposals have been jointly developed by NHS England, NHS Clinical 
Commissioners, the Academy of Royal Medical Colleges, NICE and NHS 
Improvement in collaboration with the Royal Colleges and patient groups such as 
Healthwatch. 

 

Gateway Ref: 08236  

 
Letter sent via email:  
 
 
 

Professor Stephen Powis 
National Medical Director 

NHS England 

Skipton House 
80 London Road 

SE1 6LH 
 

4 July 2018 
 

Email: 
england.EBinterventions@nhs.net 

Page 107

mailto:england.EBinterventions@nhs.net


Health and high quality care for all, now and for future generations 

The proposals aim to reduce avoidable harm to patients, save precious professional 
time, help clinicians maintain their professional practice in line with the changing 
evidence base, create headroom for innovation and maximise value and avoid waste 

for patients and taxpayers. 
 
We would like to invite your views on the consultation document, which can be read 
here: https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/evidence-based-

interventions/. 

 
We also ask that CCG leaders and provider medical directors work collaboratively 
with GPs and provider clinicians, respectively, to implement the changes. We also 

encourage CCGs and providers to work together to  agree how any released 
capacity is best deployed for the benefit of patients.  
 
A. Consultation  

The consultation will run from 4 July to 28 September 2018. If you would like to 

respond to the consultation, you can do so by: 
 

 Completing an online survey at: 

https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/evidence-based-

interventions/ 

 

 Sending written feedback to: england.EBinterventions@nhs.net.  

 

 Attending one of our events to help us gather further clinical, professional and 

patient views. Please visit our website for further details.  

In addition we will be holding a number of webinars for CCGs and providers of NHS 
funded services.  
 

Following the close of the consultation, we will analyse and consider all responses 
received to inform our final approach, which will be announced later this financial 
year. 
 

We look forward to hearing your views. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
                                                 

                                                          
Professor Stephen Powis      Professor Carrie MacEwen  
National Medical Director     Chair of the AoMRC 
Signed on behalf of NHS England Signed on behalf of the 

AoMRC1 
                        
1 Whilst the AoRMC has endorsed the principle of this work, individual Royal Colleges and specialist societies have supported 

the development of the clinical criteria set out in Appendix 2. 

Page 108

https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/evidence-based-interventions/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/evidence-based-interventions/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/evidence-based-interventions/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/evidence-based-interventions/
mailto:england.EBinterventions@nhs.net


Health and high quality care for all, now and for future generations 

       
 
Dr Graham Jackson      Dr Kathy Mclean   
NHSCC Co-Chair      Executive Medical Director  
Signed on behalf of NHSCC Signed on behalf of NHS 

Improvement 
 
 

 
Professor Gillian Leng  
Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Health and Social Care 
Signed on behalf of NICE 
 
 

                                                          

     

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Evidence-Based Interventions: 
Consultation Document

easy read

Improvement

Page 111



2

The NHS is looking to reduce the 
number of interventions they do that 
don’t always work.

Interventions, in this case, refer to 
some surgeries or treatments that 
doctors prescribe, without any 
special approval.

Up until now, the NHS has used 
these interventions to treat patients, 
but there is evidence to show that 
this is not always the best way of 
treating some conditions. This means 
that they can be ineffective.

Page 112



3

How to respond to this 
consultation

Online: You can fill in this survey 
and submit your responses at 
the end.

1

In writing: You can fill in the paper 
survey and return it to england.
EBinterventions@nhs.net  

2

At one of our events: we will be 
holding two open events for people 
with learning disabilities to discuss 
and share feedback.

3

If you would like to attend any of
the two, please contact england.
EBinterventions@nhs.net 

These will be hosted by the NHS in 
collaboration with CHANGE
The first event will be held in Leeds 
and the second one in London.

Page 113

http://england.EBinterventions@nhs.net
http://england.EBinterventions@nhs.net
http://england.EBinterventions@nhs.net
http://england.EBinterventions@nhs.net


4

1 – Who are you?

Patient or 
family member

Friend or carer 
of a patient

Member of the public
Voluntary 
organisation/charity

Other, please specify

Page 114



5

The NHS is looking at ways to 
evaluate interventions to decide 
which ones it should keep using and 
which it should stop using. 

We would like to hear your views on 
the changes we are proposing on 
prescribing these interventions for 17 
conditions. 

We are hoping that these changes 
will avoid harm to patients, free up 
some of the staff’s time that can be 
used for other things, and save some 
money.

These changes also mean that we 
could focus more on using new 
and better treatments. Health 
professionals will use in their work 
the findings from the latest research.

Page 115



6

Last year, we spent a lot of money 
on these interventions.

We plan to work together with 
doctors, commissioners and the 
public to find the best solutions and 
to monitor how progress is going.

4 – Do you think the NHS is doing enough to communicate and consult 
with others on these proposed changes? 

 5 – If not, what could they do more? 

Page 116



7

We have come up with six 
principles we plan to use in our 
evaluation. These are:

We will look at what the research 
says when we decide which 
interventions are effective and which 
aren’t.

1

We will only look at interventions 
that most people agree are a 
priority. We will consult with medical 
professionals and with the public on 
these decisions.

2

At first, we will look at a small 
number of interventions to make 
sure we don’t take on too much at 
a time. We will then look at what 
the research says and pick more 
interventions to look into.

3

Page 117



8

We will set some goals that we can 
measure; we will let everyone in the 
NHS know what these goals are, so 
everyone involved can work towards 
meeting them.

4

We will develop a programme that 
will focus on making progress fast so 
that we meet these goals by 2020.

5

We will set up a set of actions that 
will help us meet these goals.

6

6 – What do you think about our six principles? 

Page 118



9

Changes to the referral process

We will initially look at 17 
interventions. We have grouped 
these into 2 categories:

Category 1 - interventions the NHS 
thinks are completely ineffective
Category 2 - Interventions that 
should be done only in very specific 
cases

At present, these 17 interventions 
are routinely prescribed. This means 
the interventions are prescribed 
regularly and without any special 
approval.

We are proposing to introduce an 
extra step, to make sure that doctors 
seek approval before prescribing 
these interventions.

7 – Do you think that starting with 17 interventions is good or 
bad? Are they enough or not? 

Page 119



10

The 17 interventions we are 
looking at.

Snoring SurgeryA

One in four people suffer from 
snoring. Snoring is not harmful for 
your health unless you also have 
apnoea.

Apnoea is a condition when you stop 
breathing for short periods of time in 
your sleep.

Snoring can be caused by many 
things, like being overweight, 
smoking, drinking alcohol, having a 
blocked nose or tonsillitis.

Interventions in category 1

This guidance refers to some 
interventions in which some of 
the soft tissue at the back of your 
mouth, or your tonsils is removed to 
clear up some space and help you 
with your snoring.

Category 

Page 120



11

There is limited evidence from 
research to show that any of these 
interventions works well and solve 
the problem. 

We recommend that doctors 
prescribe other things to treat your 
snoring, like losing weight, stopping 
smoking, drinking less alcohol, or 
treating your blocked nose.

Research shows that these work as 
well as the medical interventions. 

Plus these medical interventions 
come with their own risks, like 
problems when swallowing or 
changes in your voice.

Page 121



12

Dilation and curettage 
for heavy menstrual 
bleeding in women 
over 40

B

Some women over 40 bleed very 
much when they have their periods. 

Dilation and curettage is a medical 
intervention of the womb. The 
womb is the part of a woman’s body 
where the baby grows.

In this intervention, the opening of 
the womb is widened and the tissue 
that lines it is scraped out.

Page 122



13

Research shown that this medical 
intervention is not effective in 
diagnosing and treating heavy 
menstrual bleeding.

To investigate heavy periods, doctors 
can use other things, like ultrasounds 
and taking samples of this tissue that 
lines the womb.

To treat heavy periods, doctors 
can use medication or small plastic 
devices that are inserted into the 
womb (intrauterine systems). 

Page 123



14

Knee arthroscopy 
for patients with 
osteoarthritis

C

Osteoarthritis is a condition that 
causes joints to become stiff and 
painful. 

Knee arthroscopy is a medical 
intervention in which the doctor 
makes small cuts and inserts a small 
camera to see inside your knee. The 
doctor then inserts some liquid to 
flush out any bits of joint or bone 
that may be loose in your knee.

Research shows that this intervention 
is not an effective treatment in 
reducing pain or in helping your 
knees work better if you have 
osteoarthritis.

Better treatments are following 
special exercise programmes, losing 
weight if you are overweight, and 
managing your pain.

Page 124



15

Injections for low back 
pain if no sciatica

D

Patients with low back pain without 
sciatica are sometimes prescribed 
injections with anaesthetic or steroids 
to manage their pain.

Sciatica is pain in your leg, 
sometimes with tingling, numbness 
and weakness that starts in your 
lower back and travels down your 
buttock into your legs.

Research shows that treatment with 
these injections does not work for 
people with nonspecific back pain 
without sciatica.

We recommend instead other 
treatments, like special exercise 
programmes or going to specialised 
pain clinics.

Page 125



16

Interventions in category 2

They can get surgery to make their 
breasts smaller. It is called breast 
reduction.

We propose that women can have 
breast surgery only if the meet 
several conditions, like trying other 
treatment for their symptoms 
without any success, how large their 
breasts are, or if they plan to have 
babies in the future. 

Breast ReductionE

Some women have breasts large 
enough to causes them problems, 
like infection and pain.

Page 126



17

Removal of benign skin 
lesions

F

Benign skin lesions are lumps, bumps 
or tags on the skin that are not 
suspicious of being cancer. 

There is very little risk or bleeding, 
infection or scars when removing 
these. The NHS doesn’t cover for 
removing them if there is no medical 
reason for doing so.

We recommend that benign skin 
lesions are removed only in some 
specific cases, like when it gets in the 
way of you living a normal life, or if it 
is suspicious or cancer.

Page 127



18

Grommets for glue ear 
in children 

G

This is a surgery for children who 
cannot hear well because of a build 
up of fluid called glue ear in 
their ears.

During the surgery, a tiny tube is 
inserted in the ear to drain this fluid.

4 out of 5 children suffer at one 
point from glue ear, but the 
condition goes away on its own, 
without treatment.

We recommend that doctors only 
prescribe this surgery in special cases, 
when several different conditions are 
met, like very acute loss of hearing 
that impacts their development.

Page 128



19

Tonsillectomy for 
recurrent tonsillitis

H

Some adults and children have very 
bad sore throats that keep coming 
back again and again. This may stop 
them from going to work or school.

Taking out their tonsils helps. 
This medical procedure is called 
tonsillectomy.

We propose that doctors only 
prescribe this intervention in very 
severe cases.

Page 129



20

Haemorrhoid surgeryI

Haemorrhoids or piles are swellings 
in or around your bum with blood 
vessels in them. 

In less severe cases, you can treat 
haemorrhoids by eating more fibre 
and drinking more water.

In other cases, you can get treatment 
in an outpatient clinic. 

You should get surgery for 
haemorrhoids only in very severe 
cases, when all other treatments 
have failed. 

Page 130



21

Hysterectomy for heavy 
menstrual bleeding

J

A hysterectomy is the surgery where 
your womb (or uterus) is removed. 

We recommend that hysterectomies 
are not used as treatment just for 
heavy menstrual bleeding.

It is important that doctors 
understand what is important 
to each woman and support her 
priorities and choices.

Risks of this surgery include 
complications like bleeding and 
infection.

Page 131



22

Chalazia removalK

Chalazia are skin tags on the eyelids. 
Your skin produces oil through small 
groups of cells called glands. When 
one of these blocks or swells up, it 
forms one of these skin tags.

Chalazia usually change size in a few 
weeks and heal on their own in up 
to 6 months by massaging the area 
and using heat packs.

There are special cases when surgery 
should be used to remove them. 
These special cases include when all 
other treatment fails to resolve them, 
if they get infected badly or if they 
stop you from seeing well.

A hysterectomy should be considered 
in some specific cases like when 
other treatment for heavy period 
bleeding has failed or can’t be used.

Page 132



23

Risks of this surgery include 
discomfort, swelling, infection and 
scarring.

Arthroscopic shoulder 
decompression for 
subacromial shoulder 
pain

L

Subacromial shoulder pain is a 
pain in the top or the side of your 
shoulder. 

In an arthroscopic subacromial 
decompression procedure for 
subacromial shoulder impingement, 
the doctor takes the pressure away 
from this part of your shoulder by 
removing extra bits of bone or soft 
tissue that grew there.

They do this through a very small 
cut, using special tools.

Page 133



24

Carpal tunnel 
syndrome release

M

Carpal tunnel syndrome is pressure 
on a nerve in your wrist. It causes 
tingling, numbness, and pain in your 
hand and fingers. 

You can get surgery to release the 
pressure on the nerve that is causing 
these symptoms.

We don’t recommend offering this 
intervention because there are better 
ways of treating the pain, like special 
exercises called physiotherapy.

The risks of this intervention can be 
chronic shoulder pain and stiffness. 

Page 134



25

We recommend this surgery is 
prescribed only in some special 
cases, like if the symptoms are very 
bad, last for more than 4 months 
despite getting special treatment 
with injections; and if your symptoms 
interrupt your daily activities or 
your sleep.

Dupuytren’s contracture 
release

N

Dupuytren’s syndrome is when one 
or more of your fingers become 
permanently bent inwards. 

There is a surgery that can help 
with this called fasciectomy. This 
involves making a cut along your 
palm and finger so the surgeon 
can straighten it.

We recommend that this surgery is 
prescribed only if all other treatment 
options have failed; and if the bend 
is severe enough in one or more 
fingers.

Page 135



26

Ganglion excisionO

Ganglia are small lumps on the 
tendon of their wrists and arms. They 
are not cancer. 

Many people have them, and they 
never bother them. Ganglia can 
disappear all of a sudden over 
time. They usually do not hurt, but 
sometimes can tingle and may cause 
some pain if pressed.

You can get them removed with 
surgery. This intervention is called 
ganglion excision.

We recommend that ganglion 
excision is prescribed in some cases, 
like if it is painful, if the doctor isn’t 
sure about its nature, or if it causing 
more severe problems.

Page 136



27

Trigger finger releaseP

Trigger finger is a condition of the 
tendons in your hand where it is 
difficult to bend one or more of your 
fingers.

In most cases this is not a serious 
health condition, but more of a 
nuisance. 

There are other available ways of 
treating ganglia, such as pain relief or 
having it sucked out with a needle.

There are other treatments you can 
try before choosing surgery. These 
include getting some rest, a steroid 
injection or anti-inflammatory drugs.

Page 137



28

Varicose vein surgeryQ

Varicose veins are swollen in your 
legs and feet. They are dark in 
colour, lumpy and twisted.

They can make your legs and feet 
hurt, feel uncomfortable or swollen; 
give you muscle cramps; make your 
skin itch.

There are many ways of treating 
varicose veins, these should be tried 
before considering surgery. 

Only if all these fail you should 
consider for surgery. Recovery from 
it can take weeks and there is always 
a risk of infection, pain or nerve 
damage.

Page 138



29

8 – Are there any interventions you think we should add? If so, which 
ones? And why?  

9 – Are there any interventions we should remove? If so, which ones? 
And why? 

10 – What do you think of the reasons why we chose these 17 
interventions?

Page 139



30

11 – Do you think these proposed changes will have a negative impact 
on some people more than others? Think of people of different 
ages, disabilities, genders, races, people from disadvantaged groups 
(homeless people, gypsy travellers) etc

12 – Do you think these proposed changes will have a positive impact 
on some people more than others? Think of people of different 
ages, disabilities, genders, races, people from disadvantaged groups 
(homeless people, gypsy travellers) etc. 

13 – Do you think that, if looking at these 17 interventions has 
good results, we should make this kind of work part of an on-going 
programme? 

Page 140



31

Funding for the 17 
interventions

Doctors would have to use Individual 
Funding Requests (IFR) for the 
interventions in Category 1, and 
prior approval for interventions in 
Category 2.

Individual Funding Requests (IFR) 
are already used in the NHS. Medical 
professionals use them to apply to 
their local commissioner for funding 
for treatments that are not usually 
prescribed. 

For example, an intervention that is 
normally for people over a certain 
age may be needed for someone 
much younger.

To prescribe it to that young person, 
the doctor would have to apply for 
funding using an IFR. 

Page 141



32

A team of commissioners and 
medical professionals would then 
look at the case and the evidence of 
why the treatment is needed, and 
then decided if it should go ahead 
or not.

Prior approvals are similar to IFRs, 
but they are not as complex of a 
process. 

The GP needs to demonstrate to 
the CCG that the patient meets the 
criteria for being referred for the 
intervention.

The commissioner still needs to look 
at the case and the evidence, and 
make a decision.

Page 142



33

We think that it will be best if the 
GPs start the right referral process 
when they see the patient, before 
they go to hospital.

If the patient goes directly to hospital 
or to A&E, then the doctor there 
who is looking after the patient must 
start the right referral process.

If the hospital carries out one of 
these interventions without getting 
the right approval, they will not get 
paid for it.

Page 143



34

14 – What do you think about using IFR for the interventions in 
category 1? 

15 – What do you think about using prior approval for interventions in 
category 2? 

16 – What do you think about not paying hospitals for the 
interventions in category 1 if they do not prove they have made an IFR 
for them? 

Page 144



Design and illustration ©CHANGE 
www.changepeople.org

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Evidence Based Interventions Consultation 

 
Frequently Asked Questions 

 

 
THE CONSULTATION 
 

 
1 What we are consulting on? 

 
The Evidence Based Interventions programme, specifically: the design principles 
for the programme, the interventions we should target initially and proposed 
clinical criteria, the goals we should set and the delivery actions including 

proposed new terms in the NHS Standard Contract.  
 
 
2 Which organisations were involved in the developing the consultation 

document? 

 
We have partnered with NHS Clinical Commissioners, the Academy of Royal 

Medical Colleges, NHS Improvement’s GIRFT programme and NICE to develop 
the proposals, working in collaboration with the relevant Royal Colleges and 
patient groups including Healthwatch. 

 

 
3 How people can respond to the consultation? 

 
There are a number of ways you can respond to the consultation: 

 

 Via an online web-form at: 
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/evidence-based-
interventions/  

 

 Written responses can be submitted to: 
england.EBinterventions@nhs.net 

 

 In addition we are holding a number of events to gather further clinical, 
professional and patient views. Please see the NHS England website for 
further information. 

 

Please send your responses by Friday 28 September 2018. 
 
 

4 What will happen after the consultation closes? 

 
Following the close of the consultation on Friday 28 September 2018, we will 
analyse and consider all responses received to inform our final approach, which 
will be announced later this financial year. Any wording which, following 

consultation, we determine should be added to the NHS Standard Contract will 

Page 147

https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/evidence-based-interventions/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/consultation/evidence-based-interventions/
mailto:england.EBinterventions@nhs.net
https://www.england.nhs.uk/evidence-based-interventions/


 
 

be included in the 2019/20 version of the Contract, to be published later this 

financial year. 
 
 
THE INTERVENTIONS 

 
5 Which interventions are included in the consultation? 

 
We propose that the following four interventions should no longer be routinely 

commissioned by CCGs unless a successful Individual Funding Request is 
made, either because they are ineffective or have been superseded by a safer 
alternative:  

 Snoring Surgery (in the absence of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea) 

 Dilatation and curettage for heavy menstrual bleeding in women  

 Knee arthroscopy for patients with osteoarthritis  

 Injections for nonspecific low back pain without sciatica 

 
We propose that a further thirteen interventions should only be commissioned by 
CCGs or performed when specific clinical criteria are met – this is because they 

have only been shown to be effective in certain circumstances: 
 Breast reduction 

 Removal of benign skin lesions 

 Grommets for Glue Ear in Children 

 Tonsillectomy for recurrent tonsillitis 

 Haemorrhoid surgery 

 Hysterectomy for heavy menstrual bleeding 

 Chalazia removal 

 Arthroscopic shoulder decompression for subacromial shoulder pain 

 Carpal tunnel syndrome release 

 Dupuytren’s contracture release 

 Ganglion excision 

 Trigger finger release 

 Varicose vein surgery 

 

6 Will all seventeen interventions be completely stopped? 
 

No.  
 
We are proposing that the following four procedures are not routinely performed 
unless a clinician can demonstrate exceptionality: snoring surgery (in the 

absence of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea), dilatation and curettage for heavy 
menstrual bleeding in women, knee arthroscopy for patients with osteoarthritis 
and injections for nonspecific low back pain without sciatica. For example, when 
the clinician is able to demonstrate that the individual is different in some way 

from all patients with the condition AND they can provide the evidence for why 

Page 148



 
 

this individual might benefit more from the procedure than other similar patients. 

In such exceptional cases clinicians would need to submit an Individual Funding 
Request to their CCG on behalf of the patient. 
 

The 13 procedures listed above would only be offered by the NHS in specific 

circumstances in line with research and evidence based criteria. We are 

proposing that GPs should seek prior approval from the relevant CCG to refer 

patients for these interventions.  

 

7 How were these seventeen interventions chosen? 

 

We initially compiled a long list of interventions with no or limited clinical 
effectiveness, based on clinical evidence and research including NICE 
guidelines, Choosing Wisely recommendations, academic studies and NHS 
Clinical Commissioners’ work on Procedures of Limited Clinical Effectiveness 

(PoLCE). We prioritised changes that we could test our approach on and 
implement relatively quickly on a large scale. We focused on surgical 
interventions commissioned by CCGs, where there was high variability in the 
application of clinical guidelines. We worked with the relevant Royal Colleges 

and clinicians and some patients to refine the list, ensuring there was clinical 
consensus and buy-in. We also worked closely with NHS Clinical 
Commissioners and patient representative groups like Healthwatch to test the 
proposals and understand their priorities.  

 
 
8 What happens if I have been referred for one of the seventeen 

interventions? 

 
Prior to the final policy being announced, we will encourage clinicians to ensure 
that their patients are fully informed of the risks of proceeding with these 
interventions. You should talk to your GP or surgeon about this programme if 

you have been referred for one of the procedures.  
 
 
9 What about people who have recently had one of the seventeen 

interventions?  

 
If someone has received one of the seventeen interventions recently, there is no 
need for concern. But patients should talk to their GP if they are worried.  

 
 
10 Why are you only focussing on seventeen interventions? 
 

We will first develop proof of concept, by having a relatively narrow initial focus 
on a few interventions, rather than pursuing all possible opportunities at once. 
One of the reasons similar initiatives have failed in the past is because they 
aimed too wide too soon. 

 

Page 149



 
 

However, we intend to make this a much wider, on-going programme, subject to 

making sufficient progress in the first phase. We will consult on further 
interventions in phase two, which will be launched in the new year. We will keep 
the list under periodic review as the evidence base grows in future years. Phase 
two will also include specialised services, which are commissioned by NHS 

England.  
 
 
11 What should I do if I think further interventions should be added to the list? 

We would welcome your recommendations on further interventions that we 
should target. Should you wish to press for additional interventions to be included 
in the initial list, we ask that you share suggestions by 31 July 2018, along with 

the supporting clinical evidence and criteria, to enable them to be considered. 
Recommendations received after 31 July 2018 would still be welcomed and may 
be used in future rounds. 
 

 
GENERAL QUESTIONS 

 
12 Is this rationing? 

 
No. The aim of the programme is to: 

 

 Reduce avoidable harm to patients. With surgical interventions, there is 

always a risk of complications and adverse effects which could be 
avoided. 

 

 Save precious professional time, when the NHS is severely short of staff. 

 

 Help clinicians maintain their professional practice in line with the changing 
evidence base. 

 

 Create headroom for innovation. If we want to accelerate the adoption of 
new, proven innovations, we need to reduce the number of least effective 
interventions performed.  

 

 Maximise value and avoid waste. Ineffective care is poor value for money 
for the taxpayer and the NHS. 

 
Any savings generated will be reinvested in expanding and improving NHS care. 

 
 
13 What savings will be made by reducing these interventions? 

 

The main reason for introducing this programme is to prevent avoidable harm to 
patients and free up clinical time and capacity. Based on our initial assumptions, 
the changes could free up around £200m a year to reinvest in expanding and 
improving NHS care. We want to test our assumptions as part of the consultation 

exercise, and will confirm the actual figure later this year. 

Page 150



 
 
 

 
14 How would any savings be spent and redistributed? 

 
We expect CCGs and providers to work collaboratively on implementing these 

changes and agreeing how any released capacity is deployed for the benefit of 
patients.  
 
We would expect that the freed up capacity will be used for other elective 

activity, for example to improve performance against the Referral to Treatment 
(RTT) standards, as part of plans agreed with CCGs. 
 
This freed up capacity may also reduce the need for NHS providers to outsource 

procedures 
 
 
15 What progress do you expect to see? 

 
Pace is a core design principle of the programme. We will establish clear, 
quantified national and local goals based on analysis of unwarranted variation 
across the country. The final goals will be informed by feedback from the 

consultation, and widely communicated. 
 
 
16 How will you ensure change is delivered? 

 
Previous attempts to decommission interventions on the basis of clinical evidence 
have faltered through lack of sustained national and local drive and the absence 
of formalised levers to support implementation. We propose to take twelve 

actions to enable delivery – as set out in the consultation document.  
 
 
17 What if local systems are going further than the proposals set out in this 

document? 

 
Some local systems have already developed and implemented plans to address 
the issues set out in this document, engaging and consulting local clinicians, 

providers and their local populations. We have no desire to reverse legitimate 
local decision-making and encourage those local systems to continue to make 
progress in line with their plans. It will be important for the national programme to 
learn from those furthest on with implementation. We will encourage sharing of 

learning and peer-to-peer support to other local systems. 
 
 
 

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
4 September 2018 
 
Healthwatch County Durham  
Annual Report 2017/18 
 

 
 
 

Report of Brian Jackson, Chair of Healthwatch County Durham 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1 The purpose of the report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) 
with the Healthwatch Annual Report 2017/18, attached as Appendix 2, for 
comment. 
 

Background 
 

2 Healthwatch County Durham (HWCD) is run by the Pioneering Care 
Partnership, Citizen’s Advice County Durham and Durham Community Action. 

 
3 HWCD is the consumer champion for health and social care and delivers an 

evidence based workplan agreed by an independent board. The 2018–19 
workplan was presented to HWB in March 2018.  
 

HWCD annual report 
 
4 The annual report introduces the board, the staff, our core work, the progress of 

the workplan, the finances and our priorities for next year.  
 
5 The annual report was available on our website from 30 June 2018 and shared 

with Healthwatch England, the Care Quality Commission, NHS England, 
Clinical Commissioning Groups, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
Durham County Council.  

 
Our board members  

 

6 Our board members have been involved in HWBB, Adults Health and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Safeguarding Adults Board, NHS 
Quality Improvement Board, Mental Health Partnership Board and Great North 
Care Record. Their priorities include giving people a voice, supporting our 
volunteers, providing a profession signposting services and influencing service 
improvements. 
   

Pharmacy services 
 

7 We spoke to 397 people about pharmacy services on behalf of the Local 
Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC) and Public Health. Feedback was 
overwhelmingly positive about pharmacies with the three most requested 

Page 153

Agenda Item 10



additional services being extended opening hours, disposal of sharps boxes 
and health checks.  

 
8 Two recommendations from people’s feedback have been adopted by the LPC: 

 To make sure pharmacies have facilities for people to consult a 
pharmacist in private and that these are clearly advertised 

 To develop a targeted strategy to encourage more young people to 
access pharmacy services. 

 
9 Public Health confirmed that, as a result of our recommendations, one of the 

key actions in the pharmacy services action plan will be to raise awareness of 
services available in pharmacies. 

 

Enter and View 
 

10 We carried out Enter and View visits (where authorised representatives visit 
services to gather user feedback and report findings and recommendations) at 
Great Lumley GP Surgery, Intrahealth Pharmacy Chilton, John Lowe Pharmacy 
Blackhill and Bewick Pharmacy Newton Aycliffe. 

   
11 Both CCGs have promoted Enter and View to all GP practices as a way of   

gathering independent patient feedback and participating practices have 
endorsed it. 

 
Improving access to annual health checks for people with learning disabilities 

 

12 Following engagement with 100 people we recommended that all patients 
should be contacted in an appropriate and user friendly manner, that GPs 
should be encouraged to share best practice and alternative community venues 
should be considered that may be less intimidating. 

 
13 Some recommendations have already been taken up by practices 

 Shinwell Medical Group ran a pilot to offer healthchecks in a 
community venue and invited HWCD to gather patient feedback.  This 
was positive so the offer will continue 

 HWCD developed an easy read invite letter in partnership with the 
CCGs and Durham County Council which is now available for all GP 
practices to use. 

 

Information and signposting 
 

14 We supported 234 people with a range of health and social care queries and 
concerns.  These included how to access emergency dental services, GP 
appointment systems, missing medical records and finding nursing care 
placements for relatives.  
 

15 We have shared feedback with NHS England and made recommendations to 
improve information received by patients about closures of dental practices.  
They have agreed that details of alternative practices that are accessible for 
people with mobility issues will be included in letters to patients as standard 

Page 154



and that they will write to local practices to prepare them for a likely increase in 
enquiries. 

 

16 We gather service user satisfaction feedback and all has been positive.  
Examples include; ‘thank you for being so caring and professional.  This is the 
first time I’ve felt someone has listened to me’.   

 
Helping improve ‘Locate’ 
 
17 Impressed by our work on care home website accessibility last year, Durham 

County Council’s ‘Locate’ team asked if our research volunteers would help 
them to look at the effectiveness of their information website for adult care, 
support and advice.  
 

18 Our volunteers used scenarios from a realistic user’s perspective and reported 
their initial findings to DCC which were well received. 

 
Gathering views to improve maternity services 
 
19 At the request of both CCGs we spoke to 199 mothers about their experiences 

and choices around stopping smoking in pregnancy and how to feed their 
babies.  We also spoke to eight other CCG areas to identify good practice and 
share learning. 
 

20 We shared our findings and recommendations with commissioners in County 
Durham who welcomed the feedback from mothers and agreed to look into the 
recommendation of early intervention and Nicotine Replacement Therapy. 

 

Working to reduce barriers to health screening 
 
21 A major part of our work this year was researching the barriers that stop people 

accessing bowel, breast and cervical cancer screening programmes. We spoke 
to over 2000 people and shared our recommendations with providers and 
commissioners including the need to address commonly held misconceptions, 
such as that if someone is being treated for one cancer they do not need to get 
tested for another. 

 
22 Public Health have secured funding for two new cancer awareness posts and 

our recommendations will be used in their work. 
 
23 Specialist cancer nurses have also received our findings and will work with 

patients to give them a better understanding of screening. 
 
Helping vulnerable women have their say 
 

24 On behalf of the Safeguarding Adults Board we spoke to 77 women in more 
vulnerable positions about their understanding of safeguarding.  We also spoke 
to them about their experiences of screening programmes and access to health 
services. 

 

Page 155



25 We used focus groups and one to one conversations in trusted places to 
capture the voices of women that may not otherwise have been heard 
including: 

 Women with mental health problems 

 Women at risk of homelessness 

 Women who are carers 

 Women who have experienced domestic abuse 

 Women from Gypsy, Romany and Traveller communities. 
 
Great North Care Record 

 
26 We worked with all other local Healthwatch in the North East and North 

Cumbria to run host focus groups where people could hear about, and share 
their views on the Great North Care Record with Connecting Health Cities and 
Teesside University.  All feedback will be considered by the regional Great 
North Care Record steering group. 
 

Stroke services 
 

27 When stroke patients contacted us with concerns about their community 
support service being decommissioned and what, if anything, would replace it 
we contacted the CCGs to share their feedback.   

 
28 The commissioners agreed to an extension of the existing contract and asked 

us to carry out independent patient and carer engagement to help shape a new 
service.  We wrote to everyone who had experienced a stroke in the last 12 
months and gathered feedback from 155 people who shared their views face to 
face, in writing or over the phone. 

 

29 Our report made several recommendations including; developing clear support 
pathways, providing person centred support plans, providing clear information 
packs and advice about healthy lifestyle and ways to reduce the risks of stroke.  
Several of these have been incorporated into a new service for patients that 
should better meet their needs. 

 
Our priorities 
 

30 In February and March 2018 we gave everyone in the county the chance to 
help decide our priorities for 2018–19.  We identified a shortlist of areas of 
concern from feedback received by our signposting team and from partnership 
working.  We then advertised a public vote in Durham County News and 
through our networks and 617 households took part.  The top four choices that 
we will look at next are: 

 Mental health services 

 GP appointment systems 

 Dementia services 

 Transition from children’s to adult services. 
 

Page 156



31 The board also agreed core priorities which include the provision of our 
information and signposting service and the delivery of Enter and View visits in 
GP, hospital and social care settings. 

 
32 The board welcome workplan requests from organisations keen to gather 

independent patient, service user and carer feedback to improve their services.  
They are considered by the board for inclusion on the workplan.  

 
Our work with volunteers 
 
33 This year our 26 volunteers gave 1,662 hours of support across all of our 

activities and we were delighted to receive the County Durham Volunteer Kite 
Mark, which is awarded to organisations who provide a high quality, positive 
and inclusive volunteering experience. 

 
34 Our volunteers made several recommendations to Durham County Council to 

improve user experience, following their research into the quality of care home 
websites.  These included providing; an indication of fee levels, details of 
provider specialisms, visitor access, activity programmes and addresses with 
maps and directions. 

 

35 As a result the report and recommendations have been shared with every care 
home provider via Durham County Council and one, Kaydar, has volunteered to 
develop a new website based on all of the recommendations which will be able 
to be used as an example of good practice. 

 

36 Durham County Council also changed their contract specification to make sure 
all providers keep ‘Locate’ up to date with information about their services. 

 

37 Kaydar said ‘we cannot state enough how valuable Tony’s input has been and 
very much appreciate the sharing of the findings that his research work, 
through HWCD, showed as being important to users’. 

 
Finances 
 
38 Total income received was £207,069 and total expenditure was £190, 027.  
 
Recommendations  
 

39 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 
 

 Receive the recommendations in the HWCD annual report 
 
 

Contact:  Marianne Patterson, Programme Manager, Healthwatch County     
                 Durham.  Tel: 0191 3781037  

 
 
 
 

Page 157



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance  The workplan has been prepared within budget and is monitored by 
Pioneering Care Partnership (PCP) 
 
Staffing  There are no staffing implications 
 
Risk  There are no risk implications  
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty  PCP’s Equality and Diversity 
policy is adhered to by HWCD Board, staff and volunteers in the delivery of this plan 
 
Accommodation  There are no accommodation implications 
 
Crime and Disorder  There are no Crime and Disorder implications 
 

Human Rights Human Rights have been considered in the development of this plan 
 
Consultation Engagement and consultation are incorporated throughout the HWCD 
workplan 
 
Procurement  There are no procurement implications 
 
Disability Issues  Issues in relation to disability have been considered throughout 
the development of the workplan  
 
Legal Implications  Local Healthwatch are corporate bodies and within the 
contractual arrangements made with their local authority must carry out particular 
activities. This plan has been approved by an Independent Board of local people and 
includes the provision and development of a professional signposting service.  Board 
members and Authorised Enter and View Representatives have been recruited and 
details are published on the HWCD website.  The Chair of the HWCD Board is a 
member of HWBB and Safeguarding Adults Board.   
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 158



Annual Report 
2017-2018

Page 159



2Healthwatch County Durham

Contents

Message from our Chair 3

Highlights from our year 4

Who we are 5

Meet the board 6

Your views on health and social care 8

Helping you find the answers 11

Finding the right service 13

Making a difference together 15

It starts with you 19

Our plans for next year 21

Our people 23

Our finances 26

Contact us 27

Page 160



3Healthwatch County Durham

It has been a full and rewarding 

year for all at Healthwatch 

County Durham. This report 

showcases how we have made a 

difference by engaging with you 

on important health and social 

care issues in the county so that 

we can make recommendations 

for future improvements and 

change. 
Our work this year has ranged across a variety of 

local health and social care services from 

pharmacies and GP surgeries to cancer screening 

programmes. Healthwatch County Durham is 

delighted to be:

+ involved in making sure stroke patients get the 

right support to meet their needs after an 

existing service was decommissioned

+ supporting the success of cancer screening 

programmes by finding out what is stopping 

people from getting screened and how these 

barriers might be overcome

+ delivering a programme of Enter and View 

visits at local GP surgeries to identify and 

share good practice 

This year we have been proud to be awarded the 

County Durham Volunteering Kite Mark in 

recognition of our supportive programme for 

volunteers.  We are also on our way to becoming 

a dementia friendly organisation, with all staff 

and volunteers offered training to become 

“dementia friends”.

I hope you enjoy reading our report and trust you 

will find we have indeed tried to be the voice of 

the people for health and social care issues in 

County Durham. Be assured we share your 

feedback with Healthwatch England and the Care 

Quality Commission as well as local decision 

makers.

My sincere thanks to all staff, board members 

and volunteers for their dedication this year.

Best wishes,

Brian Jackson

"

Message from 
our Chair

“Healthwatch County Durham 

is ensuring patients and 

service users have a voice”

Page 161



4Healthwatch County Durham

Highlights from 
our year

We’ve reached 

2,783 people 

on social media

Our 26 volunteers 

have helped with 

everything from 

Enter and View visits 

to website 

design

We’ve tackled issues 

ranging from 

pharmacies to 

stroke 

services in 

our reports We’ve engaged 

with 897 women 

on cervical screening

We’ve given 

234 people 

information and 

advice

We’ve engaged with 

883 people at 

outreach events

Our volunteers have 

given 1,662 
hours of support

We’ve captured 

2,045 people’s 

views about health 

screening

Page 162



5Healthwatch County Durham

Who we are

Healthwatch County Durham helps 

you and your family get the best out 

of health and social care services in 

County Durham. We share your 

experiences and views of services 

with providers to encourage them to 

act on what matters to you. 

As well as championing your views locally, we also 

share your feedback with Healthwatch England, 

who use your voice to encourage the government to 

put people at the heart of national health policy. 

Our team

The staff team are supported by a group of 

dedicated volunteers and board members and are 

passionate about making sure everyone’s views are 

heard and making health and social care services 

the best they can be for everybody in the county.

The Pioneering Care Partnership (PCP), Durham 

Community Action (DCA) and Citizens Advice 

County Durham (CACD) are accountable for delivery 

of Healthwatch in County Durham. 

“The Board, Marianne and her team are to be 

congratulated. Healthwatch is now presenting the 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) with very 

positive and constructive ideas about current issues 

in the NHS which means together we can improve 

services.”

Feisal Jassat, Lay Chair, North Durham CCG

“Healthwatch has achieved so much during 

2017-18, with over 2000 views received on 

work plan items, volunteering hours 

increased by over 1000 from the previous 

year and the Information and Signposting 

service has received 37% more enquiries. 

Going forward we will aim to hear even 

more people’s views so that we can continue 

to help shape health and social care 

provision effectively”

Carol Gaskarth, PCP Chief Executive

Page 163



6Healthwatch County Durham

Meet the board

Zena Jones

Board member

“It has been exciting to be 

involved in such a wide variety 

of projects with the team this 

year. In particular, the work 

on stroke services has stood 

out particularly for me. I am 

also keen on digital 

developments so it has been 

great to see improvements in 

the website and Twitter feed. 

Most important, however, has 

been the celebration of our 

volunteers through the Kite 

Mark award. We could not 

have the reach we do without 

the support they give our 

brilliant staff team so a very 

big thank you to everyone 

involved!”

It has been another 
busy year for the 
staff and volunteers 
of Healthwatch 
County Durham. I 
was delighted to be 
able to represent 
Healthwatch as a 
“partner member 
on the Local 
Safeguarding Adults 
Board. There are 
three statutory 
partners 
constituting a 
Safeguarding Adults 
Board (Health, Local 
Authority and 
Police) al

though in 

Chris Shore

Board member

“It has been another busy 

year for the staff and 

volunteers of Healthwatch 

County Durham. The team’s 

engagement work with 

vulnerable women has 

provided very useful 

background information about 

how safeguarding works, and 

is understood, around the 

county. Meanwhile, on a 

personal note, I have been 

delighted to be able to 

represent the organisation as 

a partner member on the 

Local Safeguarding Adults 

Board. ”

“A year which has seen the 

volunteers deservedly 

recognised through their 

Durham Volunteer Kite Mark 

award. The strong sense of 

purpose, and in particular the 

focus on the voice of the 

patient demonstrated by all 

elements of Healthwatch 

County Durham, in no small 

part has contributed to its 

achievements. The 

availability of the signposting 

service, enabling all members 

of the public to contact the 

team directly, has shown the 

team’s commitment to 

offering individual support 

and resolving people’s 

issues.”

Judi Evans

Board member

Page 164



7Healthwatch County Durham

Meet the board

Burnard Hume

Board member

“It has been an interesting 

year at Healthwatch and I 

have enjoyed supporting the 

NHS Quality Improvement 

Board for the Foundation 

Trust. Healthwatch is ensuring 

the patient, service user and 

carer voice is heard. The 

partnerships embedded in the 

work we do is helping to  

achieve positive change.”
Mary Mitchell

Board member

“As one of the long-standing 

board members it has been 

rewarding to see the 

difference Healthwatch is 

making to the county. I’m 

especially interested in making 

sure residents in more rural 

areas have an opportunity to  

share their views about the 

way services are delivered.”

Lakkur Murthy

Board member

“Using my many years 

experience in the NHS I have 

continued to  support 

Healthwatch, ensuring that 

residents in County Durham 

have been informed about, 

and able to influence, changes 

to health services in the 

county. I am confident we will 

continue this important work 

over the next year.”

Jim Welch

Board member

“I have been a board member 

for Healthwatch County 

Durham over the past two 

years. The work and projects 

over that time have been 

relevant and interesting. In 

particular, I have enjoyed 

working on the Great North 

Care Record project with good 

support from other board  

members and members of 

staff. This project helped 

people from a variety of 

backgrounds, and with 

differing health needs, to 

understand where medical 

records are kept and how 

secure they are. It should give 

people confidence to ask more 

questions about their care 

records, especially people 

with visual impairments

across the county.”

Page 165



8Healthwatch County Durham

Your views on 
health and social care

Page 166



9Healthwatch County Durham

Listening to people’s feedback 
on pharmacy services

In summer 2017, we went out and about to gather 

people’s views on local pharmacy services. Working 

alongside the Local Pharmaceutical Committee 

(LPC) and Public Health, we visited a range of 

pharmacies in both rural and urban locations, from 

large chains to independents. We also produced an 

online survey which we shared on our website and 

via a number of agencies, including Age UK and 

Investing in Children. 

The people we spoke to were overwhelmingly 

positive about their local pharmacy, with almost 

94% (367 out of 397 people) saying they found 

pharmacy staff polite and helpful. We also asked 

people what additional services they would like to 

access from their local pharmacy or GP practice 

dispensary and the three most requested services 

were:

+ extended opening hours

+ disposal of needles and sharps boxes

+ health checks, e.g. blood pressure monitoring

We made several recommendations for developing 

services based on people’s feedback and the two 

that have been adopted by the LPC are: 

+ to make sure all pharmacies have facilities for 

people to consult a pharmacist in private and 

also that these are clearly advertised

+ to develop a targeted strategy to encourage 

more young people to access pharmacy services

In addition, Public Health have confirmed that, as 

a direct result of our recommendations, one of the 

three key actions included in the ongoing action 

plan for pharmacy services in County Durham will 

be to raise awareness of the wider range of 

services that are available at pharmacies. 

“Thank you again for working with us and 

community pharmacy to produce a really positive 

and informative account of community pharmacy 

services in County Durham.”

Greg Burke, chief officer of the Local 

Pharmaceutical Committee

• 7 pharmacy visits

• 2 community 

groups

• 397 people

Page 167



10Healthwatch County Durham

Enter and View

Part of the local Healthwatch programme is to 

carry out Enter and View visits where  

representatives visit health and social care 

services to find out how they are being run and 

make recommendations for improvements. In 

2017-18 we carried out four such visits in our area 

at Great Lumley GP surgery in Chester-le-Street;

Intrahealth Pharmacy in Chilton; John Lowe 

Pharmacy in Blackhill, and Bewick Pharmacy in 

Newton Aycliffe. We would like to thank the 

service providers, service users, visitors and staff 

for their contribution to the Enter and View 

programme.

Improving access to annual health 
checks for people with learning 
disabilities 

Young people and adults with learning disabilities 

who need more health support are entitled to a 

free annual health check. However, accessing 

services isn’t always easy, so we have been 

working with service users, the region’s Clinical 

Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and Durham County 

Council to increase the number of people taking 

up their health check.

We spoke to 100 people with learning disabilities 

about what they felt stopped them going for their 

health check. Based on what they told us we 

recommended: 

+ all eligible patients should be contacted in an 

appropriate and user-friendly manner to offer 

them a health check

+ any letters should be sent in an easy-read 

format

+ GPs should be encouraged to share best 

practice to maximise the uptake of health 
checks

“Thank you Healthwatch for visiting our practice.

We hope you were able to take away information

and ideas from viewing our practices and

procedures that will be helpful in your future work

and benefit other GP practices. Your visit has

certainly helped us focus our minds not only on

what we are doing well but also on areas where

we knew we needed to improve. In addition, it has

also highlighted further areas where we need to

develop and improve our service to patients.

The whole experience, from the initial approach

by Marianne [project lead] through to our

involvement with Claire [volunteer support] and

then the volunteers on the day, has been

extremely pleasurable and informative. The staff

here on the day have all been extremely

complimentary of your approach and methods.”

GP practice manager

+ GP surgeries should consider using alternative 

venues for health checks which may be less 

intimidating for people with learning 

disabilities 

+ the use of peer groups to promote health check 

uptake should be encouraged

And our recommendations are already having 

an impact…

+ Shinwell Medical Group is running a pilot 

scheme offering health checks in a community 

setting and we are monitoring patient feedback

+ an easy-read health check letter has been 

developed in partnership with the CCG and 

Durham County Council

+ all GP practices now have access to this gold 

standard invite to send to their patients

Page 168



11Healthwatch County Durham

Helping you find the 
answers

Page 169



12Healthwatch County Durham

Signposting you to the health and 
social care support you need 

Our Information and Signposting team is available 

Monday to Friday to help people with their health 

and social care queries – whether it’s finding a 

specific service or giving advice, for example on 

how to complain or get the most from your GP. 

In the last 12 months, the team has supported 234 

people with a wide variety of questions, covering 

topics including:

+ how to access emergency dental services

+ GP appointment systems

+ missing medical records

+ finding appropriate nursing care placements for 

relatives

Case study: Helping a patient voice 
their concerns

We were contacted by a patient who was anxious 

because a prescription they needed was changing 

and would not be available for 48 hours. They 

were worried about the impact this might have on 

their health. We contacted the pharmacy on the 

patient’s behalf to see if there was a solution. As 

a result, the pharmacy provided part of the 

prescription to cover the initial 48 hours with the 

remainder available to collect the next day. The 

patient was extremely happy with this outcome 

and the pharmacist was also pleased we had 

intervened as they had been unaware of the issue.

Case study: Improving awareness of 
dental services

Following the closure of two dental practices in 

the county over the last year, we have supported 

NHS England in signposting patients to other 

dentists in the area. We have also made 

recommendations to NHS England on how it could 

improve its signposting in future, based on the 

calls we received from concerned patients in 

these instances. For example, we suggested that, 

in future, any letters informing patients of 

closures should include both details of practices 

accessible to patients with mobility issues and 

details of the County Durham domiciliary dental 

practice. NHS England agreed these details would 

be included in future letters as standard. We also 

suggested that, in future, NHS England should 

inform local surgeries of any dental closures 

nearby so they can prepare for a likely increase in 

calls. NHS England said it does telephone local 

dental surgeries, however, it agreed that written 

signposting information should also be mailed to 

all those likely to be affected.

“Thank you for being so caring and 

professional. This is the first time that 

I've felt someone has listened to me.”

Signposting  service user

Page 170



13Healthwatch County Durham

“ADD WEBSITE LINK”
If you cannot access the electronic version, please contact us

and we can send the information to you in an alternative
format K

Finding health and 
social care services in 
County Durham

Are you having trouble finding the right health or social care service?

We have compiled a useful list of services around the county to help people find the right health 

support to meet their needs. This can be found on our website.

If you cannot access the electronic version of this document, please contact us on 0800 304 7039 

and we can arrange to send you the information in an alternative format. 

Keep up to date!

with local health and social care news, 

consultation and events, sign up to our e-bulletin 

at:

http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/

Page 171

http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/


14Healthwatch County Durham

Helping improve the county’s online 

information portal for adult care and 

support

Locate is a website run by Durham County Council 

that provides information about adult care, 

support, and advice services in the region. 

Impressed by our previous work on improving local 

care home websites, the Locate team asked us if 

we would work with them to look at the 

effectiveness of the Locate website and how it 

might be improved. They felt we could help them 

get a realistic user’s perspective on how well the 

website functions to meet people’s needs and 

answer their queries. 

A group of our volunteers have been working on 

the project for several months, using scenarios to 

help assess the website’s effectiveness. They 

reported their initial findings to the Locate team 

in April and will be continuing to liaise with the 

council on this next year.

“It was great to meet Healthwatch and the 

volunteers Tony and Mervyn who kindly took on 

this project, which must have been time-

consuming. We are always looking to improve 

Locate so thank you. Great partnership work!”

Lesley Watson, Locate team, Durham County 

Council

Page 172



15Healthwatch County Durham

Making a difference 
together

Page 173



16Healthwatch County Durham

“The biggest critic was myself. I hated 

the fact that I smoked but when I felt 

guilty it made me crave more.”

“Health professionals should be open to 

all ways of feeding.”

“Too many mums are left struggling with 

no support and made to feel guilty for 

using formula.”

“I was glad to receive daily telephone 

support from the maternity care 

assistants.”

A range of mothers’ views

Gathering views to improve 
maternity services

This year we spent time gathering views on 

maternity services at the request of health 

commissioners in North Durham and Durham 

Dales, Easington and Sedgefield. We looked 

specifically at breastfeeding and smoking 

during pregnancy and spoke to mothers about 

their experiences and choices around deciding 

whether or not to stop smoking and how to 

feed their babies. We also spoke to healthcare 

professionals and agencies in other areas to 

identify any initiatives they felt were 

improving outcomes for mothers and babies 

where they worked that could be learned from.

Our research showed that, overall, new 

mothers in County Durham felt supported 

whatever way they chose to feed their babies. 

However, women told us their experiences of 

post-natal support were not always what they 

had been led to expect. With regard to 

smoking in pregnancy, it was clear most 

women understood the risks to themselves and 

their babies if they continued to smoke, 

however, as with all addictions, early 

intervention was the key to helping them stop. 

We shared our findings and recommendations 

from this research with commissioners and 

partners in County Durham who welcomed our 

input and fed it into their own work looking at 

how to improve maternity services and reduce 

smoking in pregnancy. 

“The [Healthwatch] report did highlight that 

40% of women who were referred did not want 

to access the stop smoking service, therefore 

the recommendation of early intervention and 

Nicotine Replacement Therapy will be 

something we will look into.”

Vince Lacey, Senior Commissioning

Support Officer NECS

Page 174



17Healthwatch County Durham

“The screening detected my cancer very early and 

was dealt with incredibly well. It could have been 

so much worse had I not attended the screening.”

Working to reduce barriers to health 
screening

A major part of our work this year has been 

researching the barriers that stop people from 

accessing potentially life-saving cancer screening 

programmes. Although County Durham’s uptake is 

slightly higher than the average for England and 

the North East region, we wanted to find out if 

anything could be done to encourage even more 

people to participate. Improvements in uptake  

could mean more cancers detected at earlier, 

more treatable stages. 

We focused our work on breast, bowel and 

cervical cancer screening programmes. We 

wanted to hear from people from as wide a range 

of backgrounds as possible, so as well as using 

online surveys and conversations with people at 

widely accessed locations, we also carried out a 

mini “project within a project” aimed 

specifically at engaging women in more 

vulnerable positions. We used focus groups and 

one-to-one conversations at trusted places to 

capture the voices of women that otherwise 

might not have been heard, including:

+ women with mental health issues

+ women at risk of homelessness

+ women who are carers

+ women who have experienced domestic abuse

+ women from Gypsy, Traveller and Romany 

communities

Our impact

We made several key recommendations based on 

what people told us, including the need to better 

address some commonly held misconceptions 

about screening, such as that if someone is 

already being treated for one cancer they do not 

need to get checked for another. Our work has 

been well received by local CCGs and service 

providers and several changes to services are 

already being made as a result. 

+ Public Health have secured funding for two 

new cancer awareness-raising posts and our 

findings and recommendations will be used in 

their work

+ Specialist cancer nurses in the area have also 

received our findings and will be working with 

patients to give them a better understanding 

of screening and the potential implications of 

choosing to be screened or not

“I am partially disabled and would only 

comment on the mobile unit that the steps are 

no good for me and some form of ramp could 

help”

“I am being treated for another cancer elsewhere, 

so I had assumed that I don’t need to do this test 

as they will already have checked me for bowel 

cancer”
Page 175



18Healthwatch County Durham

Working with our 
partners

Great North Care Record

The Great North Care Record is a programme to 

create a new way of sharing medical information 

electronically across the North East and North 

Cumbria – a region covering a population of 

approximately 3.6m people. The aim is to produce 

a platform to join up records in frontline care with 

an analytics platform that will be shared by the 

NHS, local authorities, universities, and other 

organisations relating to health and social care. It 

is hoped this will make the region the safest place 

in the world to receive care and the best place to 

do research. 

All Healthwatch organisations within the North 

East and North Cumbria got involved with the 

programme. Our team hosted two events to help 

Connected Health Cities and Teesside University 

to engage with the public on the proposals. With 

these events we wanted to:

+ gather people’s views on current and future 

models of consent for use of information

+ provide information on the constraints of 

current practice in information sharing at the 

point of care, and in planning and research, and 

potential issues these can cause

+ gain feedback on people’s views and “tolerance 

levels” of how information sharing may develop 

in future 

“The consultation was on data and information 

sharing for use in healthcare, including for 

planning and research purposes, and hence was a 

sensitive and (potentially) complex topic. 

Healthwatch worked closely with us to scope how 

this could be done. Our timescale was quite 

challenging (September to mid-December 2017) 

but Healthwatch managed to achieve this and we 

totalled 21 sessions to about 340 participants from 

a variety of backgrounds. Despite the logistical 

challenges we couldn’t have envisaged the 

sessions going any better, and the level of 

participation and feedback received was 

invaluable in shaping our onward programme. To 

turn up to each session with everything ready, and 

the public participants fully informed, was way 

beyond our expectations! 

At all times Healthwatch staff were very 

professional and extremely well organised. They 

also had great knowledge of the needs and 

expectations of the people we wanted to engage 

with and how to do this successfully. We look 

forward to collaborating with the Healthwatch 

network again.”

Mark Walsh – Operations Director, 

Connecting Health CitiesPage 176



19Healthwatch County Durham

Page 177



20Healthwatch County Durham

When stroke patients found out a local support 

service was being decommissioned many turned to 

us for help. Our recommendations based on their 

feedback were well received and mean a new 

service will be better tailored to their needs.

#ItStartsWithYou

Early in 2017, stroke patients in County Durham 

were surprised to be told their community support 

service was being decommissioned – without any 

clear word on what, if anything, would replace it. 

Many contacted us with their fears. We responded 

by securing an extension of the existing service 

from commissioners, who then asked us to help 

gather feedback from patients and carers to help 

shape a new service to support stroke survivors 

once they leave hospital. 

We spoke to 155 people over a three-month 

period using a mixture of online surveys, postal 

questionnaires and face-to-face engagement. 

From this we made some core recommendations 

relating to:

+ developing clear support pathways

+ providing person-centred support plans

+ providing clear, informative literature, 

including details of local support such as 

voluntary groups

+ providing advice about heathy lifestyles and 

other measures to reduce the risk of further 

strokes

A great result for patients

We published our report in November 2017 and 

were delighted when commissioners agreed to put 

in place new services for stroke patients provided 

by the Stroke Association that will incorporate our 

recommendations. They said our report was 

“influential” in their decision-making. Patients 

and carers were able to have a voice and 

influence service changes and as a result the new 

service should better meet their needs. A big 

thank you to everyone who gave us their views 

and so helped influence the service redesign in 

this way. It started with YOU!

“In terms of what will be different 

with the new service, the support 

offered by the Stroke Association will 

be a more integrated service including 

communications support, emotional 

support and safeguarding. The service 

will also undertake six-monthly 

reviews of stroke patients as 

recommended by NICE guidelines. 

This was not included in the previous 

service and helps to provide feedback 

on services received and required by 

the stroke survivor. The service will 

also support patients with their joint 

care plan, an area which was 

highlighted by the Healthwatch

report.”

Vince Lacey, Senior Commissioning 

Support Officer, NECS

Page 178



21Healthwatch County Durham

Our plans for next year

Page 179



22Healthwatch County Durham

Your priorities are our priorities…

In February and March 2018 we gave everyone in 

the county the opportunity to help decide which 

health and social care services we focus on for the 

next year. First we identified six key areas of 

concern for residents from our signposting and 

partnership work. These were:

+mental health support available for people with 

low level anxiety or stress

+GP appointment systems

+dementia support services - including referral 

processes

+patient transport – specifically the quality of 

information available about this

+support for those transitioning from children’s to  

adult services

+dental charging/treatment – understanding and 

accessing information about these

We then asked people which of these six areas 

they thought should be our priorities. More than 

500 people gave us their views via an online 

survey and through face-to-face interviews at a 

range of venues. As a result, the top four choices 

that will be prioritised in our work through 2018-

19 are:

+mental health services

+GP appointment systems

+dementia services

+transitions from children’s to adult services

We will let you know when you can tell us your 

views about these services and keep you up-to-

date with all our findings.

Enter and View

We have an ongoing programme of Enter and View 

visits to GP surgeries. These visits are carried out 

with the support of individual surgeries and are an 

opportunity for gathering patients’ views and 

identifying aspects of good practice that can be 

shared with other GPs.

Signposting

We will continue to provide high quality advice and 

support to those with health and social care 

queries, putting you at the centre of everything we 

do!

You talk. 

We listen. 

Together we 
influence! 

a) “It’s really important our work is driven by the 

public, patients and service users. That’s the 

way to ensure we prioritise what is important 

to them.”

Chris Shore, board member

Page 180



23Healthwatch County Durham

Our people

Page 181



24Healthwatch County Durham

Recognised for our quality work with 
volunteers 

This year we were delighted to receive the County 

Durham Kite Mark for our work with volunteers. The 

Kite Mark is given to organisations that provide a 

high quality, positive and inclusive volunteering 

experience. Being awarded the Kite Mark is 

recognition of how hard we work to support our 

volunteers’ development and to make them an 

integral part of everything we do. 

One aspect of our volunteering programme that 

Durham Community Action, the awarding body, said 

particularly stood out was the training we offer. 

Abby Thompson, Volunteer Development Manager 

at Durham Community Action, said the range and 

quality of training we make available to our 

volunteers was impressive. The effort we make to 

ensure our training is as accessible as possible was 

also noted. 

“We are always accompanied on visits. There are 

lots of team-working opportunities with the 

immediate coordinator, her manager or associated 

leads, and, where necessary, with the team as a 

whole.”

Volunteer

“I'm really enjoying acquiring new 

knowledge and using this with the 

Healthwatch team.” 

Research volunteer

“I am in a position to see what really 

happens and I definitely believe in 

Healthwatch making a difference to 

people”

Engagement volunteer

Page 182



25Healthwatch County Durham

I am just getting in touch with you to inform you that I am delighted to 
say that Healthwatch County Durham has met the required standard to 
be awarded County Durham Volunteer 
There are several aspect of the project which really stood out to us which 
I have shared below:

- The quality and relevance of the evidence.
- The “Recruitment Pack” document was particularly helpful in 

explaining the involvement of volunteer on the Healthwatch Board
- When meeting with the and Jean their positivity about the 

organisation and their role within it.
- The time that other volunteers took to complete the volunteer.

Volunteers work to improve how care 
homes communicate online

Last year, our volunteers carried out some research 

into the quality of County Durham care home 

websites. They found many issues with access, 

navigation and the amount of information provided. 

In response they compiled a list of the information 

they thought all care homes should provide online 

to improve people’s experience. This included:

+ an indication of fee levels 

+ details of any specialisms a provider might have

+ information about how open the service was to 

visitors

+ what activity programmes were provided

+ addresses with directions and maps

We shared these recommendations with care home 

providers in County Durham and one provider, 

Kaydar, offered to help develop and pilot a new 

website based around the volunteers’ 

recommendations. This website is well underway 

with input from Kaydar, Healthwatch volunteer 

Tony Bentley (right), and a local computer 

company, and we hope other care homes will use it 

as a good practice guide.

In response to this piece of work Durham County 

Council also changed their contract specification to 

make sure all care home providers put information 

on their services on “Locate”, which is the 

Council’s online directory of services, and keep this 

information up to date.”

“We found Tony unbelievably helpful when discussing 

and developing our care home website. We cannot 

state enough how valuable Tony’s input has been and 

very much appreciate, not only his personal input, but 

the sharing of the findings that his research work, 

through Healthwatch County Durham, showed as being 

important to users”

Noreen and Angus Burns (Kaydar)

Page 183



26Healthwatch County Durham

Our finances

Income £

Funding received from local authority to deliver local 

Healthwatch statutory activities 

205,119

Additional income 1,950

Total income 207,069

Expenditure £

Operational costs 60,202

Staffing costs 115,249

Office costs 14,576

Total expenditure 190,027

Balance brought forward 17,042

Healthwatch County Durham has 

maintained its funding from the local 

authority. Below is a breakdown of how the 

funds have been allocated.

Page 184



27Healthwatch County Durham

Contact us:
Write:                                                                                         

Healthwatch County Durham

Whitfield House 

St Johns Road

Meadowfield Industrial Estate

Durham

DH7 8XL

Telephone:

0191 378 1037 (office landline)

0191 378 7695 (volunteer support)

0800 304 7039 (Freephone signposting)

07756 654218 (text)

Email: healthwatchcountydurham@pcp.uk.net

Website: www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk

Twitter: @HWCountyDurham

Facebook: Healthwatch County Durham

Our annual report will be publicly available on our website from 30 June 2018. We will also be 

sharing it with Healthwatch England, the Care Quality Commission, NHS England, Clinical 

Commissioning Groups, Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and our local authority.

We confirm that we are using the Healthwatch Trademark (which covers the logo and Healthwatch 

brand) when undertaking work on our statutory activities as covered by the licence agreement.

If you require this report in an alternative format please contact us at the address above. 

©2018 Healthwatch County Durham is run by the Pioneering Care Partnership (PCP), Durham Community Action and 

Citizens Advice County Durham
Page 185



Whitfield House

St Johns Road

Meadowfield Industrial Estate

Durham

DH7 8XL

Web: www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk

Tel: 0800 304 7039

Email: healthwatchcountydurham@pcp.uk.net

Twitter: @HWCountyDurham

Facebook: Healthwatch County Durham

County Durham

Pioneering Care Partnership

Registered Charity No: 1067888

Company Limited by Guarantee No: 3491237

©2018 Healthwatch County Durham is run by the Pioneering Care Partnership (PCP), Durham Community Action and Citizens Advice 
County Durham

Page 186



 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
4 September 2018 
 
Health and Wellbeing - Area Action 
Partnership Links 
 

 

 
 

Report of Andy Coulthard, Area Action Partnership Coordinator, 
Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in relation to the work taking 

place to enhance the interface between Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and 
the Health and Wellbeing Board to improve the alignment of AAP developments 
and investments and the priorities of the Board.  
 

2 To make suggestions on how AAPs and the Health and Wellbeing Board can 
continue to develop their working relationship to better benefit residents in 
County Durham. 

 
Background 
 
3 The last report on the work of AAPs was presented to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board in January 2018. This report forms part of a regular update to the Board 
that reviews joint working between health and wellbeing partners and the 14 
AAPs. 
 

AAPs and Delivery Partnerships  
 
4 The following section provides an update on county wide partnerships and 

services in which the AAPs are involved. It has been agreed with the lead 
agencies responsible that progress summaries will be provided through this 
report to the Board.   

 
County Durham Dementia Action Alliance (CDDAA) and the Dementia Friendly 
Communities Network (DFCN) 

 
5 Cllr Lucy Hovvels - Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board attended the 

CDDAA in January 2018 and provided an overview of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, its priorities and how these may integrate with the CDDAA Action Plan.  
Cllr Hovvels and several other local elected members are at the heart of 
developing numerous Dementia Friendly Communities across the county in the 
next few years alongside partners and led by the Alzheimer’s Society.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 187

Agenda Item 12



 

 

6 There are 3 key objectives for the 2018/19 CDDAA Action Plan: 
 

 To Create and support the development of Dementia Friendly 
Communities across County Durham 

 To raise the awareness of dementia amongst children & younger people 

 To examine ways in which the CDDAA can tackle isolation amongst 
those affected by dementia 

 
There are numerous partners feeding into the plan including AAPs, Durham 
County Council Adult and Health Services Commissioning, Her Majesty’s 
Passport Office, Beamish, Care Homes and Hospices. 

 
7 Working alongside the Alliance, and supporting its first objective, is the 

Dementia Friendly Communities (DFC) Network which has been established by 
the Alzheimer’s Society to share best practice and support those who are in the 
process of establishing DFCs.  There are approximately 9 existing DFCs in the 
County, however, there are a further 15 currently being developed with 
numerous more to follow. 

 
AAPs Update  
 
8 As highlighted in January’s report there are 11 AAPs who have Health and 

Wellbeing as a key priority, each of these are operating a task and finish group 
and through the use of the 2016/17 AAP Priority Survey, their AAP Profile and 
service partner knowledge they have identified key issues to examine. During 
2017 each AAP Board agreed to keep their priority themes for a period of 2 
years to allow longer term focus on key areas of work.  An overview of all 14 
AAPs Key Priorities can be found in Appendix 2. 

 

9 In summary, the Priority Survey for the Health and Wellbeing theme highlighted 
mental health, access to health services and physical health as their top three 
issues or causes for concern.    

 
10 What should also be noted is that all 14 AAPs have ‘Children, Young People 

and Families’ as a priority theme and 8 have ‘Support for Older People’ as a 
theme, both of which have mental health and emotional wellbeing as key 
issues/areas for concern.  

 
11 AAPs receive core funding of £100,000 each year. In recent years this has 

been supplemented with additional funding linked to health, welfare reform and 
youth work. AAPs also support the 126 County Councillors in allocating their 
Neighbourhood Budgets (£19,400 per Councillor). 

 
12 From 2018/19 to 2020/21 (3 years) each AAP will receive £25,000 from the 

Adult Care Transformation and Innovation Fund (ACTIF)’ to establish an Older 
People’s Social Isolation Fund.  Criteria for this fund has been agreed between 
Adults and Health Commissioning and AAPs and is now being implemented 
across each AAP.  An update on how this is progressing will be provided in our 
next report to the Board in 2019. 

  

Page 188



 

 

13 In 2017/18 the AAPs and Elected Members allocated £561,020 of AAP Area 
and Neighbourhood Budget to 98 health and wellbeing projects, this in turn 
attracted an additional £810,055 of matched funding. Details on projects are 
available on request. However the number of projects and monies allocated to 
projects is significantly higher when taking into account projects developed 
under other AAP priorities such as Children, Young People and Families and 
Older People. 

 
Summary of AAP Health & Wellbeing Projects 
 
14 AAPs have funded several projects during 2017/18 that support the key 

objectives of the Health and Wellbeing Board. A number of these have been 
highlighted below under the key objective headings. Further information is 
available from the AAPs on all of the projects summarised. 

 
Children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in life 
 
15 The Childcare Pathway project in Stanley will see the Early Years Team in 

partnership with Stanley Area Action Partnership, North Durham Community 
Led Local Development (CLLD) and Single Homeless Action Initiative in 
Durham (SHAID) working together to develop and deliver a bespoke package 
of support to enable eligible individuals within the Stanley area to either 
become Ofsted Registered Childminders or progress towards employment 
within the childcare sector.  Whilst primarily an employment project seeking to 
work with 20 unemployed residents, the benefits of having more fully qualified 
minders will support the best start in life for those children they are working 
with. 

 
16 The Growing Up Healthy and Safe project delivered by the Pre-School 

Learning Alliance has been supported by several AAPs including 4 Together; 
Bishop and Shildon; Chester-le-Street and Derwent Valley. The project will 
work with ten local community toddler groups within the Derwent Valley area to 
educate families on making healthy choices and providing safe places for 
young children. Each group will receive five x 4hour visits centred on healthy 
and safe families.  Across the groups the project will seek to work with 500 
individuals.  

 
Reduce health inequalities and early deaths 
  
17 The Community Wellness Coordinator project was supported again by 

Weardale AAP to build on their previous successes in supporting over 200 of 
the most vulnerable people in the Weardale area. The Community Wellness 
Coordinator continues to have face-to-face contact with these people, in their 
homes or in accessible venues, to facilitate signposting to services of value, 
reduce social isolation, and offer advice in improving health and wellbeing. The 
Community Wellness Coordinator will continue and develop screening 
programmes for undiagnosed conditions, including atrial fibrillation, and will 
work closely with primary care colleagues to reduce long-term mortality risks. 
The aim of the project is to not duplicate existing programmes but to make 
accessible to the whole community, the benefits of a holistic and inclusive 
community based service.  Its target for 2018/19 is to work with 150 residents.  

Page 189



 

 

18 The Warmth & Wellness project is supported by 4 AAPs (Chester le Street, 
Durham, Mid Durham and Stanley) who are working with the County Durham 
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service to develop a pilot project to address 
issues over winter deaths (cold related). A gap in provision was recognised by 
the Severe Weather Plan group when housing and social care partners 
highlighted schemes previously delivered by partners to provide vulnerable 
residents with heaters and winter warmth supplies had ceased. The AAPs have 
funded the pilot project which is based on a 24/7 service model of provision 
which has been in existence in Cleveland for 8 years and is delivered by their 
Fire and Rescue service. The pilot will operate until March 2019 with an 
ongoing evaluation being fed back into the Severe Weather Plan group.  The 
project aims to work with 40 residents. 

Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for people with long 
term conditions 

19 A Dementia Friendly Communities Coordinator will work across Derwent 
Valley, Chester-le-Street, Mid Durham, and Stanley AAP areas to develop 
Dementia Friendly Communities. The Coordinator will also work with the 
County Durham Housing Association Forum partners to increase dementia 
awareness and develop Dementia Friends Champions in the relevant 
Associations. The Coordinator will engage with a variety of partners to work 
towards becoming dementia friendly, in particular making towns/villages more 
accessible, raising awareness about dementia in order to reduce stigma, and 
promoting independence and improving the quality of life of those people 
affected by dementia.  The project will seek to work with over 20 
groups/services; 30 different buildings and over 400 residents. 

20 The Pioneering Care Partnership’s Buddies Befriending Service has once 
again been supported by GAMP AAP. The aim of the project is to support older 
residents, specifically those who are isolated and lonely as a result of illness, 
disability, age or family circumstances, so rather than becoming increasingly 
dependent on family members, social and medical services, they are more 
likely to live independently in their own homes and, at the same time, become 
integrated in the community. As part of a wider care package of support, 
befriending can help build resilience to adversity, increase social networks, 
improve the quality of life and provide support to amenities or access to other 
services, helping to improve future mental health and wellbeing. The project 
has already worked with 283 older residents and aims in the next year to work 
with a further 150.  

Improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the population 

21 Funding will be used to extend the Come Eat Together activities to reach 
additional older people. The project will develop two new Shopping Clubs using 
accessible transport to pick older people up from their homes, support them in 
their shopping & return them safely to their homes. Deliver social activities in 
community venues across Teesdale to bring older people together including our 
Eat Well Feel Great accredited training course, coffee mornings, Grow to Eat 
sessions and shopping online sessions. Recruit volunteers to assist with the 
activities described above to promote sustainability for the future. The project 
will target work with 200 older people across Teesdale. 

Page 190



 

 

22 Derwent Valley AAP have supported the delivery of two performances of ‘She 
Wins All the Races’ a ‘tragicomedy with biscuits’ to Consett Academy and 
Blackhill Comrades Club for specific invited groups of vulnerable people. The 
show is based on the performer’s true story of growing up with both of her 
brothers who were born with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy and died aged 16 
years old. Additionally there will be the delivery of drama workshops to students 
at Consett Academy aimed at vulnerable groups focussing on those 
experiencing emotional difficulties. Finally, selected young people from the 
workshops will engage in a more intensive two day summer holiday drama 
project which will see them devise their own performance on the theme of 
‘Emotional Resilience’ using their personal stories and culminating in a 
performance of their very own to family and friends.  The project will seek to 
work with 380 residents. 

23 Active Valley is a concept developed through the Mid Durham AAP in 
partnership with Durham County Council Culture and Sport, Wellbeing for Life 
and Active Durham.  The project will cover two years and seek to develop a 
network of partners and provision along the Deerness Valley that will 
encourage those who are already physically active to continue to be, and try 
more activity, whilst identifying those that are less active and getting them 
motivated and engaged in physical activity.  Active Valley will run alongside a 
project which seeks to refurbish and develop the Public Rights of Way along 
the Valley.  It will also be part of an Active Durham programme which will seek 
to use an asset/place based approach to encourage more physical activity 
within specific areas.  Active Valley will pilot the rural approach whilst Active 
Shildon will look at an urban angle.  Active Valley will seek to engage nearly 
600 residents of all ages.   

Protect vulnerable people from harm 
 
24 Make do and mend (Weardale AAP) will create a film of a play which was 

developed by Changing Relations on the subject of Domestic Abuse (DA).  The 
project will write, design and print a training resource pack and educational 
support programme to accompany it and drive home the key messages. The 
goal of the project is to raise awareness of the signs that someone known to 
members of the community is affected by DA and the many complex reasons 
victims don’t ‘just leave’ abusive relationships.  The target for the project is to 
work with over 560 young people across schools in Weardale. 

25 The Chrysalis Project supports children, young people and their families who 
are survivors of domestic abuse. BASH have supported the project which takes 
a whole family approach in supporting the family to develop better relationships 
and coping strategies to recover from the traumatic experience of living in an 
abusive home. The programme includes one to one mentoring and a 
programme of diversionary activities to rebuild the family relationships.  It also 
has a preventative slant which includes workshops in secondary schools for 
young females to empower them and prevent them from entering the cycle of 
abuse.  Plus a workshop for young males which sends out a clear message 
that there is no room for power and control in a healthy relationship. 

 
 

Page 191



 

 

Shared and Supported Work 
 
26 AAPs continue to be part of and input into the Severe Weather Plan, Active 

Durham, Mental Health, Teen Pregnancy and Sexual Health and Suicide 
Prevention Alliance/ Groups. The AAP representative responsible for 
connecting AAP work with that of the Health and Wellbeing Board partners is 
also part of the County Durham Partnership Event Planning group which will 
focus on Mental Health and take place on the 10 October 2018. 

 
27 The AAPs will be approaching residents during August and September to 

complete the Priority Survey which provides AAPs with a guide as to where 
residents feel they and their partners should concentrate their future efforts.  
These will not only help the AAPs to choose their priority themes for 2019/20 
and 2020/21, but will also be used to help establish the foundations for a new 
vision for the County Durham Partnership.  
 

28 AAPs are keen to ensure that they are working with the most up to date 
information so continued regular updates from the Health and Wellbeing 
Board on reports such as this help to shape local actions supported by the 
AAPs. All AAPs have Board meetings and task and finish groups and the AAP 
Coordinators meet regularly so there are plenty of opportunities to share 
information at a local and county level.  In addition, prior to approving AAP 
projects, comments are sought from the relevant statutory agencies on the 
proposed action. 
 

29 AAPs have Forum membership of approximately 15,000 and send regular e-
bulletins to their members.  Each AAP also has their own Facebook pages 
that can be utilised to raise key messages and consultations to local 
communities.  The Health and Wellbeing Board have recently agreed the 
focus of media campaigns over the year and the AAP Facebook pages could 
be a further way of getting the messages out to communities. 

 
Recommendations 

 
30 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to note: 

 
a) The work that is taking place. 
b) The improved alignment of work of the AAPs to the Health and 

Wellbeing Board. 
c) The work by the AAPs during 2017/18 on addressing the Health and 

Wellbeing agenda 
d) The shared work that AAPs and partners are currently working on. 

 

Contact:  Andy Coulthard, Area Action Partnership Coordinator, Durham 
County Council   

Tel:  07818 510370  

 
 

Page 192



 

 

 
 

Finance                       
The finance highlighted within this report is linked to budgets provided to the AAPs 
via Durham County Council. 
 
Staffing         
Not applicable 
 
Risk          
Not applicable 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty    
Not applicable 
 
Accommodation        
Not applicable 
 
Crime and Disorder        
Not applicable 
 
Human Rights        
Not applicable 
 
Consultation         
The AAPs engage with local residents and partners throughout the year and base 
their work on the contributions provided. They provide an opportunity for residents 
and partners to be part of the working groups tasked to examine, develop and 
evaluate the outcomes of the aforementioned contributions. 
 
Procurement         
Not applicable 
 
Disability Issues        
A number of the projects/programmes highlighted within this report will have a 
positive impact on the quality of life of those residents and their families that are 
impacted upon by certain disabilities. 
 
Legal Implications        
Not applicable 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 193



 

 

            
Appendix 2: AAP Priorities 
            
 

AAP 2018-19 Priorities 
 

3 Towns Children, Young People and Families 
Health and Wellbeing 
Community Safety (Overarching Priority) 

4 Together Children, Young People and Families 
Health and Wellbeing 
Older People 

Bishop Auckland and 
Shildon 

Children, Young People and Families 
Community Safety 
Employment, Enterprise and Training 

Chester le Street and 
District 

Thriving Chester-le-Street: Focusing on Town Centre 
Development and Employment 
Supporting Chester-le-Street 
Environment and Community Safety 

Derwent Valley Children, Young People and Families 
Health and Wellbeing 
Employment, Enterprise and Training 
Environment 

Durham Children, Young People and Families 
Older People 
Promotion of the City Centre/AAP 

East Durham Children, Young People and Families 
Health and Wellbeing 
Maintaining the Social Fabric of Our Community 

East Durham Rural Children, Young People and Families 
Health and Wellbeing 
Older People 

Great Aycliffe and 
Middridge  

Children, Young People and Families 
Older People 
Employment, Enterprise and Training 

Mid Durham Children, Young People and Families 
Community Safety 
Health and Wellbeing 
Environment 

Spennymoor Safer, Stronger, Healthier Communities 
Culture, Environment, Tourism and Heritage 

Stanley Children, Young People and Families 
Health and Wellbeing 
Older People 
Employment, Enterprise and Training 
Community Safety 

Teesdale Children, Young People and Families 
Older People 
Employment, Enterprise and Training 

Weardale Children Young People and Families 
Health and Wellbeing 
Supporting Local Groups 
Culture, Tourism and Heritage 

 

Page 194



 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
4 September 2018 
 
Public Health and Spatial Policy teams 
working together to address health and 
health inequalities  
  

 
 

Joint Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council, and Stuart Timmiss Head of Planning 
and Assets, Regeneration and Local Services, Durham County Council   

 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update on the partnership 

working between Durham County Council public health and spatial policy teams to 
address health and health inequalities across the county.  

2 To present two strands of work jointly developed relating to the County Durham 
Plan around Health Impact Assessment and the Hot Food Takeaways (A5 uses) 
Policy.  

Background 

3 Health is influenced by a wide range of interconnected factors. These wider social 
determinants of health include lifestyle choices, economic factors and social and 
environmental factors relating to the natural and built environment with which we 
interact.  
 

4 The wider, social determinants of health have a key role in underpinning individual 
and societal wellbeing.  Variations in experience of the wider determinants of health 
is a fundamental cause of health outcomes (the causes of the causes) and 
underpins inequalities in health.  Addressing the wider determinants of health is key 
to reducing health inequalities. 
 

5 The built environment is one of the many interrelated factors that influence people’s 
behaviour and the choices that they are able to make. The health and wellbeing of 
communities cannot be an afterthought; it must begin with the planning process. 
 

Addressing inequalities in County Durham.  
 

6 Inequalities in County Durham are greatly impacted by the environment in which 
residents live work and socialise.  This is depicted in the ‘bus ride across County 
Durham’ infographic developed by DCC Public Health Intelligence team (see 
overleaf) which highlights the influence of ‘place’, outlining the different experiences 
in healthy life expectancy for both men and women among differing communities 
within the county. 

Page 195

Agenda Item 13



 
 

 
 
 

7 Strong political leadership for health and wellbeing is evident in County Durham. 
The County Durham Partnership Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) sets out 
the long term vision for an altogether better County Durham by 2030. The SCS and 
work across all thematic partnerships has a strong focus upon the wider 
determinants of health including the environment.  
 

8 The vision for County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016 – 2019 is 
to ‘improve the health of the people of County Durham and reduce health 
inequalities’. The JHWS has informed Local Authority plans, Clinical Commissioning 
Group intentions and plans, SCS and NHS provider plans.  
 

9 Durham County Council Public Health vision is to ‘improve and protect the 
wellbeing of the people of County Durham and reduce health inequalities’ by taking 
forward a strategic approach based upon best evidence and evaluation and that is 
underpinned by a community led asset based approach that sets out a clear and 
positive narrative to address prevention and inequalities across the life course. 

 
Spatial Policy and Public Health working together.  

 
10 The Health & Social Care Act (2012) gave statutory duties for local authorities to 

take appropriate steps to improve population health.  The vision being that local 

authorities would put health and wellbeing at the heart of everything they do.  

 

11 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2018) acknowledges the role of 

planning in improving health, and requires local authorities to promote healthy and 

safe communities through planning policies and decisions which: promote social 

Page 196



 
 

inclusion; achieve safe and accessible communities; and enable and support 

healthy lifestyles. 

 
12 Whilst not an intervention itself, planning is an enabler. Good spatial planning helps 

improve the ‘liveability’ of areas because the way places are planned positively or 
negatively affects that area’s health.  
 

13 Creating environments that support people to develop and sustain healthy 
behaviours is a key challenge for policy makers. Locally the challenge is how to 
build on national guidance and best practice to bring about real change within local 
communities.   

 
The County Durham Plan - Spatial Policy and Public Health working together to 

deliver a Health Impact Assessment on the County Durham Plan (the Local Plan) 

14 Local authorities need to ensure that the health impacts of different policies are 
assessed and health considerations integrated into planning across all 
departments. This will ensure that health benefits are realised across the broad 
spectrum of local authority functions, rather than remaining as isolated strands of 
good practice.  
  

15 The NPPF (2018) makes it clear that local planning authorities have a responsibility 
to promote healthy communities. Achieving sustainable development includes 
“fostering a well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and 
open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health, 
social and cultural wellbeing”. 
 

16 In order to ensure that County Durham is a successful place to live, work, invest 
and visit, the Local Plan focusses on supporting and creating vibrant communities 
by delivering: 

 More and better jobs and sustained economic growth;   

 A wide choice of high quality homes that supports economic growth and 

meets the needs of all people;  

 A high quality built and enhanced natural environment; and 

 The necessary supporting infrastructure including transport, health and 

educational needs 

 

17 To ensure that health considerations have been embedded into the Plan, health 
considerations have been included as a key part of the Sustainability Appraisal 
process.  
 

18 A public consultation was undertaken on the County Durham Plan Preferred 
Options which concluded on the 3rd August 2018. In total, 4000 comments have 
been received from 1100 consultees. All comments received are now available to 
view on our website and will be considered in the preparation of the Pre-Submission 
draft of the County Durham Plan. 

 
 
 

Page 197



 
 

Ensuring healthy policies  
 
19 Health Impact Assessment (HIA) training has recently taken place with a number of 

colleagues across Durham County Council. This was aimed at ensuring that there 
was a shared skill set and narrative in our approach to a HIA. Feedback from this 
was universally positive with many participants highlighting that the approach had 
enabled further constructive discussion between planners and public health 
professionals. 

 
20 A HIA considers the impact directly upon disease and also considers the social 

determinants of health which impact our residents, unequally, across County 
Durham. By using these social determinants a HIA can support the development of 
healthy public policy. 
 

21 A task and finish group has been established to ensure the delivery of the HIA. This 
group has membership from spatial policy, sustainability, public health, research 
and public health intelligence and the AAPs. 
 

22 As part of the HIA process, a range of policies within the County Durham Plan have 
been identified by the task and finish group to move forward to the next stages of 
the HIA process. 

 
23 This collective approach has provided the task and finish group with opportunities to 

engage colleagues across the authority, share expertise and explore pragmatic 
approaches to improving health promoting policies within Durham County Council.  
 

24 The task and finish group are currently progressing the HIA process on these 
policies. The HIA process will be completed and the work plan developed to enable 
timely reporting to inform further progression of the County Durham Plan.    

 
Spatial Policy and Public Health working together to address obesity in County 
Durham 
 
25 Obesity is a population health and inequalities problem which has profound long 

term consequences for the health and wellbeing of communities in County Durham. 

 

26 Within County Durham levels of obesity among our child and adult populations 

continue to increase and remain significantly worse than the England average.   

 

 For children in our reception years and Year 6 National Child Measurement 

Programme (NCMP) data 2016/17 shows that in these year groups alone, 

there are around 3400 children; 103 classrooms; across the County,  who 

are overweight or obese.   

 For our adult population, being overweight is the norm with almost 7 in 10 

adults in County Durham overweight or obese.   

On average, obesity reduces life expectancy by 6 – 7 years, however children from 

lower income households are more than twice as likely to be obese than those in 

high income households. 

 

 

Page 198



 
 

The out of home food environment and obesity 

27 While people may aspire to eat a healthy diet, many still find it difficult to do so.  

Many people live in environments which encourage excess weight gain and obesity, 

where less than healthier choices are the default; the easy option - for some they 

are the only option.  

 

28 The public sector and local food businesses have great influence over the lives of 

local communities and the food choices available. During the past decade in the UK 

consumption of food away from the home has increased by 29%, whilst the number 

of takeaway or fast food outlets has increased dramatically.  

 
29 New data from Public Health England (PHE) reveal England’s poorest areas have 

around five times more outlets than in the most affluent communities. This data also 

suggests fast food outlets – including chip shops, burger bars and pizza places –

account for more than a quarter (26%) of all eateries in England.  

 

30 The recent PHE data shows that in County Durham we have 624 fast food outlets.  

This number appears high when compared to neighbouring local authorities, 

however there is a need to be mindful of the geographical scale of County Durham.  

When numbers of fast food outlets for every 100,000 population are considered, our 

rate of 119.6, whilst still significantly higher than England as a whole (96.5), is 

comparable with or lower than other North East areas.  

 
Draft Hot food takeaways (A5 Uses) Policy County Durham 

31 In ‘Working towards a healthy weight in County Durham’ (2018) working with 
planning and licensing colleagues to develop public health driven policies 
specifically around hot food takeaways and street trading was identified by County 
Durham Healthy Weight Alliance as a gap and a key goal in taking forward the 
whole system approach to addressing obesity in County Durham.  
 

32 Durham County Council public health and spatial policy teams are working in 
partnership and have carried out work together to address the issue of hot food 
takeaway proliferation.  In the County Durham Preferred Options – a specific policy 
has been developed and consulted upon to address future development of hot food 
takeaways (see Appendix 2).   
 

33 This draft policy seeks to minimise the potential detrimental impacts of hot food 
takeaways specifically in areas of existing high proliferation and to promote healthy 
lifestyles among children and young people, proposing restrictions for future 
applications within: 
 

 Sub-regional, large town, small town and district centres where the proposal 
would result in more than 5% of the premises within the centre being A5 use. 
 

 400m of existing or proposed school or college buildings.  
 
This policy is underpinned by the public health evidence base around fast food and 
its impact upon health (https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/ 
number 23 in list).All comments received to this policy are publically available and 

Page 199

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


 
 

their content is being considered in preparation for the Pre-Submission County 
Durham Plan. 
 

34 The Hot Food Takeaway Policy will support our young people, families and 
communities to be able to live and interact within environments where healthier 
choices are the easy choice.   
 

35 Whilst this policy supports restrictions proposed for new premises, work is being 
developed by public health concurrently to support Licensing staff and 
Environmental Health and Consumer Protection staff to begin a dialogue with 
existing out of home food providers to more widely promote a healthier food and 
drink offer.  
 

36 The work outlined here to address the existing and future out of home food offer in 
County Durham is a fundamental element within the multi-agency work ongoing 
across the whole system to address obesity in County Durham that is being driven 
forward by the Healthy Weight Alliance (HWA), a sub group of the County Durham 
Health and Wellbeing Board.   
 

37 This work addresses identified gaps and goals within the system and, as part of the 
wider systems working to address obesity in County Durham, will support the 
Healthy Weight Alliance to achieve the long term vision to: halt the rise in obesity in 
County Durham by 2022 and, by focussing resources upon addressing inequalities, 
see a sustained decline in obesity rates locally to below England national average 
by 2025.  
 

Recommendations  
 
38 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are requested to: 

 
a) Note the content of this report  

 
b) Note the continued joint working between Durham County Council public 

health, spatial policy, sustainability, research and public health intelligence 
and research, and AAPs. 

 
c) Support and engage with the HIA process on the County Durham Plan and, 

as part of the HIA process, participate in the planned Health and Wellbeing 
Board development session (26th September).  

 
d) Note the content of the draft Hot Food Takeaway (A5 Uses) Policy and the 

public health evidence base which have been subject to consultation as part 
of the County Durham Plan Preferred Options consultation.  
 

 

Contact: Karen McCabe, Public Health Advanced Practitioner, Durham County Council. 
Tel: 03000 267676    

 
 
 
 

Page 200



 
 

 

Appendix 1: Implications 

 
Finance – N/A - partnership working to date has been developed within existing resource 
capacity  
 
Staffing – N/A - partnership working to date has been developed within existing resource 
capacity 
 
Risk – The long term impact of the policies may mean that the improvement to health 
outcomes are not immediately evident.  
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – the process will be aware of 
equality and diversity. An HIA is built upon the principles of delivering equity. 
 
Accommodation – N/A. 
 
Crime and Disorder – N/A. 
 
Human Rights – N/A. 
 
Consultation –the Hot Food Takeaway Policy (A5 Uses) will be subject to a further round 
of consultation as part of the Regulation 19 stage the County Durham Plan. Part of the HIA 
process may involve engagement with the community. It is anticipated AAPs are pivotal in 
exploring the possible health impacts to a local area. 
 
Procurement – N/A. 
 
Disability Issues – The HIA will seek to ensure equity across the identified policies. 
 
Legal Implications – Local plans must be positively prepared, justified, effective and 
consistent with national policy in accordance with section 20 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). The NPPF gives guidance to local authorities in drawing up their local 
plans. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



 
 

Appendix 2 - Draft Hot food takeaways (A5 Uses) Policy County Durham 

Reducing levels of obesity is a key objective of the council. One way this can be achieved 
is to encourage healthy eating. Large concentrations of hot food takeaways within our town 
centres can have the opposite effect by encouraging unhealthy eating habits. An over-
concentration of hot food takeaways can also have a detrimental impact on vitality and 
viability. They can also give rise to concerns about noise, disturbance, odours, parking and 
litter and are likely to be considerations in the determination of any planning application. In 
assessing proposals within commercial centres, consideration will therefore be given to the 
detrimental impact that an over-provision of A5 uses may have. 
 
An assessment has been carried out of the numbers of A5 units within our commercial 
centres. This has identified that some have relatively high existing numbers of A5 uses within 
them ranging from 1.6% in Peterlee to 9.1% in Ferryhill.  
It is considered that a threshold of 5% is appropriate to ensure the a diverse mix of uses 
with our centres. If a proposal would exceed this threshold, in terms of number of units, it 
will not be permitted, this will include units that are vacant but have planning permission for 
A5. Six centres (Consett, Ferryhill, Crook, Newton Aycliffe, Spennymoor and Shildon) 
already have more than 5% of units as hot food takeaways, therefore no further A5 uses 
would be permitted in these centres. 
 
The nature of our Local centres in terms of their size and function means that the application 
of a 5% threshold is not appropriate in assessing such applications. In assessing proposals 
for A5 uses within Local centres, consideration should be given to the impact that such a 
proposal would have on the overall vitality and viability of the centre, considering the mix of 
uses and also the levels 
of existing vacancies. 
 
 

Policy 32  
Hot Food Takeaways (A5 Uses) 
 
Within sub-regional, large town, small town and district centres (as defined in Policy 10 
(Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Development) and as shown on the policies map), in 
order to minimise the potential detrimental impacts of hot food takeaways, planning 
applications for A5 uses will only be approved where the proposal would not result in more 
than 5% of the premises within the centre being in A5 use. 
 
Within defined local centres consideration should be given to the impact that the proposed 
A5 use would have in terms of the overall vitality and viability considering the numbers of 
existing A5 uses and will be refused if the impact is unacceptable. 
 
In order to promote healthy lifestyles in young people, proposals for A5 uses outside of 
defined centres but within 400m of an existing or proposed school or college building will 
not be permitted. 
 
Where a proposed A5 use is considered locationally acceptable, consideration will need 
to be given to the impact that the development would have in terms of amenity, particularly 
in relation to noise and odours. Where it is considered that the proposal would give rise to 
unacceptable impact, the application should be refused. 

Page 202



 
 

The council have carried out an assessment of Fast Food and its Impact on Health which 
looks at the density of fast food outlets in County Durham. This provides evidence of a 
correlation between the density of fast foods outlets and obesity levels amongst children 
within locations in the County. As the promotion of healthy eating amongst young people is 
a key national and local priority it is reasonable to limit the number of hot food takeaways 
close to schools and colleges. Therefore proposals for A5 uses outside of retail centres but 
within a five to ten minute walking distance of the school, equating to 400m radius, will not 
be permitted. 

 

How will the Policy be monitored? 
 
Indicator: 

1. Percentage of units within Sub Regional, Large Town, Small Town and District 
centres in use or with planning permission for A5 (hot food takeaways) 

 
Target: 

1. A5 not increasing to or exceeding 5% 

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
4 September 2018 
 
Local Government Association –  
Green Paper for Adult Social Care and 
Wellbeing 
 

 

 
 

Report of Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services, Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council 

 
Purpose of the Report     

1 This report provides the Health and Wellbeing Board with information on a 
national consultation launched by the Local Government Association (LGA) on 
2 August 2018 with regard to a green paper on adult social care and wellbeing, 
entitled ‘The lives we want to lead’. 

2 The report also informs the Health and Wellbeing Board of plans in place to 
provide a consultation response to the LGA.  

Background 

3 The government has delayed its publication of a Green Paper on social care 
until the autumn, following Parliament’s summer recess. In a bid to influence 
the delayed green paper, as well as the government’s autumn budget and next 
year’s spending review, the LGA has decided to issue its own green paper as a 
means to launching a nationwide consultation on how to pay for adult social 
care and what it may look like in the future. 

4 The LGA green paper deliberately steers clear of pushing particular solutions at 
this stage. Instead, it articulates why this debate is so important, the scale of 
the challenge and the sorts of questions to be tackled in order to drive the 
conversation forward. Alongside funding issues, the document seeks to start a 
much-needed debate about how to shift the overall emphasis of our care and 
health system so that it focuses far more on preventative, community-based 
personalised care, which helps maximise people’s health, wellbeing and 
independence and alleviates pressure on the NHS. 

 

5 LGA Chief Executive, Mark Lloyd, said: “We need an honest, open debate 
about how we pay for care, and we need it now... It is an ambitious and wide-
ranging public consultation which sets out how we can make the system better 
and more sustainable. It also highlights the sometimes radical options that need 
to be considered to tackle the funding crisis facing adult social care head-on.”  

 

 

 

Page 205

Agenda Item 15

https://futureofadultsocialcare.co.uk/the-green-paper/


2 

 

Consultation    

6 The consultation – the biggest launched by the LGA – is seeking the views of 
people and organisations from across society on how best to pay for care and 
support for adults of all ages and their unpaid carers.  

7 The LGA aims to make the public a central part of the debate and has provided 
a comms pack and a facilitators’ pack to help local authorities communicate the 
green paper with their local media, partners and staff and engage with their 
local communities on the issue.  

8 The ‘comms pack’ provides documents designed to promote an understanding 
of the issues surrounding adult social care and encourage as many people as 
possible to respond. This includes a template press release, suggestions and 
assets for social media, case studies and frequently asked questions.    

9 The green paper outlines the case for social care to be planned and delivered 
locally, rather than nationally, and describes the view as “flawed” that national 
systems would address variations in the quality of care across the country and 
“could exacerbate inequalities which only a highly localised response can 
address”. 

10 The consultation will last for 8 weeks: from 31 July to 26 September 2018.  

11 A total of 30 questions are included in the green paper for stakeholders to 
consider – these are attached at Appendix 2.  

12 The LGA will respond to the findings in the autumn, to inform and influence the 
government’s Green Paper and spending plans.  

Funding proposals  

13 The LGA green paper has cross-party political support and is backed by 
organisations including the Care Quality Commission, NHS Providers, NHS 
Confederation, Public Health England and the Institute for Fiscal Studies.  

14 It has estimated the current and future costs of meeting both existing 
requirements and reforms to extend entitlements, as follows: 

Current and future costs of existing requirements: 

 Paying providers a “fair price” for care to stabilise the market will cost 
£1.44bn this year. Ensuring that there is enough funding to pay for rising 
demand on services and inflation is estimated to cost £2.12bn by 2024-25. 

 The cost of meeting the unmet needs of people who require help with three 
or more essential daily activities would cost £2.4bn this year, based on the 
estimated 164,217 people who currently fit in to this category. This rises to 
£3.6bn in 2024-25. 

 To provide care for working age people, £1.2bn would be needed this year 
and £1.4bn in 2024-25. 

Page 206

https://futureofadultsocialcare.co.uk/resources/


3 

 

In terms of reforms to the system: 

 The estimated cost of introducing a £75,000 cap and a £100,000 floor on 
care costs, as proposed in the 2017 Conservative Party manifesto, is £4.7bn 
by 2024-25. 

 Providing free social care would cost £6bn by 2024-25. 

Options for how these changes could be funded: 

 Increasing income tax for all taxpayers, with a 1p increase on the basic rate, 
generating £4.4bn in 2024-25.  

 A 1p increase on national insurance could raise £10bn - and applying the 
rise to over-40s and working pensioners as a ‘social care premium’ could 
generate £1bn, equating to a cost of £33.40 per person affected. 

 Means testing universal benefits such as winter fuel allowance could raise 
£1.9bn in 2024-25, while allowing a further 1% council tax rise would 
generate £285m. 

Next steps 

15 Durham County Council will issue communications about the consultation, to 
raise awareness with the public and wider stakeholders. 

16 A briefing note will be provided to the county’s Area Action Partnerships for 
dissemination through their communication channels. As some of the AAPs 
have a formal meeting scheduled to take place in September, an offer will be 
made by the Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement to provide 
further information at these events.      

17 Durham County Council will provide a corporate response to the consultation, 
informed by the knowledge and views of senior officers.    

18 Health and Wellbeing Board members may want to consider the option of their 
organisation submitting a response to the consultation, by the deadline of 26 
September 2018. 

19 The Health and Wellbeing Board may also want to submit its own consultation 
response. For that purpose, the consultation questions are attached at 
Appendix 2.  

20 If the Health and Wellbeing Board agrees to respond, feedback to the 
consultation questions should be provided to Angela Harrington, Strategy Team 
Leader at Durham County Council (angela.harrington@durham.gov.uk) by 21 
September 2018.   

21 A summary response will then be collated and provided to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board for approval at its Development Session on 26 September 
2018, prior to submission to the LGA on that date.   

  

Page 207

mailto:angela.harrington@durham.gov.uk


4 

 

Recommendations  

22 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:    
 

a) Consider the content of this report and agree to raise awareness of the LGA’s 
green paper with wider stakeholders.  
 

b) Decide whether or not to submit a consultation response to the LGA on behalf 
of the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

c) Provide feedback (if applicable) to the consultation questions by 21 
September 2018 to angela.harrington@durham.gov.uk, so that a summary 
consultation response on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board can be 
compiled by 26 September 2018.  

 

 

 

 

Contact:  Angela Harrington, Strategy Team Leader, Transformation and         
Partnerships  

Tel:       03000 267313  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 208

mailto:angela.harrington@durham.gov.uk


5 

 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance – The LGA, through its green paper, wants to raise awareness of the 
challenges faced by adult social care and why it is important to ensure it is 
adequately funded by central government. Capped funding allocations and broader 
budgetary pressures, linked to rising demographic demand, mean that the health 
and social care system will not be able to provide the same breadth or high quality 
services, unless we can find new ways to fund and deliver care for the older 
population. 

Staffing – Not applicable 

 

Risk – Not applicable 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – Not applicable 

 

Accommodation – Not applicable 

 

Crime and Disorder - Not applicable 

 

Human Rights - Not applicable 

 

Consultation – The council will provide a corporate response to the LGA’s green 
paper, informed by the knowledge and views of senior officers. A briefing note will be 
circulated to the county’s Area Action Partnerships, to help third party organisations 
and members of the public take part in the LGA’s nationwide consultation exercise, 
should they wish to do so.  

 

Procurement - Not applicable 

 

Disability Issues - Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications - Not applicable 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 209



6 

 

 

Appendix 2:  Consultation questions 

 

1. What role, if any, do you think local government should have in helping to improve 
health and wellbeing in local areas? 

2. In what ways, if any, is adult social care and support important? 

3. How important or not do you think it is that decisions about adult social care and 
support are made at a local level? 

4. What evidence or examples can you provide, if any, that demonstrate 
improvement and innovation in adult social care and support in recent years in local 
areas? 

5. What evidence or examples can you provide, if any, that demonstrate the funding 
challenges in adult social care and support in recent years in local areas?  

6. What, if anything, has been the impact of funding challenges on local 
government’s efforts to improve adult social care? 

7. What, if anything, are you most concerned about if adult social care and support 
continues to be underfunded? 

8. Do you agree or disagree that the Care Act 2014 remains fit for purpose? 

9. What, if any, do you believe are the main barriers to fully implementing the Care 
Act 2014? 

10. Beyond the issue of funding what, if any, are the other key issues which must be 
resolved to improve the adult social care and support system? 

11. Of the above options for changing the system for the better, which do you think 
are the most urgent to implement now? 

12. Of the above options for changing the system for the better, which do you think 
are the most important to implement now? 

13. Thinking longer-term, and about the type of changes to the system that the 
above options would help deliver, which options do you think are most important for 
the future? 

14. Aside from the options given for improving the adult social care and support 
system in local areas, do you have any other suggestions to add? 

15. What is the role of individuals, families and communities in supporting people’s 
wellbeing, in your opinion? 

Page 210



7 

 

16. Which, if any, of the options given for raising additional funding would you favour 
to pay for the proposed changes to the adult social care and support system? 

17. Aside from the options given for raising additional funding for the adult social 
care and support system in local areas, do you have any other suggestions to add? 

18. What, if any, are your views on bringing wider welfare benefits (such as 
Attendance Allowance) together with other funding to help meet lower levels of need 
for adult social care and support? 

19. What are your views on the suggested tests for judging the merits of any 
solution/s the Government puts forward in its green paper? 

20. In your opinion, to achieve a long-term funding solution for adult social care and 
support, to what extent is cross-party co-operation and/or cross-party consensus 
needed? 

21. What role, if any, do you think public health services should have in helping to 
improve health and wellbeing in local areas? 

22. What evidence or examples, if any, can you provide that demonstrate the impact 
of other local services (both council services outside of adult social care and support, 
and those provided by other organisations) on improving health and wellbeing? 

23. To what extent, if any, are you seeing a reduction in these other local services? 

24. What principles, if any, do you believe should underpin the way the adult social 
care and support service and the NHS work together? 

25. In your opinion, how important or unimportant is it that decisions made by local 
health services are understood by local people, and the decision-makers are 
answerable to them? 

26. Do you think the role of health and wellbeing boards should be strengthened or 
not? 

27. Which, if any, of the options for strengthening the role of health and wellbeing 
boards do you support? 

28. Do you have any suggestions as to how the accountability of the health service 
locally could be strengthened? 

29. Which, if any, of the options for spending new NHS funding on the adult social 
care and support system would you favour? 

30. Do you have any other comments or stories from your own experience to add? 

 

Page 211



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 4 July 2018
	7 Durham Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report - Report of Director of Integration, NHS County Durham and Durham County Council
	Item 7 - LSAB Annual Report - Appendix 2

	8 Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report - Independent Chair, Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board
	Item 8 - LSCB Annual Report - Appendix 2 (1)
	Item 8 - LSCB Annual Report - Appendix 2 (2)

	9 Consultation on Evidence Based Interventions - Update from Chief Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups
	Item 9 - EBI - Appendix 2
	Item 9 - EBI - Appendix 3
	Item 9 - EBI - Appendix 4

	10 Healthwatch County Durham Annual Report - Report of Chair of Healthwatch County Durham, and Project Lead, Healthwatch County Durham
	Item 10 - Healthwatch Annual Report - Apendix 2

	12 Area Action Partnership update - Area Action Partnership Coordinator, Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council
	13 Public Health and Spatial Policy Teams working together to address health and health inequalities - Report of Director of Public Health and Head of Planning and Assets, Regeneration and Local Services, Durham County Council
	15 Local Government Association - Green Paper for Adult Social Care and Wellbeing - Report of Corporate Director Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council

	Check Box 1: Off
	Check Box 2: Off
	Check Box 3: Off
	Check Box 4: Off
	Check Box 5: Off
	Text Field 3: 
	Text Field 4: 
	Text Field 5: 
	Text Field 6: 
	Text Field 8: 
	Text Field 9: 
	Text Field 10: 
	Text Field 11: 
	Text Field 12: 
	Text Field 13: 
	Text Field 14: 
	Text Field 15: 
	Text Field 16: 


